Chronic Fatigue Mechanisms in Autoimmune Diseases: Lessons from Primary Biliary Cholangitis and Systemic Sclerosis

by

Muhammad A. Elezzabi

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Department of Medicine

University of Alberta

©Muhammad A. Elezzabi, 2023

Abstract

Systemic sclerosis (SSc) is an autoimmune disease affecting the body's connective tissues, resulting in progressive fibrosis and vasculopathy. In some cases, individuals with SSc may also develop primary biliary cholangitis (PBC), another autoimmune disease characterized by damage to their liver's bile ducts. Chronic fatigue frequently affects many patients with SSc and PBC and is associated with impaired cognitive abilities and reduced quality of life. To date, there are no reliable treatments for these patients' fatigue. Research on myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome (ME/CFS) - a type of chronic fatigue characterized by post-exertional malaise - has uncovered potential connections between chronic fatigue and abnormalities in the metabolic dysfunction, atypical hypoxia responses, problems with oxygen delivery, and the immune system. Hence, ME/CFS in autoimmune diseases such as SSc and PBC may have a physical basis derived from altered molecular mechanisms. This hypothesisgenerating thesis comprehensively summarizes the common molecular mechanisms linking PBC, SSc and ME/CFS with each other. Together, the ideas presented in this thesis may provide additional insights into the common mechanisms linking SSc, PBC and ME/CFS with each other which may lead to designing more effective therapies for chronic fatigue, resulting in improved quality of life for these patients.

Preface

This thesis, in its entirety, stands as an unpublished original body of work by Muhammad Elezzabi, realized through the critical guidance and knowledgeable direction provided by Dr. Mohamed Osman and Dr. Andrew Mason. Their essential contributions in the form of feedback and suggestions played a pivotal role in enhancing the quality of the thesis.

I was responsible for creating the initial draft of the thesis, which underwent extensive reviews by Dr. Andrew Mason and Dr. Mohamed Osman. I took their feedback and revised the thesis accordingly. I also designed and compiled the tables and figures, aiming to augment the clarity and efficacy of the research presented. Notably, the nature of the research in this thesis did not necessitate the use of live subjects.

The Abstract and Chapters 1 to 6 have been adapted from our forthcoming literature review. The purpose of including these sections is to enrich the breadth and depth of the thesis and provide a rigorous exploration of the topic under investigation.

Acknowledgments

ى بىتى مۇللىكە كۈرى كۈرىكى كەرىپى مەر

First and foremost, from the depths of my heart, I am profoundly grateful to Allah (سُبْحَانَهُ وَتَعَالَى), the most gracious and merciful, for bestowing upon me His infinite blessings and providing me with the strength, resilience, and perseverance to complete my Master's program successfully.

With profound gratitude and heartfelt appreciation, I would like to express my utmost admiration and thankfulness to my MSc. supervisor, Dr. Mohamed Osman. His expert advice, insightful feedback, unwavering guidance, exceptional mentorship, and steadfast support have played an invaluable role in my development as a researcher. This thesis would not have been possible without his wisdom, passion for science, and unwavering faith in me. His words of encouragement have been instrumental in helping me overcome the various challenges and obstacles that a novice researcher inevitably encounters. I am eternally grateful for his continuous mentorship and decision to take me on as a graduate student. The skills I have acquired, and the life lessons learned, will remain with me forever and have shaped me into who I am today. Once again, I cannot thank him enough for his immense impact on my life journey.

I would also like to express my heartfelt gratitude to Dr. Andrew Mason for his keen insights, unwavering dedication, and warm invitation to participate in his lab meetings, illuminating the shared aspects and interdisciplinary nature of disease research. Whenever I sought his counsel, Dr. Andrew Mason consistently made time for me, graciously setting aside his work to engage in thoughtful discussions about any challenges I faced or advice I needed. His positive attitude, boundless enthusiasm, and kind words have provided immense encouragement and inspiration throughout my journey as a graduate student. Furthermore, his extensive knowledge in the field has been instrumental in shaping my understanding and approach to research. I am truly thankful for Dr. Andrew Mason's invaluable support and profound impact on my academic and personal growth.

I am also thankful to Dr. Lisa Willis for her generosity in offering her time and expertise to advise me on critically analyzing research literature and enhancing the structure of my writing, whose collective wisdom and support have helped me become a better writer and has contributed to my personal growth and development.

I also want to thank Dr. Irina Dinu and Dr. Laura Gray-Steinhauer for their patience, dedication, and commitment to teaching me statistical analysis and R, respectively. My sincere gratitude goes to Mr. Julian Schulz for his diligence and attention to detail in ensuring the smooth completion of my program. My most profound appreciation goes to Dr. Lisa Purdy and Dr. Nadia Jahroudi for their unwavering encouragement and inspiring words during this challenging yet enriching journey. I am profoundly grateful to the following colleagues for their constructive feedback, camaraderie, and invaluable support throughout this incredible journey: Ms. Desiree Redmond, Dr. Charmaine van Eeden, Mr. Hussain Syed, Dr. Hiatem Abofayed, Ms. Nadia Daniel, Dr. Eduardo Reyes-Serratos, Dr. Nami Shrestha, Mr. Ying (Chad) Wu, Mr. Michael Wong, Mr. Sudip Subedi, and all members of the Dr. Osman/Dr. Tervaert lab, Dr. Mason lab, the Alberta Respiratory Centre, and the High Content Analysis Core. I am also grateful to my dear friend, Dr. Nirav Patel, for his enthusiasm and encouragement in motivating me to explore new resources, which has greatly enriched my journey. I am honored to acknowledge the University of Alberta Graduate Students' Association for recognizing my efforts and awarding me the Myer Horowitz Graduate Students' Association Graduate Scholarship.

My deepest and most heartfelt gratitude goes to my loving family for their persistent presence, steadfast support, and endless encouragement during this program, particularly my father Abdulhakem Elezzabi, my mother Lara Cleven, and my younger brother Youssef Elezzabi. Your unwavering belief in me has been a beacon of light throughout this journey, and without your word of encouragement and companionship this thesis would not have been possible. Lastly, I would like to extend my most sincere thanks to everyone else who has supported me personally and professionally throughout this journey and contributed to this monumental achievement.

Table of Contents

1. Int	roduction	1
1.1	SSc and PBC Commonly Co-occur	9
1.2	SSc and PBC Share Common Mechanisms	9
2. Fat	tigue in Primary Biliary Cholangitis and Systemic Sclerosis	11
2.1	Measuring Fatigue in SSc and PBC	11
2.2	Therapies Targeting Fatigue Can Provide Mechanistic Insights in SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS Patie	nts
		12
3. Me	etabolic Remodeling is Common in SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS	40
3.1 ME	Abnormal Hypoxic Responses and Oxygen Delivery Problems are Common in SSc, PBC, and E/CFS	43
3	3.11 Peripheral and Central Blood Oxygenation Problems are Common in ME/CFS, PBC, and SS	lc
		43
3	8.12 HIF-1α Activation May Be an Effect of Decreased Oxygenation in SSc and PBC	45
3	3.13 Issues with Red Blood Cells are Present in ME/CFS, SSc, and PBC Patients	48
4. Sha	ared Immune System Abnormalities in SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS	49
4.1	HLA Receptor Genetic Variants	51
4.2	IL-12 Signaling Pathway Genetic Variants are Present in PBC and SSc Patients	52
4.3	Interferon Signaling Pathway Genetic Variants are Present in PBC and SSc Patients	54
4.4	Elevated Levels of Inflammaging Cytokines in SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS Patients	57
4.5	Evidence of Monocyte/Macrophage Abnormalities in SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS	58
4.6	Shared NK Cell Dysfunctions are Common in SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS	59
4.7	T-Cell Related Dysfunctions are Prominent Features of SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS	60
4	1.71 Th2 Responses Are Possible Features Associated with Chronic Fatigue in SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS	60
4	1.72 CD4 ⁺ CD25 ⁺ Regulatory T-cells	61
4	1.73 CD8 ⁺ CD28 ⁻ Regulatory T-cells	62
4.8	Immune System Metabolic Abnormalities	63
5. Co	nclusions and Future Directions	65
6. Bib	oliography	71

List of Tables

Table	Table Description	Page #
1	The Most Widely Used and Accepted Classification Criteria for Primary Biliary Cholangitis (PBC), Systemic Sclerosis (SSc), and Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (ME/CFS).	3
2	Fatigue Management and Treatment Studies in Systemic Sclerosis.	13
3	Fatigue Management and Treatment Studies in Primary Biliary Cholangitis.	22
4	Metabolic Changes in Primary Biliary Cholangitis (PBC), Systemic Sclerosis (SSc), and Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (ME/CFS).	42
5	HLA and Non-HLA Genetic Variants for Systemic Sclerosis (SSc), Primary Biliary Cholangitis (PBC), and Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (ME/CFS).	55

List of Figures

Figure	Figure Description	Page #
1	A depiction of some of the similar symptoms in the diseases primary biliary cholangitis (PBC), systemic sclerosis (SSc), and myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome (ME/CFS).	2
2	The metabolic abnormalities observed in primary biliary cholangitis, systemic sclerosis, and myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome are similar and involve the same metabolites and metabolic pathways.	41
3	A possible way in which vasculopathy is linked to central and peripheral fatigue in systemic sclerosis (SSc) and primary biliary cholangitis (PBC) patients.	47
4	A visual representation of the most notable immune system abnormalities commonly found in primary biliary cholangitis, systemic sclerosis, and myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome.	50
5	An illustration of the proposed mechanism underlying the emergence of chronic fatigue symptoms in SSc and PBC patients.	69

List of Abbreviations

Abbreviation Meaning

α-KG	Alpha-Ketoglutarate
AMA	Anti-Mitochondrial Autoantibodies
ANA	Anti-Nuclear Autoantibodies
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
ARNT	Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Nuclear Translocator
CCL2	Chemokine (C-C Motif) Ligand 2
CD62L	L-Selectin
CoA	Coenzyme A
COX7C	Cytochrome C Oxidase Subunit 7C
СуВ	Cytochrome B
Cyt C	Cytochrome C
dcSSc	Diffuse Cutaneous Systemic Sclerosis
ETC	Electron Transport Chain
FACIT-F	Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy – Fatigue
FFSS	Fisk Fatigue Severity Score
FoxP3	Forkhead Box P3
GWAS	Genome Wide Association Study
H+	Hydrogen lons
HIF1-α	Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1-Alpha

HIF1-β	Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1-Beta
HLA	Human Leukocyte Antigen
HRE	Hypoxia Response Element
IDO	Indoleamine 2,3-Dioxygenase
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
IL12A	Interleukin 12A
IL12RB2	Interleukin 12 Receptor Subunit Beta 2
IRF5	Interferon Regulatory Factor 5
JAK2	Janus Kinase 2
lcSSc	Limited Cutaneous Systemic Sclerosis
ME/CFS	Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome
MFI-20	Multidimensional Fatigue Inventory 20 Items
mRNA	Messenger RNA
NAD ⁺	Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide
NADH	Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide with a Hydrogen
NAM	Nicotinamide Adenine Mononucleotide
ND4	NADH Dehydrogenase 4
NFKB1	Nuclear Factor Kappa B Subunit 1
NK	Natural Killer
NKG2D	Killer Cell Lectin-Like Receptor K1
NQOI	NAD(P)H Dehydrogenase Quinone 1

O ₂	Oxygen
PAH	Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension
PBC	Primary Biliary Cholangitis
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PTPN22	Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase Non-Receptor Type 22
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
SF-36	Short Form 36 Item
SNP	Single Nucleotide Polymorphism
SSc	Systemic Sclerosis
STAT1	Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 1
STAT4	Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 4
TBX21	T-Box Transcription Factor 21
TIM-1	T-Cell Immunoglobulin and Mucin Domain 1
Th	T-helper
T-reg	Regulatory T-Cell
TYK2	Tyrosine Kinase 2

1. Introduction

Systemic Sclerosis (SSc) and primary biliary cholangitis (PBC) are life-threatening autoimmune diseases of unknown etiology. Although seemingly different, they share many commonalities (Figure 1 and Table 1). Clinically, the most profound similarity in both diseases is severe debilitating fatigue analogous to that described in patients with myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome (ME/CFS). ME/CFS is an idiopathic severe unresolving form of fatigue characterized by a profound ongoing fatigue lasting more than 6 months in most patients [1]. This fatigue does not improve with rest and can be worsened by physical or mental activity (a phenomenon known as post-exertional malaise). Patients with ME/CFS experience severe muscle fatigue, known as peripheral fatigue, and cognitive dysfunction, or central fatigue. Cognitive dysfunction in patients with ME/CFS is associated with various features which include memory loss, sleep disturbances, and poor concentration. It is also commonly associated with changes in the functions of the autonomic nervous system (e.g. changes in heart rate and/or blood pressure, Raynaud's phenomenon), and diffuse pain [2]. Like SSc and PBC, ME/CFS is poorly understood.

Although extremely common in SSc and PBC, the mechanisms that promote fatigue are not well understood in PBC or SSc. Over half of SSc and PBC individuals suffer from severe and persistent fatigue [3,4]. This fatigue is associated with reduced quality of life and cognitive dysfunction [3,5-10], and are similar to those found in patients with ME/CFS (**Figure 1**) [11]. However, the accepted classification criteria for these three diseases fails to emphasize these similarities (**Table 1**). In this thesis, we will highlight the similar molecular mechanisms between SSc and PBC, and ME/CFS, to provide potential mechanistic insights that promote fatigue in these three devastating diseases.



Figure 1. A depiction of some of the similar symptoms in the diseases primary biliary cholangitis (PBC), systemic sclerosis (SSc), and myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome (ME/CFS). These symptoms include post-exertional malaise, cognitive & autonomic dysfunctions, sleep cycle disruptions, pain, immune system dysfunctions, and metabolic dysfunctions.

Table 1. The Most Widely Used and Accepted Classification Criteria for Primary Biliary Cholangitis (PBC), Systemic Sclerosis (SSc), and Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (ME/CFS).

Primary				Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic			
Disease	Biliary	Systemic Sclerosis		Fatigue Syndrome			
	Cholangitis				i aligue cynaionio		
	(1) EAS	2013 ACR/EULA	R Classification Criteria for	Systemic	Canadian Consens	sus Criteria	
	L Clinical	Sclerosis					
	Practice						
	Guidelines.						
	(2) 2018						
Classification	Practice						
Criteria	Guidance from						
	the American						
	Association for						
	the Study of						
	Liver Diseases						
	(1) EASL	Item	Sub-item(s)	Weight	Item	Sub-Item(s)	Require
	EASL			Ū.		.,	ment
	recommends						
	that in adult	Skin thickening	-	9	Fatigue	The patient	Requir
	patients with	of the fingers				must have a	ed
	cholestasis	of both hands				significant	
	and no	extending				degree of	
	likelihood of	proximal to the				new onset,	
	systemic	metacarpophal				unexplained,	
	disease, a	angeal joints				persistent, or	
	diagnosis of	(sufficient				recurrent	
	PBC can be	criterion)				physical and	
	made based					mental fatigue	
	on elevated					that	
	ALP and the					substantially	
	presence of					reduces	
Criteria	AMA at a					activity level.	
Components	titre >1:40	Skin thickening	Puffy fingers	2	Post-Exertional	There is an	Requir
	(III, 1).	of the fingers			Malaise and/or	inappropriate	ed
	EASL	(only count the			Post-Exertional	loss of	
	recommends	higher score)			Fatigue	physical and	
	that in the					mental	
	correct					stamina, rapid	
	context, a					muscular and	
	diagnosis of					cognitive	
	AMA					fatigability,	
	negative					post-	
	PBC can be					exertional	
	made in					malaise	
	patients with					and/or post-	
	cholestasis					exertional	
	and specific					fatigue and a	
	ANA					tendency for	
						other	

immunofluo		associated
escence		symptoms
(nuclear do		within the
or		patient's
perinuclear		cluster of
rims) or		symptoms to
		worson
ELISA		worsen.
results		There is a
(sp100,		pathologically
gp210) (III,		slow recovery
1).		period –
		usually 24
		hours or
• EASL		longer.
recommend	Sclerodactvly of the 4	Sleep There is Requir
against live	fingers (distal to the	Dysfunction unrefreshing ed
biopsy for	metacarnonhalangeal	sleep or sleep
the diagnos	s inista but	siech of siech
of PBC,	joints but	quantity or
unless PBC	proximal to the	rhythm
specific	proximal	disturbances
antibodies	interphalangeal joints)	such as
are absent		reversed or
		chaotic
		diurnal sleep
		rhythms. Note
is suspected	,	that patients
or other		without sleep
(usually		dysfunction
systemic) c	-	can still meet
morbidities		the diagnostic
are present		criteria if their
(III, 1).		illness began
		with an
• AMA		with an
reactivity		Intection.
alone is not	FingertipDigital tip ulcers2	Pain There is Requir
sufficient to	lesions (only	unrefreshing ed
diagnose	count the	sleep or sleep
PBC FASI	higher score	quantity or
recommend		rhythm
following_ur		disturbances
notionte wit		such as
patients with		reversed or
normai		chaotic
serum liver		diurnal sleen
tests who a	9	rhythms Note
AMA positiv		that nationte
with annual		
biochemica		without sleep
reassessme	1	aystunction
t for the		can still meet
presence of		the diagnostic
		criteria if their
		illness began

liver disease			with an	
(III, 1).			infection.	
	Fingertip pitting scars 3	Neurological /	Two or more	Two or
(2) American		Cognitive	of the	More of
Association		Manifestations	following	the
for the Study		mannootationo	difficulties	Sub-
of Liver			should be	Items
Diseases:			present:	nomo
			present.	
Biochemical			Confusion	
evidence of			Impairment of	
cholestasis			concentration	
based on			and short-	
ALP			term memory	
elevation.			consolidation	
			Disorientation	
			Difficulty with	
Presence of			information	
AMA, or			processing,	
other PBC-			categorizing	
specific			and word	
autoantibodi			retrieval	
es, including			(word-finding	
sp100 or			problems)	
gp210, if			Perceptual	
AMA is			and sensory	
negative.			disturbances	
			(for example	
Histologic			spatial	
evidence of			instability and	
nonsuppurati			disorientation	
ve			and inability	
destructive			to focus	
cholangitis			vision)	
and			Atoxio	
destruction			Alaxia,	
of			weakness	
interlobular			and	
bile ducts.			fasciculations	
			are common	
			There may be	
			overload	
			phenomena.	
			cognitive	
			overload.	
			sensorv	
			overload (for	
			example	
			, photophobia	
			and	
			hypersensitivi	
			ty to noise)	
			and/or	
		1		

			omotional	
			overload,	
			which may	
			lead to crash	
			periods	
			and/or	
			anxiety.	
	Telangiectasia - 2	Autonomic,	Autonomic At	
		Neuroendocrine,	Manifestation Least	
		Immune	s: One	
		Dysfunctions	Orthostatic Sympto	0
			intolerance m from	I
			(either Two of	:
			neurally the	
			mediated Three	
			hypotensio Sub-	
			n postural Items	
			n, postural	
			techycordia	
			synarome	
			or delayed	
			orthostatic	
			hypotensio	
			n)	
			 Light- 	
			headednes	
			S	
			Extreme	
			pallor	
			Nausea	
			and irritable	
			bowel	
			syndrome	
			Urinary	
			frequency	
			and bladder	
			dysfunction	
			Heart	
			palpitations	
			with or	
			without	
			cardiac	
			arrhythmias	
			 Exertional 	
			dyspnea	
			Neuroendocri	
			ne	
			Manifestation	
			s:	
			Loss of	
			thermostati	
			c stability	

(subnormal	
body	
temperatur	
e and	
marked	
diurnal	
fluctuation)	
Sweating	
• Swealing	
episodes,	
recurrent	
teelings of	
feverishnes	
S	
• cold	
extremities	
(cold hand	
and feet)	
 Intolerance 	
of extremes	
of best and	
cola	
Marked	
weight	
change	
(anorexia	
or	
abnormal	
appetite)	
• Loss of	
adaptability	
auaptability	
anu	
worsening	
ot	
symptoms	
with stress	
Immune	
Manifestation	
wannestation	
ъ. — .	
• Tender	
lymph	
nodes	
Recurrent	
sore throat	
Recurrent	
flu-like	
symptoms	
General	
malaisa	
New rood	
sensitivities	
,	
medication	

						sensitivities
						and/or
						chemical
						sensitivities
		Abnormal	-	2	The Illness -	lt It
		nailfold			Persists for at	usually
		capillaries			Least Six	has a
		Pulmonary	Pulmonary arterial	2	Months	distinct
		arterial	hypertension			onset,
		hypertension				althoug
		and/or	Interstitial lung disease	2		h it
		interstitial lung				may be
		disease				gradual
		(maximum				
		score is 2)				Prelimi
		Raynaud's	-	3		nary
		phenomenon				diagno
		SSc-related	Anticentromere	3		sis may
		autoantibodies	Anti-topoisomerase I			be
		(anticentromer	Anti–RNA polymerase			possibl
		e,	III			е
		anti–				earlier.
		topoisomerase				Three
		I [anti–Scl-70],				months
		anti–RNA				is
		polymerase III)				appropr
		(maximum				iate for
		score is 3)				childre
						n.
	Fulfillment of all	The total score is	determined by adding the	maximum	A patient with ME/CFS	S will meet the criteria for
	EASL criteria, or	weight (score) in	each category. Patients with	h a total	fatigue, post-exertiona	al malaise and/or fatigue,
	EASL criteria, or two of the three	weight (score) in score of ≥ 9 are c	each category. Patients wit lassified as having definite	h a total SSc.	fatigue, post-exertiona sleep dysfunction and	al malaise and/or fatigue, pain; have two or more
	EASL criteria, or two of the three two of the three	weight (score) in score of ≥ 9 are c	each category. Patients wit lassified as having definite	h a total SSc.	fatigue, post-exertiona sleep dysfunction and neurological/cognitive	al malaise and/or fatigue, pain; have two or more manifestations and one
	EASL criteria, or two of the three two of the three American	weight (score) in score of ≥ 9 are c	each category. Patients wit lassified as having definite	h a total SSc.	fatigue, post-exertional sleep dysfunction and neurological/cognitive or more symptoms fro	al malaise and/or fatigue, pain; have two or more manifestations and one m two of the categories
Requirement	EASL criteria, or two of the three two of the three American Association for	weight (score) in score of ≥ 9 are c	each category. Patients wit lassified as having definite	h a total SSc.	fatigue, post-exertional sleep dysfunction and neurological/cognitive or more symptoms fro of (a) autonomic, (b) r	al malaise and/or fatigue, pain; have two or more manifestations and one m two of the categories neuroendocrine and (c)
Requirement for Disease	EASL criteria, or two of the three two of the three American Association for the Study of	weight (score) in score of ≥ 9 are c	each category. Patients wit lassified as having definite	h a total SSc.	fatigue, post-exertional sleep dysfunction and neurological/cognitive or more symptoms fro of (a) autonomic, (b) r immune manifestatior	al malaise and/or fatigue, pain; have two or more manifestations and one om two of the categories neuroendocrine and (c) is; and adhere to item
Requirement for Disease Classification	EASL criteria, or two of the three two of the three American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases	weight (score) in score of ≥ 9 are c	each category. Patients wit	h a total SSc.	fatigue, post-exertional sleep dysfunction and neurological/cognitive or more symptoms fro of (a) autonomic, (b) r immune manifestation "The Illness Persists f	al malaise and/or fatigue, pain; have two or more manifestations and one on two of the categories neuroendocrine and (c) ns; and adhere to item or at Least Six Months. It
Requirement for Disease Classification	EASL criteria, or two of the three two of the three American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases criteria are met.	weight (score) in score of ≥ 9 are c	each category. Patients wit	h a total SSc.	fatigue, post-exertional sleep dysfunction and neurological/cognitive or more symptoms fro of (a) autonomic, (b) r immune manifestation "The Illness Persists f usually has a distinct	al malaise and/or fatigue, pain; have two or more manifestations and one on two of the categories neuroendocrine and (c) is; and adhere to item or at Least Six Months. It onset, (**) although it
Requirement for Disease Classification	EASL criteria, or two of the three two of the three American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases criteria are met.	weight (score) in score of ≥ 9 are c	each category. Patients wit	h a total SSc.	fatigue, post-exertional sleep dysfunction and neurological/cognitive or more symptoms fro of (a) autonomic, (b) r immune manifestation "The Illness Persists f usually has a distinct may be gradual. Prelin	al malaise and/or fatigue, pain; have two or more manifestations and one im two of the categories neuroendocrine and (c) is; and adhere to item or at Least Six Months. It onset, (**) although it minary diagnosis may be
Requirement for Disease Classification	EASL criteria, or two of the three two of the three American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases criteria are met.	weight (score) in score of ≥ 9 are c	each category. Patients wit	h a total SSc.	fatigue, post-exertional sleep dysfunction and neurological/cognitive or more symptoms fro of (a) autonomic, (b) r immune manifestation "The Illness Persists f usually has a distinct may be gradual. Prelin possible earlier. Three	al malaise and/or fatigue, pain; have two or more manifestations and one im two of the categories neuroendocrine and (c) as; and adhere to item or at Least Six Months. It onset, (**) although it minary diagnosis may be a months is appropriate
Requirement for Disease Classification	EASL criteria, or two of the three two of the three American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases criteria are met.	weight (score) in score of ≥ 9 are c	each category. Patients wit	h a total SSc.	fatigue, post-exertional sleep dysfunction and neurological/cognitive or more symptoms fro of (a) autonomic, (b) r immune manifestation "The Illness Persists f usually has a distinct may be gradual. Prelin possible earlier. Three for children".	al malaise and/or fatigue, pain; have two or more manifestations and one im two of the categories neuroendocrine and (c) as; and adhere to item or at Least Six Months. It onset, (**) although it minary diagnosis may be a months is appropriate
Requirement for Disease Classification	EASL criteria, or two of the three two of the three American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases criteria are met.	weight (score) in score of ≥ 9 are c	each category. Patients wit	h a total SSc.	fatigue, post-exertional sleep dysfunction and neurological/cognitive or more symptoms fro of (a) autonomic, (b) r immune manifestation "The Illness Persists f usually has a distinct may be gradual. Prelin possible earlier. Three for children".	al malaise and/or fatigue, pain; have two or more manifestations and one im two of the categories neuroendocrine and (c) is; and adhere to item or at Least Six Months. It onset, (**) although it minary diagnosis may be e months is appropriate

1.1 SSc and PBC Commonly Co-occur

SSc is a rare (1 in every 2500 people in Canada) systemic autoimmune rheumatic disease (SARD) characterized by immune system dysregulation, vasculopathy, and fibrosis [15]. Although it primarily affects females, men with SSc develop more severe complications [16]. Importantly, it is one of the most lethal rheumatic diseases, with the poorest quality of life – mainly because the mechanisms promoting its pathogenesis are unknown, and effective therapies are lacking [17,18]. Importantly, reduced quality of life in SSc largely stems from fatigue [19]. However, similar to ME/CFS, the mechanisms promoting fatigue in SSc are largely unknown and are poorly described.

Primary biliary cholangitis (PBC) is also a rare and lethal autoimmune disease with unclear causes. It is characterized by progressive intrahepatic duct destruction with an associated inflammatory cell infiltrate, eventually leading to liver fibrosis, failure, and death [20]. Although rare in the general population, with an incidence rate of approximately two new cases per 100,000 people and a prevalence rate of approximately 22 cases per 100,000 inhabitants, the frequency of PBC in patients with SSc is widespread with a reported prevalence of up to 50% [21,22]. Intriguingly, patients with the limited cutaneous subtype of SSc (lcSSc), who more commonly develop systemic vasculopathy, have an increased risk of PBC [22]. Furthermore, females are more susceptible to PBC with a similar female-to-male sex ratio as reported in SSc (approximately 8:1). In other words, the co-occurrence of SSc and PBC is most likely not due to chance alone. Common mechanisms to both SSc and PBC may be driving their pathogenesis and the fatigue experienced by patients.

1.2 SSc and PBC Share Common Mechanisms

One of the earliest clinical manifestations in patients with SSc is Raynaud's phenomenon [23]. Raynaud's phenomenon is characterized by a transient and chronic ischemia (or hypoxia) of the digits, and is relatively common in females with a prevalence of approximately 15% [24]. Nearly all patients with SSc develop Raynaud's phenomenon

[25]. Intriguingly, the frequency of Raynaud's phenomenon in patients with PBC without an SSc diagnosis is also higher than expected [26]. In SSc, Raynaud's phenomenon is associated with progressive vascular remodeling which can be detected using nailfold capillaroscopy [27]. Recently, similar capillary changes have been reported in more than half of patients with PBC, and these mimicked the patterns observed in SSc patients [28,29].

Chronic hypoxic stressors in SSc and PBC are not only restricted to the digits but are also present systemically. This is well described in SSc where patients describe symptoms of "brain fog", digital ulcers, and progressive obliterative vascular remodeling which can result in pulmonary arterial hypertension. Recently, it has been suggested that systemic hypoxia is also present, as patients with PBC have an increased frequency of pulmonary hypertension [30]. Importantly, patients with PBC also develop cerebral hypoxia which may explain why they also develop brain fog symptoms [31].

The most prominent feature of immune system dysregulation in both SSc and PBC is the presence of anti-nuclear antibodies (ANAs) and anti-mitochondrial antibodies (AMAs). Patients with SSc universally have detectable ANAs, while at least 50 % of patients with PBC have ANA [32]. Importantly, the specific ANAs in both diseases commonly detect components of the nucleosome complex within the nucleus. Similarly, patients with PBC universally generate AMAs, which are also frequently described in at least 25% of patients with SSc [22]. Thus, the generation of ANAs and AMAs are common indicators of immune system dysregulation in both SSc and PBC.

Similar disease characteristics are shared across both PBC and SSc. Histologically, both diseases are characterized by increased activity of CD8⁺ T cells, altered natural killer (NK) cell cytotoxicity, and potential activation of macrophages/monocytes [33-43]. Although immunosuppressive therapies are only modestly effective, agents that alter cellular metabolism, such as methotrexate, may help manage some patients' symptoms in both diseases [44,45]. This is directly relevant to the disease as other triggers that alter cellular metabolism (such as chronic hypoxia) may

10

promote inflammatory responses by activating hypoxia-inducible factors [46-48]. In brief, metabolic dysfunctions, oxygen delivery problems, unusual hypoxia responses, and immune system abnormalities are present in both PBC and SSc patients. In other words, could chronic hypoxia promote metabolic remodeling and immune cell dysfunction in both diseases – particularly in patients exhibiting ME/CFS symptoms? In this thesis, we aim to support further the notion that this is a shared mechanism promoting ME/CFS in SSc and PBC patients.

2. Fatigue in Primary Biliary Cholangitis and Systemic Sclerosis

2.1 Measuring Fatigue in SSc and PBC

Fatigue is a complex state of weakness and a lack of perceived energy that can occur for short periods and is generally short-lived. However, chronic severe fatigue is less common in the general population but is a more common and debilitating symptom in PBC and SSc patients. Given the similarities in symptoms associated with fatigue in SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS, the clinically available tools used to measure the severity and impact of fatigue in ME/CFS patients, such as the Multidimensional Fatigue Inventory (MFI) and the Short Form 36 Health Survey (SF-36) vitality subscale, may capture the effects of chronic fatigue in PBC and SSc individuals [49,50].

While fatigue is a distressing symptom in SSc and PBC patients, different tools are available to measure fatigue severity. Accurately measuring fatigue severity is essential to guide researchers in developing better ways to improve the quality of life of SSc patients. SSc individuals experience greater fatigue severity, as captured by the MFI-20 questionnaire's general fatigue subscale, than those with other rheumatic diseases [51]. Similarly, the SF-36 vitality subscale, a 4-question tool, further supports this notion [18]. An association between fatigue severity and both physical symptoms and health-related quality of life in SSc patients exists when using the 13-item Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy Fatigue (FACIT-F) score [19]. However, it is important to emphasize that most studies in SSc have measured fatigue without measuring other

clinical symptoms associated with chronic fatigue, such as post-exertional malaise and cognitive impairment.

In contrast to SSc, only two available fatigue questionnaires are validated to measure PBC patients' fatigue. The first is the PBC-40, which includes a fatigue domain comprised of eight questions designed to assess PBC patients' fatigue in a standardized manner [52]. While the PBC-40's design effectively captures PBC-specific fatigue, it limits its utility in measuring fatigue in other diseases such as SSc. The second validated fatigue questionnaire for PBC patients is the Fisk Fatigue Severity Score (FFSS) [53]. The FFSS differs from the PBC-40 in that it can evaluate fatigue severity and its effects on daily activities in multiple diseases.

A selected version of the FFSS has been used in fatigue assessments of SSc patients, suggesting that common self-reported fatigue-related symptoms exist in those with SSc and PBC [54]. Unfortunately, there is no consensus on which fatigue questionnaires are best suited for studying chronic fatigue in PBC, or how they compare in their performance to other tools such as the MFI-20, SF-36, or FACIT-F.

2.2 Therapies Targeting Fatigue Can Provide Mechanistic Insights in SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS Patients

The various tools with discordant results relevant to fatigue in SSc and PBC highlight the lack of a clear understanding of the mechanisms promoting fatigue. Nonetheless, therapeutic strategies that improve fatigue may provide a starting point for identifying shared biological mechanisms promoting chronic fatigue in SSc and PBC. **Tables 2.** and **3.** provide lists of fatigue management studies conducted in SSc and PBC patients, respectively. Exercises are a promising way of treating chronic fatigue in SSc patients [55,56]. Notably, plasmapheresis and setanaxib improve fatigue symptoms in patients with PBC [57,58]. Hence, do circulating humoral factors promoted by metabolic remodeling promote severe fatigue?

Year	Findings	Degree of Change	Fatigue Measurement Tool	Study Design	Study Size	Primary Outcome(s)	Secondary Outcome(s)	Ref.	Ref. (Similar Studies)
2008	Complemen tary and alternative medicine users compared to non- users, improved fatigue scores.	8.2% improveme nt in mean fatigue scores.	Short Form 36 Item Vitality Subscale	Prospective Cohort Comparativ e	 19 SSc Comple mentary Medicine Users. 17 SSc Non- Comple mentary Medicine Users. 	Perceived functioning by eight domains were measured by the Short Form-36 Questionna ire.	 Sociodemo graphic information. Limited or diffuse cutaneous involvement Total skin scores by modified Rodnan skin scores. Total skin scores by modified Rodnan skin scores. Modified Medsger severity scores. Yearly measureme nts of diffusing capacity of carbon monoxide. Short Form 36-Item Questionnai re mental component summary scores and physical component summary scores. 	[59]	[60,61]
2013	Self- directed, print-format, mail- delivered self- manageme nt programs did not improve fatigue severity.	5.7% decrease in mean fatigue scores.	Multidimensio nal Assessment of Fatigue Scale	Before– After (Pre– Post)	49 SSc participa nts.	Multidimen sional Assessmen t of Fatigue Scale.	 Demograph ics and baseline disease information. Health log. Arthritis Self- Efficacy Scale. Health Assessmen t Questionnai re. Scleroderm a Functional Assessmen 	[62]	[63,64]

Table 2. Fatigue Management and Treatment Studies in Systemic Sclerosis.

							+
							ι Questionnai re.
							Health Assessmen
							t
							Questionnai re Pain
							Scale.
							Center for
							Epidemiolo gic Studies
							Depression Scale.
							Program Evaluation Interview Responses
	Aerobic and	29.8%	Visual	Single	4 SSc	Six-minute	• Demograph [65] [55]
	muscular endurance exercises	decrease in mean fatique	Analogue Scale	Subject Before– After (Pre–	participa nts.	walk test.	ic data.
	led to a	scores.		Post)			Working
	marginal improvemen			Experiment			heart rate,
	t in fatigue.						and central
							and peripheral
							exertion
							during and after
							submaximal
							treadmill test.
							Muscle
							endurance as
							measured
							by the number of
							correctly
2014							performed repetitions.
2014							
							Perceived muscle
							exertion
							to the Borg
							CR-10
							 Visual Analogue
							Scales for
							patients ⁻ perceptions
							of Raynaud's
							phenomeno
							n, global fatique and
							global
							disease impact on
							well-being
							auring the last week.

							 Stanford Health Assessmen t 		
							Questionnai re – HAQ.		
							 SF-36 domain scores. 		
	Internet self-directed self- manageme nt programs led to a decrease in fatigue severity.	A 7.2% decrease in mean fatigue scores following the intervention	Visual Analogue Scale	Before– After (Pre– Post) Pilot	16 SSc participa nts.	Visual Analogue Scale for fatigue.	 scores. Demograph ic information. Chronic Disease Self- Efficacy Scale. Health Education Impact Questionnai re. Patient Activation Measure. Center for Epidemiolo gic Studies Depression Scale. Health Assessmen t Questionnai re. Visual Analogue Scale for pain. 	[63]	[62,64]
2015	Acupunctur e treatment led to improvemen t in fatigue perceptions.	Two patients self- reported improveme nts in fatigue following acupunctur e treatment.	Marked as Present or Absent	Case Series	2 Female SSc participa nts.	 Physician Assessmen t of Patients' Symptoms. Patients' Self- Reported Symptom Improveme nt. 	- -	[60]	[59,61]
2016	Glucocortic oid discontinuat ion did not lead to an increase in fatigue.	A decrease of 6.7% in mean fatigue scores.	Visual Analogue Scale	Prospective Cohort Comparativ e	 33 SSc participa nts who discontin ued glucocort icoids. 15 SSc participa nts who could not discontin 	Visual Analogue Scale for fatigue.	 Demograph ic information. Clinical measures. Laboratory test results. Visual Analogue Scale for global 	[66]	None

					ue glucocort icoids.		health status. • Visual Analogue Scale for pain. • SF-36 mental component		
							summary scores and physical component summary scores.		
							scleroderm a Study Group activity index. • Medsger scale.		
2017	Diffuse cutaneous SSc individuals with clinical or subclinical hypothyroidi sm had their fatigue improve following L- thyroxine treatment.	An improvemen t of 38.9% in mean general fatigue scores.	Multidimensio nal Fatigue Inventory 20 Item	Before– After (Pre– Post)	 10 clinical hypothyr oid female SSc patients. 23 Subclinic al hypothyr oid female SSc patients. 	Multidimen sional Fatigue Inventory 20 Item General Fatigue Scores.	 Age. Thyroid Stimulating Hormone Levels. Free Triiodothyro nine. Free Thyroxine. 	[67]	None
2018	Tocilizumab , an antibody therapy that targets the IL-6 receptor, did not improve fatigue relative to the placebo group.	A 14.4% decrease in least square mean fatigue scores in patients treated with tocilizumab.	Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy Fatigue Score	Double- Blinded, Placebo- Randomize d Controlled Phase 2 Trial	 35 SSc participa nts complete d treatment with tocilizum ab for 24 weeks. 30 SSc participa nts treated with tocilizum ab for 48 weeks. 36 SSc participa nts complete d treatment with placebo 	Difference in mean change from baseline in mRSS.to week 24.	 Health Assessmen t Questionnai re– Disability Index score. Patient Global Visual Analogue Scale. Physician Global Visual Analogue Scale. Physician Global Visual Analogue Scale. Functional Assessmen t of Chronic Illness Therapy Fatigue Score. 	[68]	None

	for 24 •	Pruritus 5-D
	weeks	ltch)
	•	Change
•	33 SSc	from
	participa	baseline in
	, participa	mBSS to
	nts	11183510
	complete	week 48.
	d	
	trootmont	Proportion
	ueaunent •	of potiente
	with	of patients
	placebo	with change
	for 48	from
	Weeks	baseline in
		the mPSS
		at week 48
		≥ the
		change
		from
		h an a line in
		baseline in
		the mRSS
		at Week 24.
		Ohan na in
	•	Change in
		Visual
		Analogue
		Scale
		Couro
		Scores
		from
		baseline
		(intestinal
		hra athing
		breatning,
		Raynaud's,
		finger
		ulcers
		overall
		disease
		VAS scores
		from
		Salaradarm
		Scieroderm
		a HAQ–DI).
	•	Forced Vital
		Canacity
		Capacity.
	•	Percent
		Predicted
		Forced Vital
		Capacity.
	•	Percent
		Predicted
		Diffusing
		Dilusing
		Capacity for
		Carbon
		Monoxide.
	•	Iender
		Joint
		Counts.
		A di varaa
	•	Aaverse
		Events.
	-	Serious
	•	A duama a
		Adverse
		Events.
	-	Laboratory
	•	
		monitoring.
		Was
		performed.

							 Gene Expression Analysis of Skin Biopsy specimens collected at baseline and at week 24. Immunoass ays for serum concentrati ons of COMP, POSTN, to 		
	Tai Chi improved fatigue compared to pre- intervention in diffuse cutaneous SSc patients.	 43.9% decrease in mean Fatigue Impact Scale scores. 33.3% decrease in mean Fatigue Severity Scale scores. 	 Fatigue Severity Scale Fatigue Impact Scale 	Randomize d Control Trial Parallel Groups	 14 SSc participa nts in the Tai Chi Group. 14 SSc participa nts in the Home Exercise Group. 	 Fatigue Impact Scale. Fatigue Severity Scale. 	 and CCL18. Demograph ic data and disease information. Trunk Lateral Endurance Test. Berg Balance Scale. Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index. Hospital 	[56]	None
2020	There were no significant differences between the internet self- manageme nt and control groups in a randomized controlled trial.	Approximat ely similar mean fatigue scores.	PROMIS-29 Profile v2.0	Randomize d Control Trial Parallel Groups	 123 SSc participa nts in the Internet Self- Manage ment Program. 124 SSc participa nts in the Book Self- Manage ment Program. 	• PROMIS- 29 Profile v2.0.	Anxiety and Depression Demograph ic data and disease information. PROMIS Self- Efficacy for Managing Chronic Conditions measure. Patient Health Questionnai re-8. Patient Activation Measure. European Quality of Life-5 Dimensions	[64]	[62,63]

							Quality Adjusted Life Years.		
							Brief Satisfaction with Appearanc e Scale		
	Aerobic exercise improved fatigue severity.	 A 64.3% decrease in mean fatigue scores when supervised. 	Fatigue Impact Scale	Randomize d Control Trial Parallel Groups	• 18 SSc participa nts in the Supervis ed Exercise Group.	Six-minute walk test.	 Demograph ic data, disease information, smoking history. 	[55]	[65]
		• A 5.2% decrease in mean fatigue scores when done at home.			 19 SSc participa nts in the Home Exercise Group. 		 Heart Rate. Oxygen Saturation. Modified Borg Scale. 		
							 Forced Vital Capacity. 		
							 Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 Second. 		
							 Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 second / Forced Vital Capacity Ratio. 		
2021							 Peak Expiratory Flow. 		
							 Diffusion Capacity of the Lungs for Carbon Monoxide. 		
							 Maximal Inspiratory Pressure after a Maximal Expiratory 		
							Maneuver. Maximal Expiratory Pressure after a 		
							Maximal Inspiratory Maneuver.		
							Modified Medical Research Council Dyspnea		

	Two patients self- reported improvemen ts in fatigue following yoga treatment at discharge and follow- up.	 Compared to baseline, there was a 250% improveme nt in mean fatigue scores at 5- week discharge. A 367% improveme nt in mean fatigue scores at a 4-week follow-up after discharge. 	Short Form 36 Item Vitality Subscale	Case Series	2 Female SSc participa nts.	• Short Form 36-Item Questionna ire	 Isometric knee extension strength. Isometric handgrip strength. Health Assessmen t Questionnai re Disability Index. Scleroderm a Health Assessmen t Questionnai re. Short Form 36-Item Questionnai re mental component summary scores and physical component summary scores. Fatigue Impact scale. Occurrence of first symptoms. Diagnosis. Commence ment of medication. Erythrocyte Sedimentati on Rate. C-Reactive Protein levels. Visual Analogue Scale for overall pain 	[61]	[59,60]
		uischarge.					 Visual Analogue Scale for overall pain and stiffness. Symptom score checklist. 		
2022	There is no improvemen t in fatigue severity when	 A 49.4% decrease in median Multidimen sional 	 Multidimen sional Assessmen t of Fatigue Scale 	Before– After (Pre– Post)	4 SSc participa nts.	 First three questions on the Multi- Dimensiona 	 Demograph ic questionnai re. 	[69]	None

participation in the Faitgue and Scale total Faitgue and Scale total metry writionIPatient- report targue, targue, scale total impact ScalePatient- report targue, scale total impact ScalePatient- report targue, <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th>					
in the of Faitgue Modified Assessment Pallat. Faitgue Scress Impact Scale Galaction in Market Scale S	participating	Assessmen		1	
In the and solve tight of balance Palance Palance reported reported Maningeme post- tict version Scale Scale reported outcomes, issues Intervention Facility of the second of	in the	t of Entique	Madified		
Patigue and Activity Sociale total baseline Patigue baseline In Patigue baseline In Patigue baseline In Patigue baseline	in the	t of Laugue	• Modified	Assessmen	 Patient-
Activity scores Impact degree of outcomes. Activity scores Scale	Fatigue and	Scale total	Fatigue	t of Fatigue:	reported
Mategores Intervention Intervention Scatter Scatter Intervention Control is language intervention Control is language intervention Control is language intervention Systems FAME:ISS handback Systems FAME:ISS handback (FAME:ISS) + A 20.3%	Activity	scores	Impact	dearee of	icported
Manageme nt elacation in Education in Systemic Servers of adjue. Could servers of the baseline. Could baseline. Could baseline. Could baseline. Could baseline. FAME-ISS handbook data. FAME-ISS handbook data. (FAME-ISS)	, (Ouvity	nost-	Scale		outcomes.
nt distribution in the function is severity of factors is severity of distress is severity of distress is severity of distress is severity of distress is severity of models is severity of models is severity of distress is seve	Manageme	intervention	Ocale	tatigue,	
Education in baseline. Systems baseline. Sciences (AME-ISS) + A 20.3% (FAME-ISS) + A 20.4% (FAME-ISS) + A	nt	Intervention		severity of	
System: In beseline. Index of the AAC 3% data data. Sciences and the action of the act	Education in	relative to		fatique	
Systemic before anothold data data data data data data data da		baseline.		langue,	 FAME-iSS
Sclerosis (*A20.3% from failues failubook data. (*AM-F155) + A 20.3% from failue. Comparing Multidiment sources for the sour	Systemic			level of	bandbook
(FAME:SS) A 20.3% from data. (cmain of the set o	Sclerosis			distress	Hallubook
Work Individual Participant Gomparing Multidimen feedback baseline sional semi- Assessmen structured intervention of Fature interviews. or between Scale total participant or between Scale total participant intervention tof Fature Individual post- participant follow-up mooth post- interviews north rolow-up pat- post- interviews interviews intervention - - A 37.9% Impact Scale decrease in gcale. - Modified - - Fatigue Impact Scale. Modified - - Impact Scale. Scale. scores scale. - post- - - intervention - - Modified - - impact - - scores - - intervention - - intervention - - inte	(FAME-iSS)	 A 20.3% 		from	data.
When Tetague Participant comparing Multidimen feedback baseline to sicnal semi		decrease in		10111	
comparing the dial means the set of the set	wnen	modian		tatigue.	- Dortiginant
baseline to Multidimen feedback semi- post- Assessmen structured interviews. Assessmen structured interviews. post- sorres in and a 3- month follow-up follow-up telephone interviews post- intervention feedback feed	comparing				• Farticipant
book to a sional Assessmen structured intervention to Fatigue scores in month follow-up scores in month follow-up fo	haseline to	Multidimen			feedback
post- intervention or between Scale total intervention and a 3 and a 3 month follow-up, relative to post- intervention 		sional			semi-
intervention or between scores in intervention tollow-up post- month follow-up post- intervention tollow-up post- intervention - - - - - - - - - - - - -	post-	Assessmen			structured
or between post- intervention and a 3- month follow-up relative to post- follow-up relative to follow-up relative to post- follow-up follow-up relative to post- follow-up relative to post- follow-up relative to post- follow-up relative to post- follow-up relative to follow-up relative foll	intervention	t of Estique			Siluciuleu
post- post- intervention the 3- month to 3- month follow-up relative to post- intervention	or hetween	Coole tetal			interviews.
post- month to 3- month follow-up. follow-up. follow-up. post- interviews int		Scale Iolai			
intervention the 3- and a 3- month follow-up f	post-	scores in			 Individual
and a 3- month follow-up. post- intervention - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	intervention	the 3-			
month follow-up, relative to post- intervention	and a 3-	month			participant
month boltwap telephone te	and a 5-	fellow			follow-up
follow-up. relative to intervention Modified Faitque Impact · · ·	month	ionow-up			televiere
post- intervention - A 37.9% decrease in median Modified Fatigue Impact Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Bestlive to baseline. - A 23.4% intervention relative to baseline. - A 23.4% increase in median Modified Fatigue Intervention relative to baseline. - A 23.4% increase in median Modified Fatigue Impact Scale Sc	follow-up.	relative to			telephone
intervention		post-			interviews
Modified - A 37.9% decrease in median Modified - Fatigue - Hospital - Axiety and - Depression - Scale - Scale		, intervention			
 A 37.9% Gerease in median Modified Fatigue Impact Scale. Modified Fatigue Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale. post- intervention PROMIS self. baseline. Fatigue A 23.4% increase in median increase in median increase in median Scale Scores Scale Scores post- increase in median Self. Scale Scores Scores Scale Scores Scale Scores Scale Scale Scores Scale <l< td=""><td></td><td>intervention</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></l<>		intervention			
 A 37.9% decrease in median Modified Fatigue mact Scale. Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale. PROMIS Scale. post- intervention PROMIS Self. A 23.4% Symptoms. median Self. Secale Conservatio Strategies Secale 		•			 Modified
 A 37.9% decrease in median Modified Fatigue Impact Scale Anviety and Depression Scale post- intervention A 23.4% Sores Sores A 23.4% Symptoms. Efficacy for Managing Scale Sores Sores Self- baseline. Efficacy for Managing Scale Sores A 23.4% Symptoms. increase in median Self- Efficacy for Hanging Scale Sores Sores Conservatio Sores post- intervention A sessmen relative to post- intervention A coeptabilit y of FAME- iSS assessed through a 8-item short conservatio n Strategies Survey 					Fatique
decrease in scale. median Modified Fatigue Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Post- intervention relative to baseline. A 23.4% increase in median		• A 37 9%			Impact
decrease in Scale. median Modified Fatigue Anxiety and Impact Depression Scale Scale. scores Scale. post- Scale. intervention PROMIS relative to Self. baseline. Pricesion increase in Scale. median Self. Modified Self. Fatigue Performing Impact Scale Scale Symptoms. increase in Self. median Self. Modified Efficacy for Fatigue Performing Impact Scale scores n Strategies post- n Strategies intervention Assessmen relative to t post- intervention relative to t post- SS intervention Assessmen relative to ssessed through a 8-item short conservatio SS scores Solution.		dooroooo in			
Modified + Hospital Fatigue Anxiety and Scale Scale scores Scale post- PROMIS intervention PROMIS relative to Self- baseline. Efficacy for median Self- post- Symptoms. increase in Symptoms. median Self. Modified Efficacy for Fatigue Performing Impact Scale Scale Energy Scale Energy Scale Some sessed post- ntervention relative to Assessmen post- Notified intervention Assessmen relative to Scale post- Scale intervention Acceptabilit v FAME- isS assessed through a 8-item short conservation Strategies survey Strategies		uecrease III			Scale.
Modified + Hospital Fratigue Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale PROMIS Feative to Baseline. • A 23.4% increase in median Modified Fatigue Modified Fatigue Scale Sca		median			
Fatigue Anxiety and Depression Scale Depression Scale Scale scores Scale post- intervention relative to Self- baseline. Efficacy for Managing Symptoms. increase in Managing median Self- Modified Efficacy for Fatigue Performing Impact Scale Scores Conservatio post- n Strategies intervention Assessmen relative to t. post- n Strategies intervention Assessmen relative to t. post- intervention relative to t. post- intervention relative to Assessmen respect Conservatio relative to assessed course evaluation. evaluation Sitem short course survey <td></td> <td>Modified</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>- Hoopital</td>		Modified			- Hoopital
Arxiety and Depression Scale scores post- intervention relative to baseline. • A 23.4% increase in median median median median fatigue Impact Scale scores post- intervention relative to post- intervention relative to post- intervention relative to post- intervention · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Fatique			
Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Scale Self- Efficacy for Managing Symptoms. Increase in median Modified Fatigue Inpact Scale		Impact			Anxiety and
Scale scores post- intervention relative to baseline. • A 23.4% increase in median median Modified Fatigue Impact Scale scores post- intervention relative to post- intervention · A 23.4% Suppose fatigue Impact Scale scores post- intervention relative to post- intervention · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					Depression
scores otale. post- intervention - PROMIS self. baseline. • A 23.4% increase in median Modified Fatigue - Self. Modified - Self. Notategies Survey - Self. Stategies - Survey - Self. Stategies - Survey - Self. Stategies - Survey - Self. - Stategies - Survey - Self. - Self.		Scale			Scale
post- intervention relative to baseline. • A 23.4% increase in median Modified Fatigue Impact Scale scores post- intervention relative to post- intervention relative to post- intervention relative to post- intervention · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		scores			Scale.
 PROMIS Self- Baseline. A 23.4% increase in median A 23.4% increase in median Self- Efficacy for Modified Fatigue Impact Scale scores post- intervention relative to post- intervention Acceptabilit y of FAME- isS assessed through a 8-tiem short course evaluation. Energy Conservatio nergy Scale Strategies assessed them short sourse evaluation. 		post-			
relative to baseline. Participation of the set of the		intervention			PROMIS
relative to Self- baseline. Efficacy for A 23.4% Symptoms. increase in Self- median • Self- Modified Efficacy for Patigue Performing Impact Energy Scale Conservatio scores n Strategies intervention t. relative to t. post- intervention intervention Acceptabilit y of FAME- iSS assessed through a #-item short conservatio Survey Strategies					Calf
baseline. Efficacy for Managing Symptoms. increase in median Self. Modified Efficacy for Fatigue Performing Impact Energy Scale Conservatio post- intervention Assessmen relative to post- intervention - relative to post- intervention - -		relative to			Self-
A 23.4% Symptoms. increase in median Modified Fatigue Impact Scale Scores post- intervention relative to post- intervention		baseline.			Efficacy for
A 23.4% increase in median Modified Fatigue Impact Scale Scores post- intervention relative to post- intervention relative relative relative relative relative relative relative rela					Managing
 A 23.4% increase in median Modified Fatigue Impact Scale Scores post- intervention relative to post- intervention Assessmen t. post- intervention Acceptabilit y of FAME- iSS assessed through a 8-item short conservatio Strategies Survey 		A 22 /0/			Our managering
Increase in Self. Modified Efficacy for Fatigue Performing Impact Energy Scale Conservatio scores n Strategies post- n Strategies intervention Assessmen relative to t. post- of FAME- intervention SS assessed through a 8-item short conservatio scores evaluation.		• A 23.4%			Symptoms.
median • Self- Modified Efficacy for Patigue Performing Impact Energy Scale Conservatio scores n Strategies post- Assessmen relative to t. post- of FAME- intervention • Acceptabilit v v of FAME- isS assessed through a 8-item short course evaluation. v Energy Conservatio n Strategies survey Survey		increase in			
Modified Efficacy for Fatigue Efficacy for Performing Energy Scale Conservatio post- intervention Assessmen relative to to t. post- intervention • Acceptabilit y of FAME- iSS assessed through a 8-item short course evaluation. Energy Conservatio n Strategies Survey		median			• Solf
Fatigue Impact Scale Scores post- intervention relative to post- intervention relative to post- intervention · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Modified			
Impact Performing Scale Energy scores Conservatio post- n Strategies intervention Assessmen relative to t. post- intervention . Acceptabilit . y of FAME- iSS assessed through a 8-item short course evaluation.		Fatigue			Efficacy for
Impact Energy Scale Energy conservatio post- intervention Assessmen relative to post- intervention • Acceptabilit · Acceptabilit · Acceptabilit · SS assessed through a 8-item short course evaluation. • Energy Conservatio n Strategies Survey		i augue			Performing
Scale Conservatio post- intervention Assessmen relative to post- intervention · Acceptabilit		impact			Energy
scores Conservatio post- intervention Assessmen relative to post- intervention - Acceptabilit y of FAME- iSS assessed through a 8-item short course evaluation. Energy Conservatio n Strategies Survey		Scale			
post- intervention relative to post- intervention		scores			Conservatio
Assessmen intervention relative to post- intervention Acceptabilit y of FAME- iSS assessed through a 8-item short course evaluation. Energy Conservatio n Strategies Survey		nost-			n Strategies
relative to post- intervention - Acceptabilit		intonientier			Assessmen
relative to t. post- intervention • Acceptabilit y of FAME- iSS assessed through a 8-item short course evaluation. • Energy Conservatio n Strategies Survey		intervention			1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
post- intervention		relative to			τ.
Acceptabilit y of FAME- iSS assessed through a 8-item short course evaluation. Energy Conservatio n Strategies Survey		post-			
Acceptabilit y of FAME- iSS assessed through a 8-item short course evaluation. Energy Conservatio n Strategies Survey		intervention			 Accontabilit
y of FAME- iSS assessed through a 8-item short course evaluation. • Energy Conservatio n Strategies Survey		Intervention			
iSS assessed through a 8-item short course evaluation. • Energy Conservatio n Strategies Survey		•			y of FAME-
assessed through a 8-item short course evaluation. • Energy Conservatio n Strategies Survey					iSS
assessed through a 8-item short course evaluation. • Energy Conservatio n Strategies Survey					annand
through a 8-item short course evaluation. • Energy Conservatio n Strategies Survey					a>>t>>tu
8-item short course evaluation. • Energy Conservatio n Strategies Survey					through a
Energy Conservatio n Strategies Survey					8-item short
course evaluation. • Energy Conservatio n Strategies Survey					
evaluation. • Energy Conservatio n Strategies Survey					course
• Energy Conservatio n Strategies Survey					evaluation.
Energy Conservatio n Strategies Survey					
• Energy Conservatio n Strategies Survey					- Eporau
Conservatio n Strategies Survey					• Energy
n Strategies Survey					Conservatio
Survey					n Strategies
Suivey					Suprov
					Survey

Year	Findings	Degree of Change	Fatigue Measurement Tool	Study Design	Study Size	Primary Outcome(s)	Secondary Outcome(s)	Ref.	Ref. (Similar Studies)
1985	Five patients had their fatigue symptom s improve following plasmaph eresis.	A decreas e of at least 55.6% in mean fatigue scores.	A questionnaire, but the identity of the questionnaire was not reported.	Case Series	5 PBC participants	 Questionna ire assessing pruritis, fatigability, dryness of eyes or mouth, Raynaud's phenomeno n, nausea and vomiting. 	 Liver size. Spleen size. Xanthom ata. Painful neuropat hy. Duration of therapy. Aspartate aminotra nsferase levels. Alkaline phosphat ase levels. Total bilirubin levels. Antimitochon drial antibody titre. Cholester ol levels. Immune complexe s. 	[58]	[57]
1994	The combinati on treatment of prednison e and ursodeox ycholic acid led to the disappear ance of fatigue.	66.7% of patients had improve ment in fatigue.	Marked as Present or Absent	Case Series	7 PBC participants	Fatigue.	 Pruritis. Arthralgia Total Symptom s. Aspartate aminotra nsferase levels. Alkaline phosphat ase levels. IgM 	[70]	None

Table 3. Fatigue Management and Treatment Studies in Primary Biliary Cholangitis.

	Bezafibrat e improved	All five patients with	Marked as Present or Absent	Case Series	11 SSc participants	Fatigue.	Age.Gender.	[71]	[72]
	five patients' fatigue	fatigue had their					• Pruritis.		
	symptom s.	sympto ms improve					 Anti- mitochon drial antibody status. 		
							 Histologi cal staging. 		
1999							• Duration of prior ursodeox ycholic acid therapy.		
							 Alanine aminotra nsferase levels. 		
							 Alkaline phosphat ase levels. 		
							 IgM levels. 		
							 γGTP levels. 		
2001	The treatment with both the compoun d antioxida nt vitamin Bio-Antox containin g the antioxida nts selenium, methionin e, beta- carotene, vitamin E, and Bio- Quinone Q10 and Coenzym e Q10 with alpha- tocophero I only improved physical and social, but not	 33.3% improv ement in mean Fisk Fatigu e Severit y physic al scores. 19.2% improv ement in mean Fisk Fatigu e Severit y social scores. 	Fisk Fatigue Severity Score	Case Series	 13 PBC participants in the Bio- Antox and Bioquinone Q10 group. 11 PBC participants in the Bio- Antox alone group. 	Fisk Fatigue Severity Scores: cognitive, physical, social scores.	 Visual Analogue Scale for Itch. Night itch scores. Dry eyes. Dry mouth. Abdomin al pain. Bone and joint pain. 	[73]	[74]

	fatigue and there was a trend towards improvem ent in total Fisk Fatigue Severity scores.								
2002	Liver transplant s did not improve fatigue even when controllin g for the geographi cal location of PBC patients.	~2.6% decreas e in median fatigue scores followin g transpla nt relative to non- Scheue r stage III-IV patients	Fatigue Impact Scale	Case- Control	136 PBC participants	Fatigue Impact Scale	 Demogra phic and clinical data. Visual Analogue Scale for pruritis. Rand MOS Depressi on Screener Thyroid stimulatin g hormone levels. Albumin levels. Bilirubin levels. Alkaline phosphat ase levels. Prothrom bin time. Antimitochon drial antibody titre. Histologic al stage. 	[75]	[76-78]
2003	A randomiz ed placebo- controlled trial showed no improvem ent in fatigue severity by using only a compoun d antioxida nt	1.5% improve ment in median fatigue scores followin g treatme nt.	FISK Fatigue Severity Score	Rundomize d, Double- Blind, Placebo- Controlled, Cross-Over Trial	44 PBC participants	FISK Fatigue Severity Scores	 Visual Analogue Scale for pruritis. Visual Analogue Scale for degree of eye dryness and mouth. Hypocho ndrial pain using a 	[/4]	[73]

	containin		four-point								
	a vitamins		Likert								
	A C and		scalo								
			Scale.								
	E,										
	selenium,		Bone								
	methionin		pain								
	e, and		using a								
	ubiquinon		four-point								
	e.		Likert								
			scale								
			- Hamilton								
			Depressi								
			on Rating								
			Scale.								
	Treatmen	• 4.1% • Visual Randon	nize • 17 PBC • Visual • Short [79] None								
	t with the	improv Analogue d, Doub	le- participants Analogue Form 36-								
	serotonin	ement Scale Blind	treated with Scale for Item								
	reuptake	in the Placebo	- fluvoxamin fatigue Question								
	inhibitor	median	ed e for naire								
	fluvoxami	scores Severity Score Trial	intention - Field								
	nuvoxami na did nat	in the	Intention- • FISK								
	ne dia not	social • Multidimensio	to-treat Fatigue Visual								
	lead to a	domain nal Fatique	analysis. Severity Analogue								
	significant	of the Inventory 20	Score. Scale for								
	improvem	Fisk Item	12 PBC pruritis.								
	ent in	Fatigu	participants • Multidimen								
	fatigue	e	treated with sional • Total								
	severity.	Severit	fluvoxamin Eatique serum								
	,	v	e for per-								
		Score	protocol 20 Item								
		on Day									
		70	analysis. • Albumin								
		relative									
		to	• 16 PBC • γ-GT								
		basolin	participants								
		Daseiin	treated with Alkaline								
		с.	placebo for phosphat								
		4 70/	intention-								
		4.7%	to-treat								
		decrea									
		se in	• Alanine								
		median	aminotra								
		fatigue	14 PBC nsferase.								
		scores	participants								
		on Day	treated with Aspartate								
		70	placebo for aminotra								
2004		using	per-								
		the	protocol								
		Visual	analysis								
		Analog									
		ue	UI.								
		Scale									
1		relative	• lgG								
		to									
		baselin	• IgM								
1		e.									
1			Prothrom								
1			bin time.								
		5.6%	bit dito.								
1		improv	- Antithrom								
		ement									
		in the	DIN-III.								
1		median									
		genera	Hemoglo								
		I	bin.								
		fatigue									
		scores	Leukocyt								
		on Day	e count.								
		70									
		using	 Platelet 								
1		the	count								
1		Multidi	count.								
		mensio									
1		nal									
1		Fatigu									
1		e									
1		Invento									
		ry 20									
		Item									
------	-----------------	--------------------------	------------------------------------	--------------------	---	--------------	---	----------	------------	------	------
		relative									
		to									
		haselin									
		2									
		e.									
		 6.3% 									
		worsen									
		ing of									
		modian									
		pnysic									
		al									
		functio									
		ning									
		scores									
		on Dav									
		70									
		ucing									
		the									
		Multidi									
		mensio									
		nal									
		Fatigu									
		e									
		Invento									
		ry 20									
		ltom									
		nem 									
		relative									
		to									
		baselin									
		e.									
		• 6.7%									
		reducti									
		on in									
		on in									
		activity									
		on Day									
		70									
		using									
		the									
		Multidi									
		mensio									
		nal									
		Lation									
		Faligu									
		e									
		Invento									
		ry 20									
		Item									
		relative									
		to									
		baselin									
		e									
		0.									
		7 70/									
		• 1.1%									
		reducti									
		on in									
		motivat									
		ion on									
		Day 70									
		using									
		the									
		Multidi									
		mensio									
		nal									
		Lation									
1		Fatigu									
		е									
1		Invento									
		ry 20									
1		Item									
1		relative									
		to									
1		baselin									
1		A									
	Troatman	Δ.	- Cotions lasses (Multicontro		24 000		Field	Dame	[00]	None
	tuith	A 40/	 Faligue Impact 	Dendersier	•	24 PBC	•	FISK •	Demogra	႞၀၀၂	NUTE
1	i with	13.4%	Scale	Randomize		participants		ratigue	priic data		
2005	ondansetr	decreas		d, Double-		received		Severity	and		
_000	_		- LIOK LOTIONIO			placebe in		Score	aisease		
	on, a 5-	e in	• FISK Faligue	Blind,		placebo ill		ocore.	informer "		
	on, a 5- HT₃	e in fatigue	Severity Score	Blind, Placebo-		period 1		ocore.	informati		

	antagonis t, decrease d fatigue compared to placebo only in the second experime ntal period. However, subjects were unblinded as ondansetr on treatment led to constipati on in 63% of treated patients in a randomiz ed controlled crossover trial.	from baselin e using the Fatigue Severit y Scale.	Walter-Reed Performance Assessment Battery	Cross-Over Trial	ondansetro n in period 2. 30 PBC participants received ondansetro n in period 1 and placebo in period 2.		• • • • •	Fatigue Impact Scale. Walter- Reed Performa nce Assessm ent Battery. The Stanford Sleepine ss Scale. Hamilton Rating Scale for Depressi on. Pittsburg h Sleep Quality Index. Anti- mitochon drial antibody status. Alkaline phosphat ase. Bilirubin. Internatio nal normalise d ratio.		
	Five	Not	Marked as	Case Series	5 PBC	Fatigue.	•	effects. Age.	[81]	[82-84]
	patients' fatique	Reporte d	Present or Absent		participants	5		Duration		
	severity						•	of PBC.		
	following being prescribe						•	Disease Stage.		
	d modafinil,						•	Drugs.		
	and improvem ents were						•	Bilirubin levels.		
	maintaine d in two to						•	Albumin levels.		
	fourteen months of follow-up.						•	Alkaline phosphat ase levels.		
	Modafinil improved fatigue	 87% improv ement in 	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Open Label	21 PBC participants	PBC-40 Domains.	•	Epworth Sleepine ss Scale.	[84]	[81-83]
2007	an open-	in mean					•	Age.		
	study	tatigue scores using a					•	Female Sex		

	relative to baseline.	 per- protoc ol analysi s relative to baselin e. 58% improv ement in mean fatigue scores using an intentio n-to- treat analysi 					 Ursodec ycholic acid dose. Disease stage at last biopsy. Bilirubin levels. Albumin levels. Alkaline phospha ase levels. 	x	
2009	Modafinil was found to improve fatigue severity, and the improvem ent was considere d a complete response.	s. 74% of patients had a complet e respons e to treatme nt.	Fatigued was defined as the patient being able to do many activities but not most of them and needing more sleep than usual. Alternatively, they might be unable to carry out their normal activities or hold a regular job.	Open Label	42 PBC participants	Fatigue.	 Age. Female Gender. Disease Stage. Known duration of disease. Bilirubin level. Albumin levels. Albumin levels. Alkaline phospha ase levels. Alanine Transfer se levels. Mayo ris score. 	[83] It s. k	[81,82,84]
2010	Methotrex ate does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	The reporte d relative risks for fatigue with methotr exate treatme nt were 0.92 (95% Confide nce Interval 0.06 - 13.18) and	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	455 PBC participants	 Mortality. Mortality or liver transplantat ion combined. 	 Liver complications. Pruritus, fatigue, and jaundice Liver biochem stry. Liver biopsy findings. Quality of life and 	[45] at	None

		6.50 (95% Confide nce Interval 0.37 - 114.12)					 cost- effectiven ess. Adverse events. Methotre xate versus colchicin e. Subgrou p analyses. Sensitivit y pophroce 		
2012	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	The differen ce betwee n the number of patients experie ncing fatigue after treatme nt with ursode oxychol ic acid and those who did not receive the treatme nt is 6.4%, and the relative risk is 0.90 (with a 95% confide nce interval of 0.81 - 1.00).	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta Analysis	1447 PBC participants	 All-cause mortality. All-cause mortality or liver transplantat ion. Adverse events. Quality of life. 	 analyses. Liver transplan tation. Pruritus and fatigue. Liver- related morbidity . Biochemi cal markers (including serum bilirubin). Liver histology (including worsenin g of histologic al stage). 	[85]	[86]
2013	Fatigue worsened after liver transplant s only in males, while no difference was observed in females. More than 50% of PBC patients had	26.1% increas e in median fatigue scores in males followin g liver transpla nts.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 351 liver transplante d female PBC patients. 351 non- liver transplante d female PBC patients. 29 liver transplante d male 	• PBC-40 Domains.	 Age at PBC diagnosis . Total follow-up time. Age at study. Age at transplan tation. 	[76]	[75,77,78]

 sovere				PBC		 Diagnosi 		
fatigue				FDC		Diagnosi		
laugue				patients.		S to		
after liver						transplan		
transplant				 29 non-liver 		ted		
•				transplante		disease		
				d male		duration.		
				PBC				
				patients.		 Proportio 		
						n of		
						transplan		
						t failure		
						tranure.		
						Detiente		
						Patients		
						not in		
						treatment		
						 Post- 		
						transplan		
						tation		
						follow-up		
						time		
						une.		
						E		
						Epwortn		
						Sleepine		
						ss Scale		
						(ESS).		
						 Orthostat 		
						ic		
						Grading		
						Scalo		
						Scale.		
						 Hospital 		
						Anxiety		
						and		
						_		
						Depressi		
						Depressi on Scale.		
Except for	35.6%	PBC-40	Case-	• 31 PBC	PBC-40	Depressi on Scale. Model for	[77]	[75 76 78]
Except for	35.6%	PBC-40	Case-	31 PBC participants	PBC-40	Depressi on Scale. Model for End-	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the	35.6% decreas	PBC-40 Fatigue	Case- Matched	31 PBC participants	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End-	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion	35.6% decreas e in	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross-	31 PBC participants pre-liver	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al"	35.6% decreas e in mean	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant.	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain,	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	• 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant.	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved,	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 20 PBC 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months post-liver 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue scores docres	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months post-liver transplant. 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue scores decrease	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months post-liver transplant. 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue scores decrease d 6, 12,	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue scores decrease d 6, 12, and 24	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 29 PBC participants 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue domain, and fatigue decrease d 6, 12, and 24 months	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 24 months 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue scores decrease d 6, 12, and 24 months after their	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 24 months post-liver 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue scores decrease d 6, 12, and 24 months after their liver	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 24 months post-liver transplant. 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue scores decrease d 6, 12, and 24 months after their liver transplant	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 24 months post-liver transplant. 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue scores decrease d 6, 12, and 24 months after their liver transplant s. 44% of	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 24 months post-liver transplant. 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue domain, and fatigue domain, and fatigue domain, and fatigue domain, and fatigue domain, and fatigue the scores decrease d 6, 12, and 24 months after their liver transplant s. 44% of patients	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 24 months post-liver transplant. 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue scores decrease d 6, 12, and 24 months after their liver transplant s. 44% of patients still had	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 24 months post-liver transplant. 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue scores decrease d 6, 12, and 24 months after their liver transplant s. 44% of patients still had moderate	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 24 months post-liver transplant. 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue scores decrease d 6, 12, and 24 months after their liver transplant s. 44% of patients still had moderate to severe	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 24 months post-liver transplant. 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue domain, and fatigue domain, and fatigue domain, and fatigue domain, and fatigue domain, and fatigue domain, and fatigue domain, and fatigue scores decrease d 6, 12, and 24 months after their liver transplant s. 44% of patients still had moderate to severe fatigue	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 24 months post-liver transplant. 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue scores decrease d 6, 12, and 24 months after their liver transplant s. 44% of patients still had moderate to severe fatigue	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 24 months post-liver transplant. 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue scores decrease d 6, 12, and 24 months after their liver transplant s. 44% of patients still had moderate to severe fatigue after liver	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 24 months post-liver transplant. 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue scores decrease d 6, 12, and 24 months after their liver transplant s. 44% of patients still had moderate to severe fatigue after liver transplant	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 24 months post-liver transplant. 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue domain, and fatigue domain, and fatigue domain, and fatigue domain, and fatigue domain, and fatigue domain, and fatigue domain, and fatigue scores decrease d 6, 12, and 24 months after their liver transplant s still had moderate to severe fatigue after liver transplant . No	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 24 months post-liver transplant. 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue scores decrease d 6, 12, and 24 months after their liver transplant s. 44% of patients still had moderate to severe fatigue after liver transplant . No correlatio	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 24 months post-liver transplant. 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue scores decrease d 6, 12, and 24 months after their liver transplant s. 44% of patients still had moderate to severe fatigue after liver transplant . No correlatio n was	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 24 months post-liver transplant. 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]
Except for the "Emotion al" domain, all the PBC-40 domains improved, including the fatigue domain, and fatigue scores decrease d 6, 12, and 24 months after their liver transplant s. 44% of patients still had moderate to severe fatigue after liver transplant . No correlatio n was found	35.6% decreas e in mean fatigue scores 24 months after liver transpla nt.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 31 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 30 PBC participants 6 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 12 months post-liver transplant. 29 PBC participants 24 months post-liver transplant. 	PBC-40 Domains.	Depressi on Scale. Model for End- Stage Liver Disease.	[77]	[75,76,78]

2014	MELD scores and fatigue scores before or after liver transplant ation. Liver transplant s led to a trend in improving total fatigue scores of PBC patients when using the Fisk Fatigue Severity Score.	46.7% improve ment in median fatigue scores 12 months after liver transpla nt.	Fisk Fatigue Severity Score	Case- Matched Cross- Sectional	 12 PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 96 non- PBC participants pre-liver transplant. 10 PBC participants 1-year post-liver transplant. 50 non- PBC participants 	Fisk Fatigue Severity Score Domains			[78]	[75-77]
2017	Modafinil, a central nervous system stimulant, did not improve fatigue severity as measured by the Fisk Fatigue Severity Score in a placebo- controlled clinical trial.	 23.2% decrea se in median total Fisk Fatigu e Severit y Scores relative to baselin e. 3.1% decrea se in median Fatigu e Severit y Scale scores relative to baselin e. 17.1% decrea se in median Fatigu e Severit y Scale scores relative to baselin e. 	 Fisk Fatigue Impact Scale Fatigue Severity Scale PBC-40 Fatigue Domain 	Randomize d, Double- Blind, Placebo- Controlled Trial	post-liver transplant. • 17 PBC participants were treated with modafinil. • 19 PBC participants were treated with placebo.	≥ 50% or greater improve ment in fatigue severity (quantifie d by the FFIS) after 12 weeks of treatment , compare d with baseline values.	•	Age. Patients with varices at study entry. Patients with ascites at study entry. Patients with periphera I edema at study entry. Ludwig histologic al stage of PBC at study entry. Sjogren syndrom e. Thyroid disease. The frequenc y of adverse events in each	[82]	[81,83,84]

r		17.00/									
		17.6%						treatment			
		of						arm.			
		patient									
		S					•	Change			
		treated						in fatique			
		with						severity			
		modafi						as			
		nil						as			
		have a						quantine			
		≥50%						d by the			
		reducti						Fisk			
		on in						Fatigue			
		FFIS						Impact			
		scores						Scale			
		relative						compare			
		to						duvith			
		basolin						u with			
		Daseiin						baseline.			
		с.									
							•	Change			
								in fatigue			
								severity			
								as			
								quantifie			
								duantine			
								F88			
								compare			
								d with			
1								baseline.			
							•	Change			
							•	in fatigue			
								in ratigue			
								severity			
								as			
								quantifie			
								d by the			
								of the			
								PBC-40			
								FDC-40			
								laugue			
								domain			
								compare			
								d with			
								baseline.			
							•	Change			
							•	in			
								in			
								aikaline			
								phosphat			
								ase,			
								aspartate			
								aminotra			
								nsferase			
1								total			
1											
1											
1								and			
1								albumin			
1								levels			
								after 12			
								weeks of			
1								therapy			
1								compare			
1								dwith			
1											
1								paseline			
L								values.			
1	The pan-	Fatigu	3-stage (absent,	Randomize	 50 PBC 	Percenta	٠	Demogra	[72]	[71]	
	peroxiso	е		d, Double-	participants	ge of		phic and			
1	me	improv	intermittent,	Blind,	treated with	patients		disease			
1	proliferato	ed in	continuous)	Placebo-	bezafibrate	with a		informati			
1	r-	30% of	fatique	Controlled	for an	complete		on			
1	activated		aaala	Dhace 3	intont to	biochemi	-	Doroost-			
2018	activated	ueated	scale	Trial			•	rercenta			
1	receptor-	patient		Inai	treat	cai		ge of			
1	activating	S.			analysis.	response		patients			
1	drug	Howev				, which		with a			
1	bezafibrat	er.			 50 PBC 	was		complete			
1	e had an	fatiou o			participants	defined		biochemi			
1	inconsiste	langue			treated with	as		cal			
1								301			

nt effect	also	placebo for	normal	response
on fatigue	improv	an intent-	serum	at
in a	ed in	to-treat	levels of	various
placebo-	19% of	analysis	alkaline	time
controllod	nlaash	analysis.	nhoenhat	points
	placeb		phosphat	
cinical	0-		ase,	during
trial.	treated		aspartate	the trial.
	patient		aminotra	
	s		nsferase, •	Percenta
			alanine	de of
			aminotra	natients
			noforono	with a
				with a
			total	normal
			bilirubin,	alkaline
			and	phosphat
			albumin.	ase level
			as well	at 24
				at 24
			asa	monuns.
			normal	
			prothrom •	Changes
			bin index	in serum
			(the	levels of
			, natient's	alkaline
			patients	
			prountom	phosphat
			bin time	ase,
			expresse	aspartate
			d as a	aminotra
			percenta	nsferase
			de of the	alanine
			ye or the	
			normai	aminotra
			value) at	nsferase,
			24	γ-
			months.	glutamyl-
				transfera
				se, total
				bilirubin,
				albumin,
				total
				cholester
				ol high
				or, nigh-
				density
				lipoprotei
				n
				cholester
				ol and
				or, and
				IOW-
				density
				lipoprotei
				n
				cholester
				ol and
				changes
				changes
				in the
				prothrom
				bin index
				and
				platelet
				count
				count.
			•	Percenta
				ge of
				patients
				with an
				adoguato
				biochemi
				cal
				response
				at 24
				months
				as
				defined
				by the
				Barcelon
				a Paris
1				u, i alio

1, Paris 2,

Rotterda m, and Toronto criteria, as well as by the GLOBE score.

- Changes in pruritus intensity on a visualanalogue scale.
- Changes with respect to fatigue (absent, intermite nt, or continuo us).
- Changes in quality of life (as assessed with the use of the Nottingha m Health Profile.
- Changes
 in liver
 stiffness.
- Changes in the Enhance d Liver Fibrosis score.
- Develop ment of portal hyperten sion.
- Survival without liver transplan tation or liver complicat ions.
- Changes in serum levels of total and endogen ous bile acids,

							1		
							ursodeox		
							ycholic		
							acid, /α-		
							hydroxy-		
							4-		
							cholesten		
							-3-one,		
							IgM, IgG,		
							high-		
							sensitivit		
							y C-		
							reactive		
							protein,		
							tumor		
							necrosis		
							factor α,		
							and		
							interleuki		
							n-12.		
						•	Projected		
							survival		
							estimate		
							d		
							accordin		
							a to the		
							GLOBE		
							SCOLO		
							SCOLE		
						•			
							risk		
							score.		
						•	Predictiv		
							e factors		
							of		
							inadequa		
							te		
							te response		
							te response		
	Ursodeox	After	N/A	Systematic	1706 PBC	Proport	te response Serious	[86]	[85]
	Ursodeox ycholic	After treatm	N/A	Systematic Review and	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of	te response Serious Adverse	[86]	[85]
	Ursodeox ycholic acid does	After treatm ent	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta-	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not	After treatm ent with	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve	After treatm ent with ursode	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue,	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid,	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in the	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as quantifi	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in the relative	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as quantifi ed by	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in the relative risk of	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as quantifi ed by the	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in the relative risk of natient	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as quantifi ed by the fatigue	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in the relative risk of patient o with	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as quantifi ed by the fatigue domain	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
2019	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in the relative risk of patient s with fatients	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as quantifi ed by the fatigue domain of the	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
2019	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in the relative risk of patient s with fatigue	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as quantifi ed by the fatigue domain of the PBC-	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
2019	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in the relative risk of patient s with fatigue (0.86, 05%)	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as quantifi ed by the fatigue domain of the PBC- 40	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
2019	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in the relative risk of patient s with fatigue (0.86, 95%	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as quantifi ed by the fatigue domain of the PBC- 40 scale,	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
2019	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in the relative risk of patient s with fatigue (0.86, 95% Confid	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as quantifi ed by the fatigue domain of the PBC- 40 scale, Fisk	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
2019	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in the relative risk of patient s with fatigue (0.86, 95% Confid ence	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as quantifi ed by the fatigue domain of the PBC- 40 scale, Fisk Fatigu	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
2019	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in the relative risk of patient s with fatigue (0.86, 95% Confid ence Interva	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as quantifi ed by the fatigue domain of the PBC- 40 scale, Fisk Fatigu e	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
2019	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in the relative risk of patient s with fatigue (0.86, 95% Confid ence Interva I 0.69-	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as quantifi ed by the fatigue domain of the PBC- 40 scale, Fisk Fatigu e Impact	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
2019	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in the relative risk of patient s with fatigue (0.86, 95% Confid ence Interva I 0.69- 1.08).	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as quantifi ed by the fatigue domain of the PBC- 40 scale, Fisk Fatigu e Impact Scale	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
2019	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in the relative risk of patient s with fatigue (0.86, 95% Confid ence Interva I 0.69- 1.08).	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as quantifi ed by the fatigue domain of the PBC- 40 scale, Fisk Fatigu e Impact Scale, Visual	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
2019	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in the relative risk of patient s with fatigue (0.86, 95% Confid ence Interva I 0.69- 1.08).	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as quantifi ed by the fatigue domain of the PBC- 40 scale, Fisk Fatigu e Impact Scale, Visual Analog	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
2019	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in the relative risk of patient s with fatigue (0.86, 95% Confid ence Interva I 0.69- 1.08).	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as quantifi ed by the fatigue domain of the PBC- 40 scale, Fisk Fatigu e Impact Scale, Visual Analog ue	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
2019	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in the relative risk of patient s with fatigue (0.86, 95% Confid ence Interva I 0.69- 1.08).	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as quantifi ed by the fatigue domain of the PBC- 40 scale, Fisk Fatigu e Impact Scale, Visual Analog ue	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
2019	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in the relative risk of patient s with fatigue (0.86, 95% Confid ence Interva I 0.69- 1.08).	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as quantifi ed by the fatigue domain of the PBC- 40 scale, Fisk Fatigu e Impact Scale, Visual Analog ue scale Multidi	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
2019	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in the relative risk of patient s with fatigue (0.86, 95% Confid ence Interva 1 0.69- 1.08).	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as quantifi ed by the fatigue domain of the PBC- 40 scale, Fisk Fatigu e Impact Scale, Visual Analog ue scale Multidi monsic	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
2019	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in the relative risk of patient s with fatigue (0.86, 95% Confid ence Interva I 0.69- 1.08).	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as quantifi ed by the fatigue domain of the PBC- 40 scale, Fisk Fatigu e Impact Scale, Visual Analog ue scale Multidi mensio	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]
2019	Ursodeox ycholic acid does not improve fatigue, according to a systemati c review.	After treatm ent with ursode oxycho lic acid, there was no decrea se in the relative risk of patient s with fatigue (0.86, 95% Confid ence Interva I 0.69- 1.08).	N/A	Systematic Review and Meta- Analysis	1706 PBC participants	Proport ion of fatigue d patient s and change in degree of fatigue as quantifi ed by the fatigue domain of the PBC- 40 scale, Fisk Fatigu e Impact Scale, Visual Analog ue scale Multidi mensio nal	te response Serious Adverse Events	[86]	[85]

					e Invento ry, or Fatigu e Severit y Scolo				
Fatigue severity did not improve following treatment with rituximab, a therapy that depletes B-cells, at any measured time points.	4.1% decrea se in mean fatigue scores after 12 month s of rituxim ab treatm ent.	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Randomize d, Double- Blind, Placebo- Controlled Trial Phase 2	 PBC participants treated with rituximab: 29 at baseline, 27 with a 3- month follow-up complete, 27 with a 6- month follow-up complete, 26 with a 9- month follow-up complete, 27 with a 24-month follow-up complete. PBC participants treated with rituximab: 28 at baseline, 28 with a 3- month follow-up complete, 28 with a 6- month follow-up complete, 28 with a 9- month follow-up complete, 28 with a 9- month follow-up complete, 28 with a 9- month follow-up complete, 26 with a 24-month follow-up complete, 26 with a 24-month follow-up complete, 26 with a 24-month follow-up complete, 26 with a 24-month 	Fatigue domain score from the PBC-40 question naire at 3 months.	•	Demogra phic and disease informati on. Other domains of the PBC-40. Hospital Anxiety and Depressi on Scale. Epworth Sleeping Scale. Orthostat ic Grading Scale. Patient- Reported Outcome s Measure ment Informati on SystemH ealth Assessm ent Question naire. Cognitive Failure Question naire. Fatigue diaries. Physical activity monitorin g using wrist worn tri- axial GENEAct iv accelero meters. Anaerobi c threshold (AT)	[87]	None

								assessed using conventio nal Cardiopul monary Exercisin q (CPX).		
							•	Muscle bioenerg etic function was assessed using Magnetic Resonan ce Spectros conv		
							•	6) Quantific ation and phenotyp ing of total B- cell populatio ns and B- cell subsets.		
							•	Anti-PDC antibody total and individual isotype levels.		
							•	Change in liver serum biochemi stry.		
	Plasmaph eresis improves chronic fatigue.	15.8% improv ement in media n fatigue scores followi ng treatm	PBC-40 Fatigue Domain	Before– After (Pre– Post)	 13 clinically stable patients with PBC and intractable pruritus not responding to medical therapy. 	PBC-40 fatigue domain.	•	Laborator y biochemi cal paramete rs. Other PBC-40 domains.	[57]	[58]
2021		ent relative to baselin e.			 103 PBC patients for serum levels of both resistin and tissue growth factor β. 		•	Patient Health Question naire-9. Hospital Anxiety and Depressi on Scale.		
							•	Numerica I Rating Scale for pruritis.		

	In a	•	10.8%	PBC-40 Fatique	Randomize		PBC	PBC-40		Other	[88]	None
	randomiz	-	reducti	Domain	d Double-	-	narticinante	fatique	-	PBC-40	[00]	
	od		on in	Domain	Blind		given	domain		demoine		
	eu		moon		Dinu,		given	uomain.		domains.		
	placebo-		fatiquo		Placebo-		setanaxib					
	controlled		laligue		Controlled		400 mg		•	Change		
	clinical		scores		Trial Phase		twice daily:			from		
	trial,		when		2		36 for			baseline		
	treatment		aosea				baseline			to week		
	with		twice a				intention-			24 in		
	setanaxih		day				to-treat			mean		
	improved		relative				analysis			notiont		
	fotique		to				20 for			patient-		
	laugue		baselin				30 101			reported		
	severity in		e.				cnange			score for		
	PBC						from			each		
	patients,	•	6.7%				baseline to			PBC-40		
	whether		reducti				week 24.			domain.		
	given		on in									
	once or		mean				PBC			Number		
	twice a		fatique				participants			and		
	dav.		scores				diven			nercenta		
	,		when				setanavih			go of		
			dosed				400 mg			ye or		
			once a				400 mg			patients		
			dav				once dally:			who		
			relative				38 for			achieved		
			to				baseline			а		
			baselin				intention-			meaningf		
			e.				to-treat			ul		
							analysis,			response		
							37 for			in each		
							change			domain		
2023							from			at week		
2020							haseline to			24		
							wook 2/			27.		
							WEEK 24.			1.5		
									•	Liver		
						•	FBC			sunness		
							participants			as .		
							given oral			assessed		
							placebo:			through		
							38=7 for			transient		
							baseline			elastogra		
							intention-			phy.		
							to-treat					
							analysis,			Venous		
							36 for			blood		
							change			serum		
							from			levels of		
							baseline to			markere		
							week 24			of liver		
										ii ijui y		
										and		
										intiamma		
										tion		
										(alkaline		
										phosphat		
										ase,		
										high-		
										sensitivit		
										v C-		
										reactive		
										protein		
										and IL-6)		
1										ana i <u></u> -0).		

3. Metabolic Remodeling is Common in SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS

Patients with PBC, SSc, and ME/CFS have unique metabolic signatures distinguishing them from individuals with other diseases (**Figure 2, Table 4**). Understanding these alterations can provide clues to the specific metabolic pathways common to these diseases. Adaptations to chronic hypoxia may be a common mechanism linking these metabolic disturbances. Some of these adaptations include those described in increased glycolysis [89,90], with increased production and release of hydrogen ions associated with increased lactate release [90-94], and an altered redox state [95-101]. These metabolic changes may promote some of the symptoms described in PBC, SSc, and ME/CFS, such as diffuse body pain and possibly post-exercise malaise [92,93].

These adaptations are well described in both PBC and SSc. For instance, fatigued PBC patients have more extended periods of decreased muscle pH following exercise than non-fatigued PBC patients [94]. Similarly, SSc patients display a reduced oxygen content gradient, leading to decreased peak oxygen consumption and compromised skeletal muscle microcirculation [102,103]. Hypoxia in SSc can also promote inflammatory signals by increasing ATP levels and IL-6 production [104]. These signals, in turn, promote immune cell activation and other adaptations that result in disease specific-changes (such as organ-limited and/or systemic fibrosis and vasculopathy) and perhaps ME/CFS symptom manifestation. This is why it is unsurprising that many patients with SSc and PBC develop severe fatigue without severe visceral complications such as interstitial lung disease [105]; or cirrhosis [75-78], respectively.



Metabolic Abnormalities in PBC, SSc, and ME/CFS

Figure 2. The metabolic abnormalities observed in primary biliary cholangitis, systemic sclerosis, and myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome are similar and involve the same metabolites and metabolic pathways. The down red arrows represent decreased levels, while the green up arrows indicate increased levels. a-KG, alphaketoglutarate; ATP, adenosine triphosphate; CoA, coenzyme A; COX7C, cytochrome c oxidase subunit 7C; Cyt C, cytochrome C; H⁺, hydrogen ions; IL-6, interleukin 6; NAD⁺, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide; NADH, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide with a hydrogen; NAM, nicotinamide adenine mononucleotide; NQ01. NAD(P)H dehydrogenase quinone 1; ME/CFS, myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome; PBC, primary biliary cholangitis; Q10, Coenzyme Q10; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SSc, systemic sclerosis.

Table 4. Metabolic Changes in Primary Biliary Cholangitis (PBC), Systemic Sclerosis(SSc), and Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (ME/CFS).

Diseases(s)	Findings	Biological Specimen(s) Analyzed	Ref.
	 All three diseases have increased signatures of oxidative stress species. A source of this in SSc patients are fibroblasts' mitochondria. 	 Blood Serum (PBC & SSc) Blood Plasma (SSc & ME/CFS) Fibroblasts (SSc) Skin (Diffuse SSc) Liver (PBC) Bile Ducts (PBC) 	[95-101]
PBC, SSc, ME/CFS	 All three diseases have decreased extracellular pH levels and increased lactate release. 	 Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy Following Plantar Flexion (PBC & ME/CFS) Human Dermal Fibroblasts (SSc) Ventricular Cerebrospinal Fluid (ME/CFS) 	[90-94]
	 All three diseases have decreased levels of both fatty acid oxidation metabolites and branched-chain amino acids. However, fatigued PBC patients do not have decreased branched-chain amino acid levels. 	Blood PlasmaBlood Serum (PBC & ME/CFS)	[95,106-111]
	 All three diseases have increased CD38 expression in B- cells. 	Peripheral Blood Mononuclear CellsPeripheral Blood (SSc)	[112-115]
PBC & SSc	Increased kynurenine levels.	Blood Serum	[116,117]
	Both diseases have increased muscular acidosis following exercise.	Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy Following Plantar Flexion	[92-94]
PBC & ME/CFS	 Reports of increased tryptophan in PBC and ME/CFS. 	Blood Serum (PBC)Blood Plasma (ME/CFS)	[111,118]
	 There are reports of increased numbers of mitochondrial cristae in both diseases. 	 Intrahepatic Bile Ducts (PBC) Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells (ME/CFS) 	[119,120]
SSc & MF/CFS	Reduced citrate levels.	Blood Serum (SSc)Blood Plasma (ME/CFS)	[121,122]
	 There are increased mRNA levels of COX7C in ME/CFS patients and in SSc patients with ME/CFS. 	Whole Blood	[105,123]
	 Increased glycolysis, and perhaps glutamine metabolism, are present. 	Human Dermal Fibroblasts	[90,124]
	 Hypoxia stimulates increased ATP levels which in turn stimulates the increased release of IL-6 by fibroblasts. 	Human Dermal Fibroblasts	[104]
	 SSc individuals' fibroblasts have increased glycolytic metabolism and hydrogen ion release. 	Human Dermal Fibroblasts	[90,124]
	Decreased numbers of mitochondrial cristae.	Human Dermal Fibroblasts	[125]
	There is an increase in hyper-fused mitochondrial networks.	Human Dermal Fibroblasts	[126]
550	 There are decreased mRNA levels of ND4 and CyB in SSc patients with ME/CFS. 	Whole Blood	[105]
	 Increased upregulation of genetic signatures associated with glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation. 	Monocyte-Derived Macrophages	[127]
	Higher levels of L-carnitine and L-acetyl-carnitine.	Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells	[107]
	Decreased tryptophan levels.	Blood Plasma	[110]
	Increased CD38 expression.	Human Skin BiopsiesHuman Dermal Fibroblasts	[128]

PBC	 There are anti-mitochondrial antibodies targeting mitochondrial Complex 1. 	Blood Serum	[129,130]
	PBC patients have increased NQO1 protein levels.	• Liver	[131]
	PBC individuals have increased citrate levels.	Blood Serum	[132]
	 PBC patients have increased phenylalanine and tyrosine levels, the latter of which correlates with fatigue. 	Blood Plasma	[111]
ME/CFS	 ME/CFS patients have decreased phenylalanine levels, and tyrosine levels decreased in blood plasma but increased in urine. 	Blood PlasmaUrine	[133,134]
	 Up to 45% of ME/CFS individuals have a Coenzyme Q10 deficiency. 	Blood Plasma	[135]
	• There are decreased mRNA levels of NQO1.	Vastus Lateralis Muscle	[136]
	 Decreased mRNA levels of PDK1, PDK2, PDK4, and PPARD. 	Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells	[137]
	 B-cells have higher expressions of CD24 and CD38, which was associated with increased use of glucose and lactate. 	Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells	[114]
	 Cytotoxic CD8⁺ T-cells have reduced glycolysis at rest and after activation, reduced mitochondrial membrane potential, and decreased mitochondrial ATP production. 	Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells	[138]
	CD56 ⁺ natural killer cells have increased CD38 expression.	Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells	[139]
	 Decreased occipital lobe glutathione levels and increased ventricular lactate. 	Ventricular Cerebrospinal Fluid	[91]

3.1 Abnormal Hypoxic Responses and Oxygen Delivery Problems are Common in SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS

3.11 Peripheral and Central Blood Oxygenation Problems are Common in ME/CFS, PBC, and SSc

A chronic hypoxic state may be the central mechanism that promotes SSc, PBC, and associated ME/CFS. Blood oxygenation problems occur in ME/CFS patients' bodies, especially in their muscles and the brain. A correlation between reduced muscle oxygen delivery and oxidative metabolism peripherally characterizes those with ME/CFS [140]. This reduced oxygen delivery could explain the previous finding of increased lactate levels in the blood of individuals with ME/CFS, even at rest [92]. Problems in delivering oxygen to brain regions may also lead to adverse neurological effects in ME/CFS

patients. Individuals with ME/CFS exhibit reduced cerebral blood flow in the carotid and vertebral arteries, despite accounting for the effects of orthostatic hypotension and tachycardia, indicating impaired cerebral vascular autoregulation [141]. ME/CFS patients' brains also have increased ventricular lactate and decreased occipital lobe glutathione [91], the former of which could result from decreased cerebral perfusion and oxygen supply to ME/CFS patients' brains, while reduced glutathione may be indicative of increased oxidative stress.

Decreased cerebral blood flow may cause other clinical effects in those with ME/CFS. A strong correlation exists between brain grey matter volume and cerebral vascular autoregulation in ME/CFS patients [142]. These grey matter perfusion issues may account for the autonomic dysfunctions reported in ME/CFS and PBC patients [143,144]. Cerebral perfusion issues may impact the brainstem and overall brain functions which could explain the cognitive impairments reported in ME/CFS patients, such as brain fog, impaired memory, and concentration difficulties [141]. Although not yet definitively established, the decreased cerebral blood flow and reduced oxygen utilization in brain tissue may contribute to reduced cognitive functioning in ME/CFS individuals.

Significant reductions in oxygen levels and blood flow issues are present in SSc and PBC patients' brains. More than half of neurologically asymptomatic SSc patients have cerebral hypoperfusion [145]. This cerebral hypoperfusion could lead to chronic brain microvascular disease. Such a hypothesis is supported by increased white matter hyperintense foci in those with SSc, which correlates with the severity of peripheral vascular disease and cognitive symptoms [146,147]. Patients with SSc and white matter hyperintense lesions exhibit increased common carotid artery intima-media thickness, left and right carotid artery atheromas [147]. Furthermore, SSc patients commonly report neurological symptoms, and the brain issues observed in these patients may explain these symptoms [148]. When studying these brain problems it is crucial that the specific type of magnetic resonance imaging scan used to study brain abnormalities must be accounted for, as it has been demonstrated at least in SSc patients that certain magnetic resonance imaging types may not detect all white matter hyperintense lesions [149].

Individuals with PBC also experience cerebral vascular issues before cirrhosis onset [150]. Reduced cerebral vascular autoregulation and increased cerebral vascular resistance in PBC patients could explain the higher levels of cerebral hypoxia and altered cerebrovascular activity reported in their brains [31,151]. PBC patients also have increased cerebral deoxygenated hemoglobin, which compounds these individuals' cerebral oxygenation problems [31]. These findings may explain why PBC patients' worsened fatigue severity and cognitive performance are linked to altered deep gray matter, white matter lesions, and reduced bilateral brain white matter observed in PBC individuals [9,10,152], as oxygen levels can affect the structure and function of gray matter. The impaired central nervous activation and abnormal intra-cortical inhibition seen in PBC patients, independent of exercise and liver transplant status, could also be explained by reduced brain oxygenation [8]. Further research is needed to fully characterize how brain hypoxia contributes to cognitive difficulties in SSc and PBC patients.

3.12 HIF-1α Activation May Be an Effect of Decreased Oxygenation in SSc and PBC

Chronic hypoxia is a known driver of the metabolic adaptations that are described in SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS [153]. Patients with ME/CFS have impaired cellular mitochondrial respiratory activity, as suggested by lower peak oxygen extraction in muscle cells after cardiopulmonary exercise compared to controls [154]. Even when blood oxygen levels are normal, a decrease in oxygen utilization may trigger a cellular hypoxia response to activate the transcription factor HIF-1 α . Hence, exploring the link between hypoxic responses and downstream mitochondrial adaptations may provide added insights that could be valuable in devising better treatments for chronic fatigue in PBC and SSc patients.

SSc-associated vasculopathy can lead to a chronic hypoxic state and downstream activation of HIF-1 α [155], as suggested by increased HIF-1 α /VEGF signaling [156].

Although a chronic hypoxic state is not traditionally thought to be a characteristic of PBC, such hypoxia may ensue from oxygen delivery problems irrespective of blood vessel pathology (e.g., cerebral vascular autoregulation problems [151]). This hypoxic state in SSc and PBC patients may lead to an increased cognitive dysfunction and chronic fatigue (**Figure 3**). Furthermore, this hypoxic state may lead to an altered expression and function of HIF1- α , as HIF1- α regulates muscle endurance, vascularization, and vascular remodeling [157,158]. HIF1- α activation may also promote disease progression in SSc and PBC patients through other mechanisms. This may include fibrosis as suggested by skin fibroblasts with higher levels of profibrotic mediators such as connective tissue growth factor expression via HIF1- α [159]. Similarly, *HIF1A* SNPs may promote the development of pulmonary arterial hypertension, potentially through modifications in HIF- α /VEGF-A signaling in vascular endothelial cells [156,160].

Increased Oxygen Deprivation is Associated with PBC and SSc Patients' Central and Peripheral Fatigue



Figure 3. A possible way in which vasculopathy is linked to central and peripheral fatigue in systemic sclerosis (SSc) and primary biliary cholangitis (PBC) patients. The low oxygen (O₂) levels may lead to the development of central and peripheral fatigue, and the further activation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha (HIF1- α) leading to downstream hypoxia responses. The red down arrows show decreased levels, while the green up arrows indicate increased levels.

3.13 Issues with Red Blood Cells are Present in ME/CFS, SSc, and PBC Patients

Oxidative species causing reductions in red blood cell deformability could be another reason for the oxygen delivery problems in ME/CFS, SSc, and PBC patients. Reduced blood cell deformability decreases oxygen delivery to tissues by physically blocking capillaries thereby causing an increase in microvascular resistance and viscosity [161,162]. ME/CFS patients exhibit a significant reduction in red blood cell deformability, possibly due to oxidative damage to the red blood cells [163]. This hypothesis is supported by reports of elevated levels of reactive oxygen species scavengers, increased methemoglobin levels, and increased numbers of stomatocytes in some ME/CFS patients' blood [164,165]. These findings illustrate a link between changes in red blood cells and chronic fatigue, and such a relationship may also hold in SSc and PBC.

The link between chronic fatigue and oxidative species-induced red blood cell deformability reduction is also supported by studies in SSc and PBC patients. SSc patients' red blood cell membranes have decreased fluidity and increased lipid peroxidation products [166,167], while decreased red blood cell membrane fluidity and altered lipid composition problems have also been reported in individuals with liver diseases, including those with cholestatic viral hepatitis [168]. Furthermore, PBC patients with a higher red blood cell distribution width to platelet ratio, a measure of inflammation, have worse fibrotic histological severity [169].

Interestingly, a higher red blood cell distribution width to platelet ratio has been linked with poorer outcomes in stroke patients [170,171]. These findings suggest that higher red blood cell distribution width to platelet ratio values might be an indicative clinical marker of chronically PBC and SSc patients suffering from oxygen delivery problems to their brains. It is also worth mentioning that increased oxidative stress is a known inducer of inflammatory mediators that are elevated in both SSc and PBC (e.g., type I interferon signals). Hence, chronic hypoxia associated with associated oxidative stress may potentiate inflammation, particularly in genetically susceptible individuals.

4. Shared Immune System Abnormalities in SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS

Numerous studies have investigated the link between immune system abnormalities and fatigue severity. Many of these ideas propose that central fatigue mechanisms are associated with changes in peripheral immune system signaling molecules, especially through pro-inflammatory cytokines that act on brain targets [172]. PBC, SSc, and ME/CFS share autoimmune characteristics and immune system abnormalities, namely in decreased immune system homeostasis mechanisms (e.g., altered NK cell cytotoxicity, macrophage activation, and regulatory T-cell suppressive abilities) and in increased production of inflammatory cytokines that promote fatigue such as interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), interleukin-6 (IL-6), and interleukin-12 (IL-12) (**Figure 4**).

Particularly of interest are lines of evidence that the immune systems of these patients exhibit signs of senescence, inflammaging, and hypoxic responses. The former two could amplify fatigue by promoting an inflammatory reaction that leads to worse fatigue symptoms, while hypoxic responses could lead to an energy shortage in the immune cells. The following sections put forth evidence supporting the idea that increased effects of fatigue-inducing immune system factors may stem from genetics, hypoxic responses, and inflammaging, a form of chronic inflammation associated with aging.



Common Immune System Abnormalities in PBC, SSc, and ME/CFS

Figure 4. A visual representation of the most notable immune system abnormalities commonly found in primary biliary cholangitis, systemic sclerosis, and myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome. These include genetic variants, T-cell abnormalities, NK cells, and cytokine levels. IL, interleukin; NK, natural killer cell; ME/CFS, Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome; PBC, primary biliary cholangitis; SNPs, single nucleotide polymorphisms; SSc, systemic sclerosis.

4.1 HLA Receptor Genetic Variants

Similar human leukocyte antigen (HLA) receptor genetic alleles, namely *HLA-DRB1*03:01* and *HLA-DRB1*07:01*, are shared between SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS patients. These alleles are responsible for encoding the major histocompatibility complex class II chain DRB1. Consequently, the alleles have varying impacts on the function of HLA-DRB1. *HLA-DRB1*03:01* increases the preference for arginine over citrulline in the "anchor sequence" within pockets P6 and P9 [173]. *HLA-DRB1*07:01* encodes for a glutamine residue at amino acid 74 in HLA-DRB1 [174]. Thus, it is highly likely that these alleles alter antigen presentation in SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS patients.

In PBC patients, *HLA-DRB1*03:01* is highly prevalent and is associated with the anti-nuclear anti-sp100 autoantibody [175,176]. Furthermore, this HLA allele haplotype is associated with the IcSSc subtype, an SSc subtype that is more at risk for developing PBC [177]. However, the *HLA-DRB1*03:01* allele haplotype may be less frequently present in chronically fatigued SSc and PBC patients as *HLA-DRB1*03:01* has been reported to be less commonly present in ME/CFS patients [178,179] although further studies are needed to confirm this hypothesis.

As for the other HLA-DRB1 allele, although *HLA-DRB1*07:01* has a protective effect on SSc susceptibility [180], it is more commonly present in PBC and ME/CFS patients [181,182]. Notwithstanding, these HLA genetic alleles could potentially contribute to the development, or even simultaneous occurrence, of PBC, SSc, and ME/CFS through alterations in immune system functions. Similarly, an additional important consideration are non-HLA genetic variants that are contributors to the co-occurrence of SSc, PBC, and/or ME/CFS. A summary of HLA and non-HLA genetic variants is provided in **Table 5**.

4.2 IL-12 Signaling Pathway Genetic Variants are Present in PBC and SSc Patients

Increased IL-12 levels are present in SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS patients, suggesting a possible link between increased IL-12 levels and chronic fatigue [183-185]. The causes of the increased IL-12 levels are unclear, although they may stem from increased production because of immune cell activation; or increased signaling from the IL-12 receptor and its components. For instance, the SNP rs589446 in the *IL12A* gene, which encodes for an IL-12 cytokine subunit, is associated with increased susceptibility in SSc and PBC patients [186,187]. While the biological impact of this SNP on PBC and SSc patients remains uncertain, other SNPs commonly present in the IL-12 signaling pathway could potentially elucidate the dysfunctions associated with both diseases.

PBC and SSc patients' shared SNP rs3790567 in the gene *IL12RB2*, which encodes for an IL-12 receptor subunit, is associated with increased susceptibility in both diseases [188,189]. Further research has indicated that PBC patients carrying this specific SNP have a heightened risk of developing cirrhosis and increased antimitochondrial M2 autoantibody serum concentrations, suggesting that this SNP contributes to the PBC disease process [190]. There is evidence to suggest that this SNP has other effects in both diseases. Interestingly, the SNP rs3790567 is associated with a dose-related decrease in IL-1 β secretion following smallpox vaccination [191]. However, the elevated IL-1 β levels observed in SSc and PBC patients imply that an alternate mechanism could counteract the SNP's effect of reducing IL-1 β levels [192-194]. This explanation merits further investigation.

Shared genetic problems also exist in genes that facilitate downstream IL-12 signals. Notably, the *TYK2* SNP rs34536443 (which encodes a known Janus kinase downstream of IL-1, IL-12, and interferon signals and activates STAT4) is associated with increased susceptibility to SSc and PBC [187,195]. This SNP results in a missense mutation that may decreases TYK2's activation state [196]. One might anticipate that a

decrease in TYK2 activation would reduce STAT4 activation via phosphorylation, leading to an overall impairment of the downstream IL-12 signaling pathway. However, this contradicts reports of increased phosphorylated STAT4 in PBC [41]. As suggested by SSc-related findings, this phenomenon could be due to the increased activity of JAK2, an alternative activator STAT4 which stimulates STAT4 through phosphorylation [197,198]. However, further research is necessary to confirm this hypothesis.

Additional genetic data suggests that SSc and PBC may share a similar mechanism leading to increased STAT4 mRNA expression levels and STAT-related signaling. PBC and SSc patients share the STAT4 SNP rs7574865, an SNP reportedly associated with increased STAT4 mRNA levels [199-203]. Likewise, an increased predisposition to PBC and SSc has also been linked to another STAT4 SNP, specifically rs11889341 [199,200,204]. In PBC patients, other effects of the rs11889341 SNP have been noted. Specifically, this SNP has been associated with ANAs, an autoantibody category typically linked with SSc [199]. Furthermore, the SNP rs11889341 has also been associated with increased STAT1 and STAT4 mRNA levels which may explain the increased expression of STAT1 in SSc patients [204-206]. While it is not yet clear exactly how the rs11889341 affects STAT1 mRNA expression levels, it may be that the close physical proximity of the STAT1 and STAT4 genes may allow the STAT4 SNP to influence STAT1 mRNA expression levels [207,208]. Although these SNPs are associated with increased susceptibility to PBC and SSc, other findings indicate that genetic variations in HLA, IL-12, and downstream signaling mechanisms are not the sole determinants driving these diseases.

4.3 Interferon Signaling Pathway Genetic Variants are Present in PBC and SSc Patients

A hallmark feature of SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS is severe myalgia (or muscle pain), which is clinically linked to the development of fibromyalgia. In patients with fibromyalgia, this diffuse pain may stem from abnormal interferon signatures [209]. In PBC and SSc, patients have increased expression of genes associated with a type I interferon response [210,211]. Increased levels of type I interferons promote the release of IL-12 and immune system activation. One of the most critical downstream transcriptional regulators of interferon-associated genes are the transcription factors nuclear factor kappa B subunit 1 (NFKB1) and interferon regulatory factor 5 (IRF5) [212,213]. While the SNP rs230534 in the *NFKB1* gene has been reportedly linked to an increased risk of developing PBC and SSc, the biological effect of this SNP is currently unknown [187,214,215]. However, more information exists to speculate on the biological effects of the shared SNPs in the *IRF5* gene.

Two SNPs in the IRF5 gene, rs10488631 and rs4728142, have been reported to be associated with increased susceptibility in SSc and PBC (rs10488631 only when associated with *IL12RB2* SNP rs72678531 in PBC patients) [187,216,217]. The effects of these SNPs in both diseases may be through their association with altered *IRF5* mRNA expression. The SNP rs10488631 is associated with increased *IRF5* mRNA expression levels [218]. Conversely, the minor allele of rs4728142 has been linked with reduced *IRF5* mRNA levels in SSc patients, possibly due to the allele's potential to regulate the usage of the *IRF5* gene's alternative promoters [217,219]. The contradictory impacts of these SNPs on *IRF5* mRNA expression complicates predicting the overall effects of these SNPs on PBC and SSc patients' *IRF5* mRNA expression, although the findings suggest that there must be some changes in *IRF5* mRNA expression levels that are present. Even though these *IRF5* and *NFKB1* SNPs have not been identified in patients with ME/CFS, these pathways might still be crucial in promoting ME/CFS as inflammatory signals downstream of their activation are elevated in ME/CFS patients [185].

Table 5. HLA and Non-HLA Genetic Variants for Systemic Sclerosis (SSc), PrimaryBiliary Cholangitis (PBC), and Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome(ME/CFS).

Chromosome				Associated Care	Potential Biological	Association	Study	Re	
Number	Locus	Base Pair Position	SNP	Associated Gene	Functions Affected	with Disease	Methods Used	f.	
HLA Regio	HLA Region Alleles								
6	6p21.32	32,577,902 - 32,589,848	N/A	HLA-DRB1*03:01	Affects antigen presentation by increasing the preference for arginine over citrulline in the "anchor sequence" within pockets P6 and P9.	 High allele prevalence and is associated with the anti-sp100 autoantibod y in PBC patients. Associated with the lcSSc subtype in SSc patients. Lower allele prevalence in ME/CFS patients. 	 PCR sequence- based typing in PBC, SSc, and ME/CFS. Genome- wide association studies in PBC. 	[17 5- 17 9]	
				HLA-DRB1*07:01	Affects antigen presentation by encoding for a glutamine residue at amino acid 74 in HLA- DRB1.	 Protective effect on SSc susceptibilit y. Increased risk of developing PBC. Higher allele prevalence in ME/CFS patients. 	 PCR with sequence- based typing in SSc and PBC. Next generation sequencing in ME/CFS. 	[18 0- 18 2]	
Non-HLA F	egion SNPs	1	•	•	•	I P	•		
1	1p31.2	67356694	rs3790567	IL12RB2	An intronic variant associated with decreased IL-1β secretion.	 Increased susceptibilit y for PBC and SSc. Increased likelihood of developing cirrhosis and anti- mitochondri al M2 antibodies serum concentrati ons for PBC 	 GWAS for PBC PCR for SSc. 	[18 8- 19 0]	

2	2q32.2	191079016	rs11889341	STAT4	An intronic variant associated with increased <i>STAT1</i> and <i>STAT4</i> mRNA levels.	 Increased susceptibilit y for PBC and SSc. Associated with anti- nuclear autoantibod y status in PBC. Susceptibili ty to SSc further increases with the <i>TBX21</i> SNP rs11650354 	 GWAS for PBC. PCR for SSc. 	[19 9,2 00] [20 0,2 02, 20 3]
		191099907	rs7574865		An intronic variant associated with increased <i>STAT4</i> mRNA levels.	 Increased susceptibilit y for PBC and SSc. Increased susceptibilit y for developing SSc and fibrosing alveolitis with the <i>IRF5</i> SNP rs2004640 in SSc. 	PCR for PBC and SSc.	[20 0,2 02, 20 3]
3	3q25.33	160015740	rs589446	IL12A	An intronic variant associated with the long non- coding RNA transcript from the <i>IL12A-AS1</i> gene.	Increased susceptibility for SSc and PBC.	GWAS	[18 6,1 87]
4	4q24	102527884	rs230534	NFKB1	An intron variant located within intron 2 of NFKB1.	Increased susceptibility for SSc and PBC.	 GWAS for PBC and SSc PCR for PBC 	[18 7,2 14, 21 5]
7	7q32.1	128933913	rs4728142	IRF5	A variant associated with altered <i>IRF5</i> mRNA expression through regulating alternative promoter usage of the <i>IRF5</i> gene.	 Increased susceptibilit y for PBC and SSc. Increased susceptibilit y for developing fibrosing alveolitis in SSc. 	 GWAS and immunochi p for SSc. Meta- GWAS for PBC. 	[18 7,2 16, 21 7]
		128954129	rs10488631		An intergenic variant that is associated with increased <i>IRF5</i> mRNA expression levels.	 Increased susceptibilit y in SSc. Increased susceptibilit y in PBC only when associated with the 	 Meta- GWAS for PBC. GWAS for SSc. 	[18 7,2 16]

						IL12RB2 SNP rs72678531 in PBC patients		
19	19p13.2	10352442	rs34536443	ТҮК2	An intronic variant that is associated with missense mutation in TYK2's protein tyrosine domain leads to TYK2 having a decreased activation state.	Increased susceptibility for SSc and PBC.	ImmunoChip	[18 7,1 95]

4.4 Elevated Levels of Inflammaging Cytokines in SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS Patients

IL-1β and IL-6 are the most promising senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) cytokines linked to chronic fatigue in ME/CFS, SSc, and PBC patients. Both IL-1β and IL-6 have increased levels in these patient groups which suggests a relationship between increased cytokine levels and fatigue severity [192-194]. These two cytokines may directly link to chronic fatigue by directly on brain regions to trigger increased fatigue-related behaviours [172,220]. Alternatively, IL-1β and IL-6 may induce fatigue in these patients by affecting mitochondrial activity and metabolism. IL-1β can inhibit mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation and super-complex formation, while IL-6 can modulate mitochondrial activity in skeletal muscles and CD4⁺ T-cells [221,222]. It should be noted that chronic hypoxia, a common condition in these patients, could further exacerbate fatigue symptoms by amplifying these cytokines' fatigue-inducing effects [223-226]. Therefore, the effects of IL-1β and IL-6 on both central brain functions and metabolic activity, especially under hypoxic conditions, are perhaps the link connecting immune cell senescence and fatigue manifestation in PBC and SSc patients.

Increased levels of other SASP cytokines, including CCL2, IL-8, IL-12, and IL-18, have been reported in SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS [183-185,227-235]. This constellation of findings supports the potential link between the emergence of SASP cytokines and these patients' fatigue symptoms. Furthermore, chronic hypoxic conditions, which are

associated with these diseases, can further stimulate SASP cytokine production and intensity inflammaging, exacerbating the chronic fatigue experienced by individuals with SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS [236]. However, more research is needed to clarify these cytokines' exact relationship with both hypoxia and inflammaging, and their link to chronic fatigue development in these patient groups.

4.5 Evidence of Monocyte/Macrophage Abnormalities in SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS

Evidence suggests that monocyte/macrophage abnormalities are present in PBC, SSc, and ME/CFS. While there is no direct evidence of modified macrophage functions in ME/CFS patients, a preliminary study indicates that there is a dysregulation of classical monocytes, specifically in genes that control their differentiation, tissue migration, and hypoxia responses [237]. This finding suggests that monocyte/macrophage abnormalities, perhaps due to genetic causes, are associated with chronic fatigue symptoms. The association may also hold for chronic fatigue in PBC and SSc. SSc and PBC patients have increased levels of soluble CD163, a marker indicative of non-classical M2 macrophage activation with pro-fibrotic properties [238-241]. These increased levels suggest a significant involvement of these non-classical M2 macrophages in the progression of both PBC and SSc.

Further findings report that PBC patients' monocytes display increased sensitivity to toll-like receptor ligand stimulation and pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in peripheral blood monocytes [242]. Such cells may be operating in a hypoxic environment as PBC patients' liver CD68⁺ cells have increased expression and nuclear localization of HIF-1α [243]. In the case of SSc, while no changes in monocyte/macrophage activity have been reported so far, treatments that target macrophages, such as mycophenolate mofetil and tocilizumab, could potentially alleviate symptoms by regulating the abnormal levels of pro-macrophage cytokines (e.g., CCL2) [68,244,245]. Thus, these findings collectively suggest a pivotal role for macrophage abnormalities, possibly through

dysregulation leading to M2 monocyte/macrophage activation, in the onset and progression of chronic fatigue symptoms in these patient groups.

4.6 Shared NK Cell Dysfunctions are Common in SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS

NK cells are important members of the innate immune system that play an essential role in immunoregulation by eliminating IL-12 cytokine family-producing cells such as monocytes and dendritic cells [246]. They also play an essential role in limiting viral infections and cancers [247,248]. Their dysfunction may explain why PBC and SSc patients are more likely to have infections and cancers [26,249-251]. There is supporting evidence of NK cell cytotoxicity impairments, decreased expression of NK cell cytotoxic proteins, and altered NK cell numbers in ME/CFS literature, suggesting a link between chronic fatigue and NK cell cytotoxicity problems [33,34]. These dysfunctions may be due to a chronic hypoxic environment resulting in decreased NK cell cytotoxicity although research must be conducted to confirm the validity of this theory [252,253].

Similarly, SSc individuals' NK cells have decreased cytotoxic ability through decreased NK cell expression of chemokines and NK cell receptor expression (e.g., NKG2D) [39,40]. Evidence of NK cell dysfunctions in SSc patients is further supported by reports of reduced CD69 expression, a marker of immune system activation, on NK cells in the peripheral blood [40,254]. However, when analyzing by SSc clinical subtype, there are increased CD56⁺ NK cell numbers in dcSSc, but not IcSSc, subtype [39]. These findings suggest that differences across clinical disease subtypes must be accounted for when analyzing NK cell numbers and cytotoxicity.

PBC patients' NK cells exhibit increased numbers, an 'activated' phenotype by IL-12, upregulation of genes related to metabolic reprogramming, and increased cytotoxicity [41-43]. Furthermore, PBC patients with reduced transplant-free survival scores have decreased NK cell numbers [255], and perhaps a similar decrease in cytotoxicity may be uncovered in the future. It remains unclear if PBC and SSc patients with chronic fatigue experience a decrease in NK cell cytotoxicity and whether this is due to hypoxia. Nonetheless, the abnormalities in NK cell populations in PBC, SSc, and ME/CFS patients further suggest a potential link to inflammaging.

4.7 T-Cell Related Dysfunctions are Prominent Features of SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS

The pathophysiology of PBC, SSc, and ME/CFS, suggests that chronic fatigue in these patient groups may be related to altered T-cell senescence and aging. Genetic evidence in the *PTPN22* gene, which encodes for a protein tyrosine phosphatase that decreases T-cell receptor signaling, supports this hypothesis. The SNP rs2476601 in the *PTPN22* gene, associated with both increased SSc and infection-onset chronic fatigue risk, has also been linked to a higher likelihood of frailty in older patients [256-258]. This finding suggests a potential link between genetically influenced changes in T-cell functions and the aging process, which may contribute to worsening physical symptoms.

4.71 Th2 Responses are Possible Features Associated with Chronic Fatigue in SSc, PBC, and ME/CFS

Immune dysregulation characterized by an imbalance between Th1 and Th2 responses is a shared hallmark in PBC, SSc, and ME/CFS. More specifically, a skew towards Th2 responses is evident in ME/CFS and SSc patients [259-261]. While many factors can result in a Th2 bias, the effects of hypoxia and IL-6 are particularly worthy of investigation. Interestingly, exercise in a hypoxic environment tends to promote Th2 responses [262]. This effect may partly explain the post-exertional malaise observed in ME/CFS patients, which may result from further amplifying their already elevated Th2 response. Furthermore, the elevated levels of the cytokine IL-6, known for inducing fatigue, in both patient groups may be promoting Th2 responses and the influence of IL-6 in

enhancing these responses should be explored further in chronically fatigued SSc patients.

On the other hand, PBC patients typically exhibit a more robust Th1 response promoted by IL-12 and non-classical CD14^{low} CD16⁺ monocytes [264-266]. Despite this Th1 dominance, there may be a role for Th2 responses in PBC. Th2-associated cytokines, such as IL-5, IL-9, and IL-10, are found at increased levels in PBC patients [185,267-269]. This begs the question of whether PBC patients' chronic fatigue symptoms are linked to an increased Th2 response, as such a response has been observed in ME/CFS patients.

4.72 CD4⁺ CD25⁺ Regulatory T-cells

Common abnormalities in CD4⁺ CD25⁺ regulatory T-cells are also present in SSc and PBC patients. It has been consistently shown that PBC patients have fewer CD4⁺ CD25^{high} regulatory T-cells [270,271]. The observation of similar reduced cell frequencies in the PBC patients' immediate female relatives – mothers and sisters – hints at a shared cause, genetic or environmental, driving these changes [271]. However, these cells exhibit reduced immunosuppressive capabilities only when expressing low levels of CD127 [270].

Similarly, SSc patients' decreased numbers of CD4⁺ CD25^{high} regulatory T-cells expressing CD127 have also been reported [272,273]. These patients' CD4⁺ CD25⁺ regulatory T-cells also have increased CD62L and CD69 expression which negatively correlates with their suppressive function, suggesting that these cells have impaired migration and activation in SSc [274]. Interestingly, as CD4⁺ CD25⁺ T-cells undergo more population divisions, there is an increase in these cells' CD95-mediated apoptosis [275]. This apoptosis could explain both diseases' decreased CD4⁺ CD25⁺ regulatory T-cell numbers. However, so far, no studies have reported the levels of CD95 expression in these T-cells in PBC or SSc. It is crucial to note that the observed frequencies and the

effectiveness of these regulatory T-cells can fluctuate based on the progression stage of SSc [272,273], and this must be accounted for when studying this cell type in PBC and SSc.

Similar anomalies in ME/CFS patients' CD4⁺ CD25⁺ regulatory T-cells imply a strong association between these cellular abnormalities and the chronic fatigue experienced by patients with SSc and PBC. While it is clear that ME/CFS patients' CD4⁺ CD25⁺ regulatory T cells have lower CD127 expression levels [276], decreased or increased numbers of these cells have been reported depending on which ME/CFS classification criteria were used to classify the patients [276,277]. Therefore, careful consideration must be taken when choosing criteria for classifying patients as chronically fatigued. In short, given these findings, it is likely that chronically fatigued PBC and SSc patients' CD4⁺ CD25⁺ regulatory T-cells have an even lower expression of CD127 compared to other individuals.

4.73 CD8⁺ CD28⁻ Regulatory T-cells

CD8⁺ CD28⁻ regulatory T-cells, a class of senescent exhausted regulatory T-cells that play an important role in preventing chronic antigen activation of CD4⁺ T-cells, are dysfunctional in PBC and SSc. In PBC individuals, these cells have diminished suppressive capacity following IL-10 incubation, reduced CD39 expression, and increased CD127 expression [278]. While there are conflicting reports regarding whether the cytotoxic or suppressor functions of CD8⁺ CD28⁻ T-cells are enhanced in individuals with SSc [35], these patients have fewer CD8⁺ CD28⁻ regulatory T-cells [273]. The disparities in findings regarding these cells' capabilities in SSc patients may stem from the use of different study settings - *in vivo* versus *ex vivo*. Notably, SSc patients' CD8⁺ CD28⁻ cells exhibit enhanced suppressive activity only when studied in an *ex vivo* environment [273]. Thus, research examining the role of dysfunctional CD8⁺ CD28⁻ regulatory T-cells in PBC and SSc patients, especially their connection to chronic fatigue
due to their 'exhausted' (CD28⁻) state, should consider how their chosen study setting might influence these cells' suppressive capabilities.

CD8⁺ CD28⁻ regulatory T-cells' ability to skew the balance between Th17 cells and regulatory T-cells towards a Th17 response could play a role in the observed imbalance between Th17 and regulatory T-cells in PBC patients (who also have Sjogren's syndrome) and in SSc patients [279-281]. The bias towards a pro-Th17 response may functionally contribute to the cerebrovascular complications seen in both diseases. This theory is supported by changes in vascular endothelial cell markers that are associated with elevated Th17 cytokine levels following acute cerebral infarctions [282]. The exact biochemical mechanism for how this occurs requires further study, but it could be through HIF1- α 's ability to promote differentiation of T-cells into Th17 cells [283]. Therefore, understanding the intricate role of CD8⁺ CD28⁻ regulatory T-cells in these diseases and their connection to hypoxic responses could provide potential insights into a chronic fatigue mechanism that is associated with these cells' effects on altered cerebrovascular functioning.

4.8 Immune System Metabolic Abnormalities

Evidence suggests that metabolic changes in immune cells are present in ME/CFS, SSc, and PBC patients, perhaps in response to the hypoxic environment in which these cells operate. Pyruvate dehydrogenase kinases inhibit pyruvate dehydrogenase's activity, which ultimately lead pyruvate to be converted into lactate instead of being metabolized in the mitochondrial tricarboxylic acid cycle. ME/CFS patients' peripheral blood mononuclear cells have increased mRNA expressions of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinases 1, in addition to increased mRNA expressions of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinases 2 and 4 [137]. It is noteworthy that pyruvate dehydrogenase kinases 1 and 4 are genetically regulated by HIF1- α , suggesting that this increased expression may be linked to hypoxia in these patients [284,285]. This theory is reinforced by observations in ME/CFS patients, where their CD8⁺ T-cells have diminished

mitochondrial membrane potential and decreased mitochondrial ATP production [138]. These changes align well with metabolic changes typically seen under hypoxic conditions, suggesting that shifts in immune cell metabolism could be a crucial factor associated with chronic fatigue symptoms.

Another common type of metabolic abnormalities in SSc, PBC, and perhaps ME/CFS are problems with the enzyme indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO). SSc and PBC patients' blood serum have similarly increased IDO activity associated with increased kynurenine levels [116,117]. Kynurenine is a metabolic product associated with IDO's metabolization of tryptophan that suppresses effector T-cell functions and promotes regulatory T-cell functions. Although it would typically be anticipated that higher kynurenine levels would coincide with enhanced regulatory T-cells' suppressive abilities, this is not the case in SSc and PBC patients, whose cells have reduced suppressive capabilities.

This paradox could be attributed to specific genetic variants impacting IDO activity. For instance, SSc patients have decreased CD8⁺ CD28⁻ regulatory T-cell suppressive abilities when carrying the SNP rs7820268 T allele in their IDO1 gene despite this allele typically being associated with elevated IDO1 expression [286,287]. This finding hints at the increased IDO activity as a compensatory response to this allele's potential impact in reducing IDO activity. A similar mechanism has been proposed for ME/CFS, in which a possible genetic mutation in the IDO gene could lead to reduced kynurenine production [288]. This latter hypothesis suggests that such a metabolic alteration could contribute to chronic fatigue symptoms and inflammaging in SSc and PBC patients.

While the precise cells responsible for modified IDO activity have not yet been fully characterized, one potential immune cell type to consider are IDO-expressing macrophages. Reports suggest that when macrophages are stimulated by interferon gamma, they can increase their IDO expression [289]. This increased IDO can then exert a suppressive effect on T-cell activity [289]. As such, studies focusing on IDO activity

levels in chronically fatigued PBC and SSc patients must account for the effects of this and other IDO-expressing cell types.

Further evidence suggests that SSc patients' monocyte-derived cells may undergo other metabolic changes. For instance, SSc patients' monocyte-derived macrophages have increased upregulation of genes related to glycolysis, oxidative phosphorylation, and hypoxia [127]. These changes may not only be limited to monocyte-derived macrophages but might also affect other monocyte-derived cells. In support of this hypothesis, SSc patients' monocyte-derived dendritic cells have higher levels of Lcarnitine and L-acetyl carnitine, both of which are vital players in mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation [107]. While the effects of immune system metabolism changes on the SSc and PBC disease processes needs to be further characterized, existing research in ME/CFS strongly suggests a connection between these changes and chronic fatigue in these patient groups.

5. Conclusions and Future Directions

Chronic fatigue, a commonly overlooked symptom, affects many PBC and SSc patients. It is associated with reduced physical function, increased cognitive dysfunction, and a decreased quality of life. Shared disease characteristics among PBC, SSc, and ME/CFS suggest that chronic fatigue has a physical basis rather than a purely psychological one. Interventions for managing or alleviating fatigue have produced conflicting outcomes, highlighting the need to understand the underlying causes of chronic fatigue in PBC and SSc patients. Thus, developing more effective and targeted treatments is crucial in treating these patients' chronic fatigue.

The intricate nature of autoimmune diseases poses a significant challenge in their classification and study. These diseases, which emerge from a complex interplay of genetic, environmental, and lifestyle factors, are characterized by an extensive range of symptoms that can impact virtually any part of the body. This broad spectrum of

manifestations, coupled with the individual variability in symptom presentation, adds a layer of complexity to their classification, as aberrant autoimmunity may not necessarily be the sole cause of the emergence of autoimmune disease.

The task of diagnosing and treating autoimmune diseases is further complicated by the inconsistent presence of certain antibodies and other immune markers. While these markers are often associated with specific autoimmune diseases, they are not always detected in every case, and the same markers may be present in different autoimmune diseases (or even healthy individuals). Even more perplexing is the evolutionary nature of autoimmune diseases; a person's diagnosis can change over time as new symptoms emerge or existing ones intensify.

The study of autoimmune diseases is no less challenging. Given their multifactorial nature, establishing clear cause-and-effect relationships is a formidable task. Further complicating are the rarity and long latency period of some autoimmune diseases, which poses significant obstacles to large-scale epidemiological prospective studies. Finally, the lack of standardized diagnostic criteria for many autoimmune diseases contributes to inconsistent diagnoses, complicating the comparison of findings reported in different studies.

Similarly, ME/CFS classification criteria are recommended to ensure consistency when classify chronically fatigued patients, especially for PBC and SSc patient groups. This approach establishes a common language and framework for chronic fatigue, a symptom often perceived subjectively and fraught with challenges when it comes to defining the severe chronic form of this symptom. The move away from arbitrary fatigue severity definitions, which tend to differ significantly across studies, and the adoption of ME/CFS classification criteria is expected to pave the way for more consistency in research outcomes. Such standardization allows for a more reliable comparison of results across different studies, bolstering the validity and applicability of the collected data.

More than just a tool for research, the adoption of ME/CFS classification criteria as a standard classification for chronic fatigue can lead to more precise diagnoses, enhanced patient management, and the development of more targeted treatment strategies. Ultimately, this is expected foster a richer and more accurate body of knowledge, guiding future research and potentially improving patient outcomes in the context of chronic fatigue associated with autoimmune diseases like PBC and SSc.

Investigations into immune system abnormalities, metabolic dysfunctions, oxygenation problems, and unusual hypoxia responses offer clues into potential causes of chronic fatigue in PBC and SSc. Though these possible causes are often researched separately, they have considerable overlap in their contribution to both diseases, and hypoxia-inducible factors might be the connecting these different causes. Hypoxia-inducible factors are associated with metabolic shifts and downregulation of the mitochondrial electron transport chain [290,291]. Additionally, metabolic reprogramming induced by hypoxia-inducible factors can alter immune cell functions, contributing to chronic inflammation [46-48]. Therefore, future research should explore the role of hypoxia-inducible factors to understand the underlying causes of chronic fatigue in PBC and SSc patients.

Considering the interrelated abnormalities discussed in this thesis, we suggest a potential mechanism that could be linked to the emergence of chronic fatigue symptoms in SSc and PBC patients (as illustrated in **Figure 5**). SSc and PBC patients have genetic predispositions that result in enhanced HLA sensing, increased IL-12 signalling, and interferon signalling. This predisposition, combined with chronic hypoxia and metabolic changes, results in both reduced red blood cell deformability and increased hypoxia-inducible factor signaling through factors such as HIF-1 α which further exacerbates the disease processes. As inflammaging progresses, there is an upsurge in SASP cytokine release, such as the fatigue-inducing cytokines IL-1 β and IL-6. This is further accompanied by poor NK cell function, heightened macrophage activation, possible M2 macrophage polarization, and diminished regulatory T-cell (T-reg) function. These

interconnected factors eventually lead to manifestation of ME/CFS-like symptoms, both in central nervous system and in the periphery, in SSc and PBC patients.

Future treatments for chronic fatigue symptoms in both PBC and SSc patients should consider a combination therapy approach targeting multiple pathways given the similarities between their disease processes and the ME/CFS disease process. Such a therapy should include therapeutics that improves mitochondrial function, incorporates immune system-modulating drugs, and enhances oxygen delivery to tissues. Hopefully, the development of this therapy will improve many people's lives by providing relief from the severe impacts of chronic fatigue.



Proposed Mechanism for Chronic Fatigue Symptom Manifestation in SSc and PBC

Figure 5. An illustration of the proposed mechanism underlying the emergence of chronic fatigue symptoms in SSc and PBC patients. Genetic predispositions in these patients enhance HLA sensing, and augment IL-12 and interferon signalling. These factors, in conjunction with chronic hypoxia and metabolic changes, intensify the signaling of hypoxia-inducible factors, such as HIF-1 α . These chronic hypoxia and metabolic changes result in the increased production of reactive oxygen species which results in a reduced red blood cell deformability. The progression of inflammaging sees an upsurge in SASP cytokine release, notably IL-1 β and IL-6. Concurrently, immune cell

dysfunctions manifest, including reduced NK cell function, heightened macrophage activation (with possible M2 polarization), and decreased T-reg function. Collectively, these interconnected factors contribute to the onset of ME/CFS-like symptoms, affecting both the central nervous system and peripheral tissues in SSc and PBC patients. α -KG, alpha-ketoglutarate ATP, ARNT, aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator; adenosine triphosphate; HIF-1 α , hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha; HIF-1 β , hypoxia-inducible factor-1beta; HLA, human leukocyte antigen; HRE, hypoxia-response element; IFN, interferon; IL-1 β , interleukin 1 β ; IL-6, interleukin 6; IL-12, interleukin 12; NK, natural killer cell; O₂, oxygen; PBC, primary biliary cholangitis; ROS, reactive oxygen species; T-reg, regulatory T-cell; SNP, single nucleotide polymorphisms; SSc, systemic sclerosis.

6. Bibliography

- 1. Faro, M.; Saez-Francas, N.; Castro-Marrero, J.; Aliste, L.; Fernandez de Sevilla, T.; Alegre, J. Gender differences in chronic fatigue syndrome. *Reumatol Clin* **2016**, *12*, 72-77, doi:10.1016/j.reuma.2015.05.007.
- Carruthers, B.M.; Jain, A.K.; De Meirleir, K.L.; Peterson, D.L.; Klimas, N.G.; Lerner, A.M.; Bested, A.C.; Flor-Henry, P.; Joshi, P.; Powles, A.C.P.; et al. Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome Clinical Working Case Definition, Diagnostic and Treatment Protocols pubmed. *Journal of Chronic Fatigue Syndrome* 2003, 11, 7 - 111, doi:10.1300/J092v11n01_02.
- 3. Basta, F.; Afeltra, A.; Margiotta, D.P.E. Fatigue in systemic sclerosis: a systematic review. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* **2018**, *36 Suppl 113*, 150-160.
- 4. Lynch, E.N.; Campani, C.; Innocenti, T.; Dragoni, G.; Biagini, M.R.; Forte, P.; Galli, A. Understanding fatigue in primary biliary cholangitis: From pathophysiology to treatment perspectives. *World J Hepatol* **2022**, *14*, 1111-1119, doi:10.4254/wjh.v14.i6.1111.
- 5. Murphy, S.L.; Kratz, A.L.; Whibley, D.; Poole, J.L.; Khanna, D. Fatigue and Its Association With Social Participation, Functioning, and Quality of Life in Systemic Sclerosis. *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)* **2021**, *73*, 415-422, doi:10.1002/acr.24122.
- 6. Chen, Y.T.; Lescoat, A.; Khanna, D.; Murphy, S.L. Perceived Cognitive Function in People With Systemic Sclerosis: Associations With Symptoms and Daily Life Functioning. *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)* **2022**, doi:10.1002/acr.25000.
- 7. Huet, P.M.; Deslauriers, J.; Tran, A.; Faucher, C.; Charbonneau, J. Impact of fatigue on the quality of life of patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. *Am J Gastroenterol* **2000**, *95*, 760-767, doi:10.1111/j.1572-0241.2000.01857.x.
- 8. McDonald, C.; Newton, J.; Lai, H.M.; Baker, S.N.; Jones, D.E. Central nervous system dysfunction in primary biliary cirrhosis and its relationship to symptoms. *J Hepatol* **2010**, *53*, 1095-1100, doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2010.05.036.
- 9. Newton, J.L.; Hollingsworth, K.G.; Taylor, R.; El-Sharkawy, A.M.; Khan, Z.U.; Pearce, R.; Sutcliffe, K.; Okonkwo, O.; Davidson, A.; Burt, J.; et al. Cognitive impairment in primary biliary cirrhosis: symptom impact and potential etiology. *Hepatology* **2008**, *48*, 541-549, doi:10.1002/hep.22371.
- Mosher, V.A.L.; Swain, M.G.; Pang, J.X.Q.; Kaplan, G.G.; Sharkey, K.A.; MacQueen, G.M.; Goodyear, B.G. Primary Biliary Cholangitis Alters Functional Connections of the Brain's Deep Gray Matter. *Clin Transl Gastroenterol* 2017, *8*, e107, doi:10.1038/ctg.2017.34.
- van Eeden, C.; Osman, M.S.; Cohen Tervaert, J.W. Fatigue in ANCA-associated vasculitis (AAV) and systemic sclerosis (SSc): similarities with Myalgic encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (ME/CFS). A critical review of the literature. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol* 2022, *18*, 1049-1070, doi:10.1080/1744666X.2022.2116002.
- 12. European Association for the Study of the Liver. Electronic address, e.e.e.; European Association for the Study of the, L. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: The diagnosis and management of patients with primary biliary cholangitis. *J Hepatol* **2017**, *67*, 145-172, doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2017.03.022.

- 13. Lindor, K.D.; Bowlus, C.L.; Boyer, J.; Levy, C.; Mayo, M. Primary Biliary Cholangitis: 2018 Practice Guidance from the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. *Hepatology* **2019**, *69*, 394-419, doi:10.1002/hep.30145.
- van den Hoogen, F.; Khanna, D.; Fransen, J.; Johnson, S.R.; Baron, M.; Tyndall, A.; Matucci-Cerinic, M.; Naden, R.P.; Medsger, T.A., Jr.; Carreira, P.E.; et al. 2013 classification criteria for systemic sclerosis: an American college of rheumatology/European league against rheumatism collaborative initiative. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2013, 72, 1747-1755, doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-204424.
- 15. Bergamasco, A.; Hartmann, N.; Wallace, L.; Verpillat, P. Epidemiology of systemic sclerosis and systemic sclerosis-associated interstitial lung disease. *Clin Epidemiol* **2019**, *11*, 257-273, doi:10.2147/CLEP.S191418.
- 16. Hughes, M.; Pauling, J.D.; Armstrong-James, L.; Denton, C.P.; Galdas, P.; Flurey, C. Gender-related differences in systemic sclerosis. *Autoimmun Rev* **2020**, *19*, 102494, doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2020.102494.
- Toledano, E.; Candelas, G.; Rosales, Z.; Martinez Prada, C.; Leon, L.; Abasolo, L.; Loza, E.; Carmona, L.; Tobias, A.; Jover, J.A. A meta-analysis of mortality in rheumatic diseases. *Reumatol Clin* 2012, *8*, 334-341, doi:10.1016/j.reuma.2012.05.006.
- 18. Park, E.H.; Strand, V.; Oh, Y.J.; Song, Y.W.; Lee, E.B. Health-related quality of life in systemic sclerosis compared with other rheumatic diseases: a cross-sectional study. *Arthritis Res Ther* **2019**, *21*, 61, doi:10.1186/s13075-019-1842-x.
- 19. Kiss, F.; Farkas, N.; Nagy, G.; Minier, T.; Kumanovics, G.; Faludi, R.; Czirjak, L.; Varju, C. Minimal Clinically Important Differences (MCID) for the Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy Fatigue Scale in Patients with Systemic Sclerosis. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* **2022**, *20*, doi:10.3390/ijerph20010771.
- 20. Onofrio, F.Q.; Hirschfield, G.M.; Gulamhusein, A.F. A Practical Review of Primary Biliary Cholangitis for the Gastroenterologist. *Gastroenterol Hepatol (N Y)* **2019**, *15*, 145-154.
- 21. Gazda, J.; Drazilova, S.; Janicko, M.; Jarcuska, P. The Epidemiology of Primary Biliary Cholangitis in European Countries: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol* **2021**, *2021*, 9151525, doi:10.1155/2021/9151525.
- 22. Rigamonti, C.; Bogdanos, D.P.; Mytilinaiou, M.G.; Smyk, D.S.; Rigopoulou, E.I.; Burroughs, A.K. Primary biliary cirrhosis associated with systemic sclerosis: diagnostic and clinical challenges. *Int J Rheumatol* **2011**, *2011*, 976427, doi:10.1155/2011/976427.
- 23. Bellando-Randone, S.; Matucci-Cerinic, M. Very early systemic sclerosis. *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol* **2019**, *33*, 101428, doi:10.1016/j.berh.2019.101428.
- 24. Leppert, J.; Aberg, H.; Ringqvist, I.; Sorensson, S. Raynaud's phenomenon in a female population: prevalence and association with other conditions. *Angiology* **1987**, *38*, 871-877, doi:10.1177/000331978703801201.
- 25. Thoreau, B.; Chaigne, B.; Renaud, A.; Mouthon, L. Treatment of systemic sclerosis. *Presse Med* **2021**, *50*, 104088, doi:10.1016/j.lpm.2021.104088.
- Gershwin, M.E.; Selmi, C.; Worman, H.J.; Gold, E.B.; Watnik, M.; Utts, J.; Lindor, K.D.; Kaplan, M.M.; Vierling, J.M.; Group, U.P.E. Risk factors and comorbidities in primary biliary cirrhosis: a controlled interview-based study of 1032 patients. *Hepatology* 2005, 42, 1194-1202, doi:10.1002/hep.20907.

- 27. Bellocchi, C.; Chung, A.; Volkmann, E.R. Predicting the Progression of Very Early Systemic Sclerosis: Current Insights. *Open Access Rheumatol* **2022**, *14*, 171-186, doi:10.2147/OARRR.S285409.
- 28. Fonollosa, V.; Simeon, C.P.; Castells, L.; Garcia, F.; Castro, A.; Solans, R.; Lima, J.; Vargas, V.; Guardia, J.; Vilardell, M. Morphologic capillary changes and manifestations of connective tissue diseases in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. *Lupus* **2001**, *10*, 628-631, doi:10.1191/096120301682430212.
- 29. Monoe, K.; Takahashi, A.; Abe, K.; Kanno, Y.; Watanabe, H.; Ohira, H. Evaluation of nail fold capillaroscopy findings in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. *Hepatol Res* **2014**, *44*, E129-136, doi:10.1111/hepr.12255.
- 30. Koksal, D.; Koksal, A.S.; Gurakar, A. Pulmonary Manifestations among Patients with Primary Biliary Cirrhosis. *J Clin Transl Hepatol* **2016**, *4*, 258-262, doi:10.14218/JCTH.2016.00024.
- 31. Duszynski, C.C.; Avati, V.; Lapointe, A.P.; Scholkmann, F.; Dunn, J.F.; Swain, M.G. Near-Infrared Spectroscopy Reveals Brain Hypoxia and Cerebrovascular Dysregulation in Primary Biliary Cholangitis. *Hepatology* **2020**, *71*, 1408-1420, doi:10.1002/hep.30920.
- 32. Yamagiwa, S.; Kamimura, H.; Takamura, M.; Aoyagi, Y. Autoantibodies in primary biliary cirrhosis: recent progress in research on the pathogenetic and clinical significance. *World J Gastroenterol* **2014**, *20*, 2606-2612, doi:10.3748/wjg.v20.i10.2606.
- 33. Eaton-Fitch, N.; du Preez, S.; Cabanas, H.; Staines, D.; Marshall-Gradisnik, S. A systematic review of natural killer cells profile and cytotoxic function in myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome. *Syst Rev* **2019**, *8*, 279, doi:10.1186/s13643-019-1202-6.
- 34. Brenu, E.W.; Hardcastle, S.L.; Atkinson, G.M.; van Driel, M.L.; Kreijkamp-Kaspers, S.; Ashton, K.J.; Staines, D.R.; Marshall-Gradisnik, S.M. Natural killer cells in patients with severe chronic fatigue syndrome. *Auto Immun Highlights* **2013**, *4*, 69-80, doi:10.1007/s13317-013-0051-x.
- 35. Fuschiotti, P. Current perspectives on the role of CD8+ T cells in systemic sclerosis. *Immunol Lett* **2018**, *195*, 55-60, doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2017.10.002.
- Zhao, S.X.; Li, W.C.; Fu, N.; Zhou, G.D.; Liu, S.H.; Jiang, L.N.; Zhang, Y.G.; Wang, R.Q.; Nan, Y.M.; Zhao, J.M. Emperipolesis mediated by CD8(+) T cells correlates with biliary epithelia cell injury in primary biliary cholangitis. *J Cell Mol Med* 2020, 24, 1268-1275, doi:10.1111/jcmm.14752.
- Bhandari, R.; Ball, M.S.; Martyanov, V.; Popovich, D.; Schaafsma, E.; Han, S.; ElTanbouly, M.; Orzechowski, N.M.; Carns, M.; Arroyo, E.; et al. Profibrotic Activation of Human Macrophages in Systemic Sclerosis. *Arthritis Rheumatol* 2020, *72*, 1160-1169, doi:10.1002/art.41243.
- 38. Wang, C.; Ma, C.; Gong, L.; Guo, Y.; Fu, K.; Zhang, Y.; Zhou, H.; Li, Y. Macrophage Polarization and Its Role in Liver Disease. *Front Immunol* **2021**, *12*, 803037, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2021.803037.
- 39. Horikawa, M.; Hasegawa, M.; Komura, K.; Hayakawa, I.; Yanaba, K.; Matsushita, T.; Takehara, K.; Sato, S. Abnormal natural killer cell function in systemic sclerosis: altered cytokine production and defective killing activity. *J Invest Dermatol* **2005**, *125*, 731-737, doi:10.1111/j.0022-202X.2005.23767.x.
- 40. Benyamine, A.; Magalon, J.; Sabatier, F.; Lyonnet, L.; Robert, S.; Dumoulin, C.; Morange, S.; Mazodier, K.; Kaplanski, G.; Reynaud-Gaubert, M.; et al. Natural Killer

Cells Exhibit a Peculiar Phenotypic Profile in Systemic Sclerosis and Are Potent Inducers of Endothelial Microparticles Release. *Front Immunol* **2018**, *9*, 1665, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.01665.

- 41. Hydes, T.J.; Blunt, M.D.; Naftel, J.; Vallejo, A.F.; Seumois, G.; Wang, A.; Vijayanand, P.; Polak, M.E.; Khakoo, S.I. Constitutive Activation of Natural Killer Cells in Primary Biliary Cholangitis. *Front Immunol* **2019**, *10*, 2633, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2019.02633.
- 42. Chuang, Y.H.; Lian, Z.X.; Tsuneyama, K.; Chiang, B.L.; Ansari, A.A.; Coppel, R.L.; Gershwin, M.E. Increased killing activity and decreased cytokine production in NK cells in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. *J Autoimmun* **2006**, *26*, 232-240, doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2006.04.001.
- 43. Bjorkland, A.; Festin, R.; Mendel-Hartvig, I.; Nyberg, A.; Loof, L.; Totterman, T.H. Blood and liver-infiltrating lymphocytes in primary biliary cirrhosis: increase in activated T and natural killer cells and recruitment of primed memory T cells. *Hepatology* **1991**, *13*, 1106-1111, doi:10.1002/hep.1840130617.
- 44. Zhu, J.L.; Black, S.M.; Chen, H.W.; Jacobe, H.T. Emerging treatments for scleroderma/systemic sclerosis. *Fac Rev* **2021**, *10*, 43, doi:10.12703/r/10-43.
- 45. Giljaca, V.; Poropat, G.; Stimac, D.; Gluud, C. Methotrexate for primary biliary cirrhosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* **2010**, CD004385, doi:10.1002/14651858.CD004385.pub3.
- 46. Chen, Y.; Gaber, T. Hypoxia/HIF Modulates Immune Responses. *Biomedicines* **2021**, *9*, doi:10.3390/biomedicines9030260.
- 47. Krzywinska, E.; Stockmann, C. Hypoxia, Metabolism and Immune Cell Function. *Biomedicines* **2018**, *6*, doi:10.3390/biomedicines6020056.
- 48. Corcoran, S.E.; O'Neill, L.A. HIF1alpha and metabolic reprogramming in inflammation. *J Clin Invest* **2016**, *126*, 3699-3707, doi:10.1172/JCI84431.
- 49. Unger, E.R.; Lin, J.S.; Tian, H.; Natelson, B.H.; Lange, G.; Vu, D.; Blate, M.; Klimas, N.G.; Balbin, E.G.; Bateman, L.; et al. Multi-Site Clinical Assessment of Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (MCAM): Design and Implementation of a Prospective/Retrospective Rolling Cohort Study. *Am J Epidemiol* **2017**, *185*, 617-626, doi:10.1093/aje/kwx029.
- 50. Jason, L.; Brown, M.; Evans, M.; Anderson, V.; Lerch, A.; Brown, A.; Hunnell, J.; Porter, N. Measuring substantial reductions in functioning in patients with chronic fatigue syndrome. *Disabil Rehabil* **2011**, *33*, 589-598, doi:10.3109/09638288.2010.503256.
- 51. Thombs, B.D.; Bassel, M.; McGuire, L.; Smith, M.T.; Hudson, M.; Haythornthwaite, J.A. A systematic comparison of fatigue levels in systemic sclerosis with general population, cancer and rheumatic disease samples. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* **2008**, *47*, 1559-1563, doi:10.1093/rheumatology/ken331.
- 52. Jacoby, A.; Rannard, A.; Buck, D.; Bhala, N.; Newton, J.L.; James, O.F.; Jones, D.E. Development, validation, and evaluation of the PBC-40, a disease specific health related quality of life measure for primary biliary cirrhosis. *Gut* **2005**, *54*, 1622-1629, doi:10.1136/gut.2005.065862.
- 53. Prince, M.I.; James, O.F.; Holland, N.P.; Jones, D.E. Validation of a fatigue impact score in primary biliary cirrhosis: towards a standard for clinical and trial use. *J Hepatol* **2000**, *32*, 368-373, doi:10.1016/s0168-8278(00)80385-2.
- 54. Yakut, H.; Ozalevli, S.; Birlik, A.M. Fatigue and its relationship with disease-related factors in patients with systemic sclerosis: A cross-sectional study. *Turk J Med Sci* 2021, *51*, 530-539, doi:10.3906/sag-2005-314.

- 55. Yakut, H.; Ozalevli, S.; Aktan, R.; Ozgen Alpaydin, A.; Merih Birlik, A.; Can, G. Effects of supervised exercise program and home exercise program in patients with systemic sclerosis: A randomized controlled trial. *Int J Rheum Dis* **2021**, *24*, 1200-1212, doi:10.1111/1756-185X.14177.
- 56. Cetin, S.Y.; Calik, B.B.; Ayan, A. Investigation of the effectiveness of Tai Chi exercise program in patients with scleroderma: A randomized controlled study. *Complement Ther Clin Pract* **2020**, *40*, 101181, doi:10.1016/j.ctcp.2020.101181.
- 57. Wunsch, E.; Kruk, B.; Snarski, E.; Basak, G.; Krawczyk, M.; Milkiewicz, P. Plasmapheresis in the treatment of chronic fatigue in patients with primary biliary cholangitis. *Pol Arch Intern Med* **2021**, *131*, 205-207, doi:10.20452/pamw.15690.
- 58. Cohen, L.B.; Ambinder, E.P.; Wolke, A.M.; Field, S.P.; Schaffner, F. Role of plasmapheresis in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Gut* **1985**, *26*, 291-294, doi:10.1136/gut.26.3.291.
- 59. Hunnicutt, S.E.; Grady, J.; McNearney, T.A. Complementary and alternative medicine use was associated with higher perceived physical and mental functioning in early systemic sclerosis. *Explore (NY)* **2008**, *4*, 259-263, doi:10.1016/j.explore.2008.04.004.
- 60. Karatay, S.; Uzkeser, H. Beneficial Acupuncture Treatment For Systemic Sclerosis which was Non-Responsive To Medications. *Acupunct Electrother Res* **2015**, *40*, 205-214, doi:10.3727/036012915x14473562233021.
- 61. Saoji, A.A.; Das, P.; Devi, N.S. Yoga therapy as an adjunct to conventional management of systemic sclerosis: A case series. *J Ayurveda Integr Med* **2021**, *12*, 705-709, doi:10.1016/j.jaim.2021.06.013.
- 62. Poole, J.L.; Skipper, B.; Mendelson, C. Evaluation of a mail-delivered, print-format, selfmanagement program for persons with systemic sclerosis. *Clin Rheumatol* **2013**, *32*, 1393-1398, doi:10.1007/s10067-013-2282-7.
- 63. Poole, J.L.; Mendelson, C.; Skipper, B.; Khanna, D. Taking charge of systemic sclerosis: a pilot study to assess the effectiveness of an internet self-management program. *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)* **2014**, *66*, 778-782, doi:10.1002/acr.22192.
- 64. Khanna, D.; Serrano, J.; Berrocal, V.J.; Silver, R.M.; Cuencas, P.; Newbill, S.L.; Battyany, J.; Maxwell, C.; Alore, M.; Dyas, L.; et al. Randomized Controlled Trial to Evaluate an Internet-Based Self-Management Program in Systemic Sclerosis. *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)* **2019**, *71*, 435-447, doi:10.1002/acr.23595.
- 65. Alexanderson, H.; Bergegard, J.; Bjornadal, L.; Nordin, A. Intensive aerobic and muscle endurance exercise in patients with systemic sclerosis: a pilot study. *BMC Res Notes* **2014**, 7, 86, doi:10.1186/1756-0500-7-86.
- 66. Iudici, M.; Vettori, S.; Russo, B.; Giacco, V.; Capocotta, D.; Valentini, G. Outcome of a glucocorticoid discontinuation regimen in patients with inactive systemic sclerosis. *Clin Rheumatol* **2016**, *35*, 1985-1991, doi:10.1007/s10067-016-3300-3.
- 67. Antonelli, A.; Fallahi, P.; Di Bari, F.; Giuggioli, D.; Ferrari, S.M.; Ferri, C. Fatigue in patients with systemic sclerosis and hypothyroidism. A review of the literature and report of our experience. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* **2017**, *35 Suppl 106*, 193-197.
- Khanna, D.; Denton, C.P.; Jahreis, A.; van Laar, J.M.; Frech, T.M.; Anderson, M.E.; Baron, M.; Chung, L.; Fierlbeck, G.; Lakshminarayanan, S.; et al. Safety and efficacy of subcutaneous tocilizumab in adults with systemic sclerosis (faSScinate): a phase 2, randomised, controlled trial. *Lancet* 2016, *387*, 2630-2640, doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00232-4.

- 69. Carandang, K.; Poole, J.; Connolly, D. Fatigue and activity management education for individuals with systemic sclerosis: Adaptation and feasibility study of an intervention for a rare disease. *Musculoskeletal Care* **2022**, *20*, 593-604, doi:10.1002/msc.1617.
- 70. Wolfhagen, F.H.; van Buuren, H.R.; Schalm, S.W. Combined treatment with ursodeoxycholic acid and prednisone in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Neth J Med* **1994**, *44*, 84-90.
- 71. Iwasaki, S.; Tsuda, K.; Ueta, H.; Aono, R.; Ono, M.; Saibara, T.; Maeda, T.; Onishi, S. Bezafibrate may have a beneficial effect in pre-cirrhotic primary biliary cirrhosis. *Hepatology Research* **1999**, *16*, 12-18, doi:10.1016/S1386-6346(99)00033-9.
- 72. Corpechot, C.; Chazouilleres, O.; Rousseau, A.; Le Gruyer, A.; Habersetzer, F.; Mathurin, P.; Goria, O.; Potier, P.; Minello, A.; Silvain, C.; et al. A Placebo-Controlled Trial of Bezafibrate in Primary Biliary Cholangitis. *N Engl J Med* **2018**, *378*, 2171-2181, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1714519.
- 73. Watson, J.P.; Jones, D.E.; James, O.F.; Cann, P.A.; Bramble, M.G. Case report: oral antioxidant therapy for the treatment of primary biliary cirrhosis: a pilot study. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* **1999**, *14*, 1034-1040, doi:10.1046/j.1440-1746.1999.01968.x.
- 74. Prince, M.I.; Mitchison, H.C.; Ashley, D.; Burke, D.A.; Edwards, N.; Bramble, M.G.; James, O.F.; Jones, D.E. Oral antioxidant supplementation for fatigue associated with primary biliary cirrhosis: results of a multicentre, randomized, placebo-controlled, cross-over trial. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* **2003**, *17*, 137-143, doi:10.1046/j.1365-2036.2003.01398.x.
- 75. Goldblatt, J.; Taylor, P.J.; Lipman, T.; Prince, M.I.; Baragiotta, A.; Bassendine, M.F.; James, O.F.; Jones, D.E. The true impact of fatigue in primary biliary cirrhosis: a population study. *Gastroenterology* **2002**, *122*, 1235-1241, doi:10.1053/gast.2002.32993.
- 76. Pells, G.; Mells, G.F.; Carbone, M.; Newton, J.L.; Bathgate, A.J.; Burroughs, A.K.; Heneghan, M.A.; Neuberger, J.M.; Day, D.B.; Ducker, S.J.; et al. The impact of liver transplantation on the phenotype of primary biliary cirrhosis patients in the UK-PBC cohort. *J Hepatol* **2013**, *59*, 67-73, doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2013.02.019.
- 77. Carbone, M.; Bufton, S.; Monaco, A.; Griffiths, L.; Jones, D.E.; Neuberger, J.M. The effect of liver transplantation on fatigue in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis: a prospective study. *J Hepatol* **2013**, *59*, 490-494, doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2013.04.017.
- 78. Kalaitzakis, E.; Bjornsson, E. Fatigue and liver transplantation in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. *J Hepatol* **2014**, *60*, 1326-1328, doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2014.01.023.
- 79. ter Borg, P.C.; van Os, E.; van den Broek, W.W.; Hansen, B.E.; van Buuren, H.R. Fluvoxamine for fatigue in primary biliary cirrhosis and primary sclerosing cholangitis: a randomised controlled trial [ISRCTN88246634]. *BMC Gastroenterol* **2004**, *4*, 13, doi:10.1186/1471-230X-4-13.
- Theal, J.J.; Toosi, M.N.; Girlan, L.; Heslegrave, R.J.; Huet, P.M.; Burak, K.W.; Swain, M.; Tomlinson, G.A.; Heathcote, E.J. A randomized, controlled crossover trial of ondansetron in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis and fatigue. *Hepatology* 2005, *41*, 1305-1312, doi:10.1002/hep.20698.
- 81. Kaplan, M.M.; Bonis, P.A. Modafinil for the treatment of fatigue in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Ann Intern Med* **2005**, *143*, 546-547, doi:10.7326/0003-4819-143-7-200510040-00024.
- 82. Silveira, M.G.; Gossard, A.A.; Stahler, A.C.; Jorgensen, R.A.; Petz, J.L.; Ali, A.H.; Lindor, K.D. A Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Clinical Trial of Efficacy and Safety:

Modafinil in the Treatment of Fatigue in Patients With Primary Biliary Cirrhosis. *Am J Ther* **2017**, *24*, e167-e176, doi:10.1097/MJT.00000000000387.

- 83. Ian Gan, S.; de Jongh, M.; Kaplan, M.M. Modafinil in the treatment of debilitating fatigue in primary biliary cirrhosis: a clinical experience. *Dig Dis Sci* **2009**, *54*, 2242-2246, doi:10.1007/s10620-008-0613-3.
- 84. Jones, D.E.; Newton, J.L. An open study of modafinil for the treatment of daytime somnolence and fatigue in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* **2007**, *25*, 471-476, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2036.2006.03223.x.
- 85. Rudic, J.S.; Poropat, G.; Krstic, M.N.; Bjelakovic, G.; Gluud, C. Ursodeoxycholic acid for primary biliary cirrhosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* **2012**, *12*, CD000551, doi:10.1002/14651858.CD000551.pub3.
- 86. Lee, J.Y.; Danford, C.J.; Trivedi, H.D.; Tapper, E.B.; Patwardhan, V.R.; Bonder, A. Treatment of Fatigue in Primary Biliary Cholangitis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Dig Dis Sci* **2019**, *64*, 2338-2350, doi:10.1007/s10620-019-5457-5.
- Jopson, L.; Khanna, A.; Howel, D.; Bryant, A.; Blamire, A.; Newton, J.L.; Jones, D.E. Rituximab Is Ineffective for Treatment of Fatigue in Primary Biliary Cholangitis: A Phase 2 Randomized Controlled Trial. *Hepatology* 2019, *70*, 1646-1657, doi:10.1002/hep.30099.
- 88. Jones, D.; Carbone, M.; Invernizzi, P.; Little, N.; Nevens, F.; Swain, M.G.; Wiesel, P.; Levy, C. Impact of setanaxib on quality of life outcomes in primary biliary cholangitis in a phase 2 randomized controlled trial. *Hepatol Commun* 2023, 7, e0057, doi:10.1097/HC9.00000000000057.
- 89. Hao, J.; Yang, T.; Zhou, Y.; Gao, G.Y.; Xing, F.; Peng, Y.; Tao, Y.Y.; Liu, C.H. Serum Metabolomics Analysis Reveals a Distinct Metabolic Profile of Patients with Primary Biliary Cholangitis. *Sci Rep* **2017**, *7*, 784, doi:10.1038/s41598-017-00944-9.
- 90. Andreucci, E.; Margheri, F.; Peppicelli, S.; Bianchini, F.; Ruzzolini, J.; Laurenzana, A.; Fibbi, G.; Bruni, C.; Bellando-Randone, S.; Guiducci, S.; et al. Glycolysis-derived acidic microenvironment as a driver of endothelial dysfunction in systemic sclerosis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* **2021**, *60*, 4508-4519, doi:10.1093/rheumatology/keab022.
- 91. Shungu, D.C.; Weiduschat, N.; Murrough, J.W.; Mao, X.; Pillemer, S.; Dyke, J.P.; Medow, M.S.; Natelson, B.H.; Stewart, J.M.; Mathew, S.J. Increased ventricular lactate in chronic fatigue syndrome. III. Relationships to cortical glutathione and clinical symptoms implicate oxidative stress in disorder pathophysiology. *NMR Biomed* 2012, 25, 1073-1087, doi:10.1002/nbm.2772.
- 92. Ghali, A.; Lacout, C.; Ghali, M.; Gury, A.; Beucher, A.B.; Lozac'h, P.; Lavigne, C.; Urbanski, G. Elevated blood lactate in resting conditions correlate with post-exertional malaise severity in patients with Myalgic encephalomyelitis/Chronic fatigue syndrome. *Sci Rep* **2019**, *9*, 18817, doi:10.1038/s41598-019-55473-4.
- Jones, D.E.; Hollingsworth, K.G.; Jakovljevic, D.G.; Fattakhova, G.; Pairman, J.;
 Blamire, A.M.; Trenell, M.I.; Newton, J.L. Loss of capacity to recover from acidosis on repeat exercise in chronic fatigue syndrome: a case-control study. *Eur J Clin Invest* 2012, 42, 186-194, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2362.2011.02567.x.
- 94. Hollingsworth, K.G.; Newton, J.L.; Robinson, L.; Taylor, R.; Blamire, A.M.; Jones, D.E. Loss of capacity to recover from acidosis in repeat exercise is strongly associated with fatigue in primary biliary cirrhosis. *J Hepatol* **2010**, *53*, 155-161, doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2010.02.022.

- 95. Bell, L.N.; Wulff, J.; Comerford, M.; Vuppalanchi, R.; Chalasani, N. Serum metabolic signatures of primary biliary cirrhosis and primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Liver Int* **2015**, *35*, 263-274, doi:10.1111/liv.12680.
- 96. Kennedy, G.; Spence, V.A.; McLaren, M.; Hill, A.; Underwood, C.; Belch, J.J. Oxidative stress levels are raised in chronic fatigue syndrome and are associated with clinical symptoms. *Free Radic Biol Med* **2005**, *39*, 584-589, doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2005.04.020.
- 97. Spadoni, T.; Svegliati, S.; Gabrielli, A. Role of Mitochondria- and Nadph Oxidase-Derived Ros in Fibroblasts Isolated from Patients Affected by Systemic Sclerosis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases* **2016**, *75*, 521-521, doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2016eular.3908.
- 98. Luo, J.Y.; Liu, X.; Jiang, M.; Zhao, H.P.; Zhao, J.J. Oxidative stress markers in blood in systemic sclerosis: A meta-analysis. *Mod Rheumatol* **2017**, *27*, 306-314, doi:10.1080/14397595.2016.1206510.
- 99. Grattagliano, I.; Calamita, G.; Cocco, T.; Wang, D.Q.; Portincasa, P. Pathogenic role of oxidative and nitrosative stress in primary biliary cirrhosis. *World J Gastroenterol* **2014**, *20*, 5746-5759, doi:10.3748/wjg.v20.i19.5746.
- Sasaki, M.; Ikeda, H.; Haga, H.; Manabe, T.; Nakanuma, Y. Frequent cellular senescence in small bile ducts in primary biliary cirrhosis: a possible role in bile duct loss. *J Pathol* 2005, 205, 451-459, doi:10.1002/path.1729.
- 101. Bourji, K.; Meyer, A.; Chatelus, E.; Pincemail, J.; Pigatto, E.; Defraigne, J.O.; Singh, F.; Charlier, C.; Geny, B.; Gottenberg, J.E.; et al. High reactive oxygen species in fibrotic and nonfibrotic skin of patients with diffuse cutaneous systemic sclerosis. *Free Radic Biol Med* 2015, *87*, 282-289, doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2015.07.002.
- 102. Brown, J.T.; Kotecha, T.; Steeden, J.A.; Fontana, M.; Denton, C.P.; Coghlan, J.G.; Knight, D.S.; Muthurangu, V. Reduced exercise capacity in patients with systemic sclerosis is associated with lower peak tissue oxygen extraction: a cardiovascular magnetic resonance-augmented cardiopulmonary exercise study. *J Cardiovasc Magn Reson* 2021, 23, 118, doi:10.1186/s12968-021-00817-1.
- 103. Partovi, S.; Schulte, A.C.; Aschwanden, M.; Staub, D.; Benz, D.; Imfeld, S.; Jacobi, B.; Broz, P.; Jager, K.A.; Takes, M.; et al. Impaired skeletal muscle microcirculation in systemic sclerosis. *Arthritis Res Ther* **2012**, *14*, R209, doi:10.1186/ar4047.
- 104. Perera, L.M.B.; Sekiguchi, A.; Uchiyama, A.; Uehara, A.; Fujiwara, C.; Yamazaki, S.; Yokoyama, Y.; Ogino, S.; Torii, R.; Hosoi, M.; et al. The Regulation of Skin Fibrosis in Systemic Sclerosis by Extracellular ATP via P2Y(2) Purinergic Receptor. *J Invest Dermatol* 2019, *139*, 890-899, doi:10.1016/j.jid.2018.10.027.
- 105. van Eeden, C.; Mohazab, N.; Redmond, D.; Mason, A.L.; Cohen Tervaert, J.W.; Osman, M. A Novel Mitochondrial Signature Defines Chronic Fatigue Syndrome in Patients with Early Systemic Sclerosis. SSRN 2022, 1-15, doi:10.2139/ssrn.4060839.
- 106. Hoel, F.; Hoel, A.; Pettersen, I.K.; Rekeland, I.G.; Risa, K.; Alme, K.; Sorland, K.; Fossa, A.; Lien, K.; Herder, I.; et al. A map of metabolic phenotypes in patients with myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome. *JCI Insight* 2021, 6, doi:10.1172/jci.insight.149217.
- 107. Ottria, A.; Hoekstra, A.T.; Zimmermann, M.; van der Kroef, M.; Vazirpanah, N.; Cossu, M.; Chouri, E.; Rossato, M.; Beretta, L.; Tieland, R.G.; et al. Fatty Acid and Carnitine

Metabolism Are Dysregulated in Systemic Sclerosis Patients. *Front Immunol* **2020**, *11*, 822, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2020.00822.

- 108. Germain, A.; Ruppert, D.; Levine, S.M.; Hanson, M.R. Metabolic profiling of a myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome discovery cohort reveals disturbances in fatty acid and lipid metabolism. *Mol Biosyst* 2017, 13, 371-379, doi:10.1039/c6mb00600k.
- 109. Georgiades, E.; Behan, W.M.; Kilduff, L.P.; Hadjicharalambous, M.; Mackie, E.E.; Wilson, J.; Ward, S.A.; Pitsiladis, Y.P. Chronic fatigue syndrome: new evidence for a central fatigue disorder. *Clin Sci (Lond)* **2003**, *105*, 213-218, doi:10.1042/CS20020354.
- 110. Smolenska, Z.; Zabielska-Kaczorowska, M.; Wojteczek, A.; Kutryb-Zajac, B.; Zdrojewski, Z. Metabolic Pattern of Systemic Sclerosis: Association of Changes in Plasma Concentrations of Amino Acid-Related Compounds With Disease Presentation. *Front Mol Biosci* 2020, 7, 585161, doi:10.3389/fmolb.2020.585161.
- 111. ter Borg, P.C.; Fekkes, D.; Vrolijk, J.M.; van Buuren, H.R. The relation between plasma tyrosine concentration and fatigue in primary biliary cirrhosis and primary sclerosing cholangitis. *BMC Gastroenterol* **2005**, *5*, 11, doi:10.1186/1471-230X-5-11.
- 112. Chen, Q.; Lai, L.; Chi, X.; Lu, X.; Wu, H.; Sun, J.; Wu, W.; Cai, L.; Zeng, X.; Wang, C.; et al. CD19(+)CD24(hi)CD38(hi) B Cell Dysfunction in Primary Biliary Cholangitis. *Mediators Inflamm* **2020**, *2020*, 3019378, doi:10.1155/2020/3019378.
- 113. Aravena, O.; Ferrier, A.; Menon, M.; Mauri, C.; Aguillon, J.C.; Soto, L.; Catalan, D. TIM-1 defines a human regulatory B cell population that is altered in frequency and function in systemic sclerosis patients. *Arthritis Res Ther* 2017, 19, 8, doi:10.1186/s13075-016-1213-9.
- 114. Mensah, F.F.K.; Armstrong, C.W.; Reddy, V.; Bansal, A.S.; Berkovitz, S.; Leandro, M.J.; Cambridge, G. CD24 Expression and B Cell Maturation Shows a Novel Link With Energy Metabolism: Potential Implications for Patients With Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome. *Front Immunol* 2018, 9, 2421, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.02421.
- 115. Agarbati, S.; Benfaremo, D.; Viola, N.; Paolini, C.; Svegliati Baroni, S.; Funaro, A.; Moroncini, G.; Malavasi, F.; Gabrielli, A. Increased expression of the ectoenzyme CD38 in peripheral blood plasmablasts and plasma cells of patients with systemic sclerosis. *Front Immunol* **2022**, *13*, 1072462, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2022.1072462.
- 116. Del Papa, N.; Filippini, P.; De Cristofaro, R.; Sambataro, D.; Rovelli, F.; Vitali, C.; Locatelli, F.; Rutella, S. AB0149 Activation of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1 (ido1) in patients with systemic sclerosis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases* 2013, 72, doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-eular.2472.
- 117. Asghar, K.; Brain, J.; Palmer, J.M.; Douglass, S.; Naemi, F.M.A.; O'Boyle, G.; Kirby, J.; Ali, S. Potential role of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Oncol Lett* **2017**, *14*, 5497-5504, doi:10.3892/ol.2017.6834.
- 118. Castell, L.M.; Yamamoto, T.; Phoenix, J.; Newsholme, E.A. The role of tryptophan in fatigue in different conditions of stress. *Adv Exp Med Biol* **1999**, *467*, 697-704, doi:10.1007/978-1-4615-4709-9_90.
- Tobe, K. Electron microscopy of liver lesions in primary biliary cirrhosis. I. Intrahepatic bile duct oncocytes. *Acta Pathol Jpn* 1982, *32*, 57-70, doi:10.1111/j.1440-1827.1982.tb02027.x.

- 120. Lawson, N.; Hsieh, C.H.; March, D.; Wang, X. Elevated Energy Production in Chronic Fatigue Syndrome Patients. *J Nat Sci* **2016**, *2*.
- 121. Murgia, F.; Svegliati, S.; Poddighe, S.; Lussu, M.; Manzin, A.; Spadoni, T.; Fischetti, C.; Gabrielli, A.; Atzori, L. Metabolomic profile of systemic sclerosis patients. *Sci Rep* 2018, 8, 7626, doi:10.1038/s41598-018-25992-7.
- 122. Yamano, E.; Sugimoto, M.; Hirayama, A.; Kume, S.; Yamato, M.; Jin, G.; Tajima, S.; Goda, N.; Iwai, K.; Fukuda, S.; et al. Index markers of chronic fatigue syndrome with dysfunction of TCA and urea cycles. *Sci Rep* **2016**, *6*, 34990, doi:10.1038/srep34990.
- 123. Saiki, T.; Kawai, T.; Morita, K.; Ohta, M.; Saito, T.; Rokutan, K.; Ban, N. Identification of marker genes for differential diagnosis of chronic fatigue syndrome. *Mol Med* **2008**, *14*, 599-607, doi:10.2119/2007-00059.Saiki.
- 124. Henderson, J.; Duffy, L.; Stratton, R.; Ford, D.; O'Reilly, S. Metabolic reprogramming of glycolysis and glutamine metabolism are key events in myofibroblast transition in systemic sclerosis pathogenesis. *J Cell Mol Med* **2020**, *24*, 14026-14038, doi:10.1111/jcmm.16013.
- 125. Zhou, X.; Trinh-Minh, T.; Tran-Manh, C.; Giessl, A.; Bergmann, C.; Gyorfi, A.H.; Schett, G.; Distler, J.H.W. Impaired Mitochondrial Transcription Factor A Expression Promotes Mitochondrial Damage to Drive Fibroblast Activation and Fibrosis in Systemic Sclerosis. *Arthritis Rheumatol* 2022, 74, 871-881, doi:10.1002/art.42033.
- 126. Cantanhede, I.G.; Liu, H.; Liu, H.; Balbuena Rodriguez, V.; Shiwen, X.; Ong, V.H.; Denton, C.P.; Ponticos, M.; Xiong, G.; Lima-Filho, J.L.; et al. Exploring metabolism in scleroderma reveals opportunities for pharmacological intervention for therapy in fibrosis. *Front Immunol* **2022**, *13*, 1004949, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2022.1004949.
- 127. Moreno-Moral, A.; Bagnati, M.; Koturan, S.; Ko, J.H.; Fonseca, C.; Harmston, N.; Game, L.; Martin, J.; Ong, V.; Abraham, D.J.; et al. Changes in macrophage transcriptome associate with systemic sclerosis and mediate GSDMA contribution to disease risk. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2018, 77, 596-601, doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2017-212454.
- 128. Shi, B.; Wang, W.; Korman, B.; Kai, L.; Wang, Q.; Wei, J.; Bale, S.; Marangoni, R.G.; Bhattacharyya, S.; Miller, S.; et al. Targeting CD38-dependent NAD(+) metabolism to mitigate multiple organ fibrosis. *iScience* 2021, 24, 101902, doi:10.1016/j.isci.2020.101902.
- 129. Frostell, A.; Mendel-Hartvig, I.; Nelson, B.D.; Totterman, T.H.; Bjorkland, A.; Ragan, I.C.; Cleeter, M.W.; Patel, S.D. Mitochondrial autoantigens in primary biliary cirrhosis. Association of disease-specific determinants with a subunit of complex I (NADH-ubiquinone reductase) of the inner mitochondrial membrane. *Scand J Immunol* 1988, 28, 645-652, doi:10.1111/j.1365-3083.1988.tb01497.x.
- Mendel-Hartvig, I.; Bjorkland, A.; Nelson, B.D.; Norberg, R.; Ytterstrom, U.; Totterman, T.H. Primary biliary cirrhosis: indication for a single mitochondrial antigenic epitope detected by patient autoantibodies and a novel monoclonal antibody. *Scand J Immunol* 1988, 28, 403-410, doi:10.1111/j.1365-3083.1988.tb01469.x.
- 131. Aleksunes, L.M.; Goedken, M.; Manautou, J.E. Up-regulation of NAD(P)H quinone oxidoreductase 1 during human liver injury. *World J Gastroenterol* **2006**, *12*, 1937-1940, doi:10.3748/wjg.v12.i12.1937.
- 132. Vignoli, A.; Orlandini, B.; Tenori, L.; Biagini, M.R.; Milani, S.; Renzi, D.; Luchinat, C.; Calabro, A.S. Metabolic Signature of Primary Biliary Cholangitis and Its Comparison

with Celiac Disease. *J Proteome Res* **2019**, *18*, 1228-1236, doi:10.1021/acs.jproteome.8b00849.

- 133. Jones, M.G.; Cooper, E.; Amjad, S.; Goodwin, C.S.; Barron, J.L.; Chalmers, R.A. Urinary and plasma organic acids and amino acids in chronic fatigue syndrome. *Clin Chim Acta* **2005**, *361*, 150-158, doi:10.1016/j.cccn.2005.05.023.
- 134. McGregor, N.R.; Dunstan, R.H.; Zerbes, M.; Butt, H.L.; Roberts, T.K.; Klineberg, I.J. Preliminary determination of a molecular basis of chronic fatigue syndrome. *Biochem Mol Med* **1996**, *57*, 73-80, doi:10.1006/bmme.1996.0012.
- 135. Maes, M.; Mihaylova, I.; Kubera, M.; Uytterhoeven, M.; Vrydags, N.; Bosmans, E. Coenzyme Q10 deficiency in myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome (ME/CFS) is related to fatigue, autonomic and neurocognitive symptoms and is another risk factor explaining the early mortality in ME/CFS due to cardiovascular disorder. *Neuro Endocrinol Lett* 2009, *30*, 470-476.
- Pietrangelo, T.; Mancinelli, R.; Toniolo, L.; Montanari, G.; Vecchiet, J.; Fano, G.; Fulle, S. Transcription profile analysis of vastus lateralis muscle from patients with chronic fatigue syndrome. *Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol* 2009, *22*, 795-807, doi:10.1177/039463200902200326.
- 137. Fluge, O.; Mella, O.; Bruland, O.; Risa, K.; Dyrstad, S.E.; Alme, K.; Rekeland, I.G.; Sapkota, D.; Rosland, G.V.; Fossa, A.; et al. Metabolic profiling indicates impaired pyruvate dehydrogenase function in myalgic encephalopathy/chronic fatigue syndrome. *JCI Insight* 2016, 1, e89376, doi:10.1172/jci.insight.89376.
- 138. Mandarano, A.H.; Maya, J.; Giloteaux, L.; Peterson, D.L.; Maynard, M.; Gottschalk, C.G.; Hanson, M.R. Myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome patients exhibit altered T cell metabolism and cytokine associations. *J Clin Invest* 2020, *130*, 1491-1505, doi:10.1172/JCI132185.
- 139. Tirelli, U.; Marotta, G.; Improta, S.; Pinto, A. Immunological abnormalities in patients with chronic fatigue syndrome. *Scand J Immunol* **1994**, *40*, 601-608, doi:10.1111/j.1365-3083.1994.tb03511.x.
- 140. McCully, K.K.; Natelson, B.H. Impaired oxygen delivery to muscle in chronic fatigue syndrome. *Clin Sci (Lond)* **1999**, *97*, 603-608; discussion 611-603.
- 141. van Campen, C.; Verheugt, F.W.A.; Rowe, P.C.; Visser, F.C. Cerebral blood flow is reduced in ME/CFS during head-up tilt testing even in the absence of hypotension or tachycardia: A quantitative, controlled study using Doppler echography. *Clin Neurophysiol Pract* **2020**, *5*, 50-58, doi:10.1016/j.cnp.2020.01.003.
- 142. Barnden, L.R.; Crouch, B.; Kwiatek, R.; Burnet, R.; Mernone, A.; Chryssidis, S.; Scroop, G.; Del Fante, P. A brain MRI study of chronic fatigue syndrome: evidence of brainstem dysfunction and altered homeostasis. *NMR Biomed* 2011, *24*, 1302-1312, doi:10.1002/nbm.1692.
- 143. Kemp, J.; Sunnquist, M.; Jason, L.A.; Newton, J.L. Autonomic dysfunction in myalgic encephalomyelitis and chronic fatigue syndrome: comparing self-report and objective measures. *Clin Auton Res* **2019**, *29*, 475-477, doi:10.1007/s10286-019-00615-x.
- 144. Newton, J.L.; Okonkwo, O.; Sutcliffe, K.; Seth, A.; Shin, J.; Jones, D.E. Symptoms of autonomic dysfunction in chronic fatigue syndrome. *QJM* **2007**, *100*, 519-526, doi:10.1093/qjmed/hcm057.
- 145. Cutolo, M.; Nobili, F.; Sulli, A.; Pizzorni, C.; Briata, M.; Faelli, F.; Vitali, P.; Mariani, G.; Copello, F.; Seriolo, B.; et al. Evidence of cerebral hypoperfusion in scleroderma

patients. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* **2000**, *39*, 1366-1373, doi:10.1093/rheumatology/39.12.1366.

- 146. Mohamed, R.H.; Nassef, A.A. Brain magnetic resonance imaging findings in patients with systemic sclerosis. *Int J Rheum Dis* **2010**, *13*, 61-67, doi:10.1111/j.1756-185X.2009.01453.x.
- 147. Gamal, R.M.; Abozaid, H.S.M.; Zidan, M.; Abdelmegid, M.A.F.; Abdel-Razek, M.R.; Alsayed, S.A.; Mourad, A.F.; Azoz, N.M.A.; Mohram, L.A.; Furst, D.E. Study of MRI brain findings and carotid US features in systemic sclerosis patients, relationship with disease parameters. *Arthritis Res Ther* **2019**, *21*, 95, doi:10.1186/s13075-019-1877-z.
- 148. Amaral, T.N.; Peres, F.A.; Lapa, A.T.; Marques-Neto, J.F.; Appenzeller, S. Neurologic involvement in scleroderma: a systematic review. *Semin Arthritis Rheum* **2013**, *43*, 335-347, doi:10.1016/j.semarthrit.2013.05.002.
- 149. Gamal, R.M.; Ghandour, A.M.; Zidan, M.; Galal, M.A.A. Evaluation of brain changes in systemic sclerosis (SSc) patients using two different techniques of MRI: Is it really worthy? *Reumatol Clin (Engl Ed)* **2021**, *17*, 132-136, doi:10.1016/j.reuma.2019.07.001.
- 150. Grover, V.P.; Southern, L.; Dyson, J.K.; Kim, J.U.; Crossey, M.M.; Wylezinska-Arridge, M.; Patel, N.; Fitzpatrick, J.A.; Bak-Bol, A.; Waldman, A.D.; et al. Early primary biliary cholangitis is characterised by brain abnormalities on cerebral magnetic resonance imaging. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* **2016**, *44*, 936-945, doi:10.1111/apt.13797.
- 151. Hollingsworth, K.G.; Jones, D.E.; Taylor, R.; Frith, J.; Blamire, A.M.; Newton, J.L. Impaired cerebral autoregulation in primary biliary cirrhosis: implications for the pathogenesis of cognitive decline. *Liver Int* **2010**, *30*, 878-885, doi:10.1111/j.1478-3231.2010.02259.x.
- Zeineh, M.M.; Kang, J.; Atlas, S.W.; Raman, M.M.; Reiss, A.L.; Norris, J.L.; Valencia, I.; Montoya, J.G. Right arcuate fasciculus abnormality in chronic fatigue syndrome. *Radiology* 2015, *274*, 517-526, doi:10.1148/radiol.14141079.
- 153. Morris, G.; Maes, M. Mitochondrial dysfunctions in myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome explained by activated immuno-inflammatory, oxidative and nitrosative stress pathways. *Metab Brain Dis* **2014**, *29*, 19-36, doi:10.1007/s11011-013-9435-x.
- 154. Vermeulen, R.C.; Vermeulen van Eck, I.W. Decreased oxygen extraction during cardiopulmonary exercise test in patients with chronic fatigue syndrome. *J Transl Med* **2014**, *12*, 20, doi:10.1186/1479-5876-12-20.
- 155. Beyer, C.; Schett, G.; Gay, S.; Distler, O.; Distler, J.H. Hypoxia. Hypoxia in the pathogenesis of systemic sclerosis. *Arthritis Res Ther* **2009**, *11*, 220, doi:10.1186/ar2598.
- 156. Mao, J.; Liu, J.; Zhou, M.; Wang, G.; Xiong, X.; Deng, Y. Hypoxia-induced interstitial transformation of microvascular endothelial cells by mediating HIF-1alpha/VEGF signaling in systemic sclerosis. *PLoS One* **2022**, *17*, e0263369, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0263369.
- 157. Mason, S.D.; Howlett, R.A.; Kim, M.J.; Olfert, I.M.; Hogan, M.C.; McNulty, W.; Hickey, R.P.; Wagner, P.D.; Kahn, C.R.; Giordano, F.J.; et al. Loss of skeletal muscle HIF-1alpha results in altered exercise endurance. *PLoS Biol* **2004**, *2*, e288, doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0020288.
- 158. Rey, S.; Semenza, G.L. Hypoxia-inducible factor-1-dependent mechanisms of vascularization and vascular remodelling. *Cardiovasc Res* **2010**, *86*, 236-242, doi:10.1093/cvr/cvq045.

- 159. Hong, K.H.; Yoo, S.A.; Kang, S.S.; Choi, J.J.; Kim, W.U.; Cho, C.S. Hypoxia induces expression of connective tissue growth factor in scleroderma skin fibroblasts. *Clin Exp Immunol* **2006**, *146*, 362-370, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2006.03199.x.
- 160. Takagi, K.; Kawamoto, M.; Higuchi, T.; Tochimoto, A.; Harigai, M.; Kawaguchi, Y. Single nucleotide polymorphisms of the HIF1A gene are associated with susceptibility to pulmonary arterial hypertension in systemic sclerosis and contribute to SSc-PAH disease severity. *Int J Rheum Dis* **2020**, *23*, 674-680, doi:10.1111/1756-185X.13822.
- 161. Barshtein, G.; Pajic-Lijakovic, I.; Gural, A. Deformability of Stored Red Blood Cells. *Front Physiol* **2021**, *12*, 722896, doi:10.3389/fphys.2021.722896.
- 162. Kim, J.; Lee, H.; Shin, S. Advances in the measurement of red blood cell deformability: A brief review. *Journal of Cellular Biotechnology* 2015, *11*, 63-79, doi:10.3233/JCB-15007.
- 163. Saha, A.K.; Schmidt, B.R.; Wilhelmy, J.; Nguyen, V.; Abugherir, A.; Do, J.K.; Nemat-Gorgani, M.; Davis, R.W.; Ramasubramanian, A.K. Red blood cell deformability is diminished in patients with Chronic Fatigue Syndrome. *Clinical Hemorheology and Microcirculation* 2019, *71*, 113-116, doi:10.3233/CH-180469.
- 164. Richards, R.S.; Wang, L.; Jelinek, H. Erythrocyte oxidative damage in chronic fatigue syndrome. *Arch Med Res* **2007**, *38*, 94-98, doi:10.1016/j.arcmed.2006.06.008.
- 165. Richards, R.S.; Roberts, T.K.; Mathers, D.; Dunstan, R.H.; McGregor, N.R.; Butt, H.L. Erythrocyte Morphology in Rheumatoid Arthritis and Chronic Fatigue Syndrome. *Journal of Chronic Fatigue Syndrome* **2000**, *6*, 23-35, doi:10.1300/J092v06n01 03.
- 166. Solans, R.; Motta, C.; Sola, R.; La Ville, A.E.; Lima, J.; Simeon, P.; Montella, N.; Armadans-Gil, L.; Fonollosa, V.; Vilardell, M. Abnormalities of erythrocyte membrane fluidity, lipid composition, and lipid peroxidation in systemic sclerosis: evidence of free radical-mediated injury. *Arthritis Rheum* 2000, 43, 894-900, doi:10.1002/1529-0131(200004)43:4<894::AID-ANR22>3.0.CO;2-4.
- 167. Giovannetti, A.; Gambardella, L.; Pietraforte, D.; Rosato, E.; Giammarioli, A.M.; Salsano, F.; Malorni, W.; Straface, E. Red blood cell alterations in systemic sclerosis: a pilot study. *Cell Physiol Biochem* **2012**, *30*, 418-427, doi:10.1159/000339035.
- 168. Owen, J.S.; Bruckdorfer, K.R.; Day, R.C.; McIntyre, N. Decreased erythrocyte membrane fluidity and altered lipid composition in human liver disease. *J Lipid Res* **1982**, *23*, 124-132.
- 169. Wang, H.; Xu, H.; Wang, X.; Wu, R.; Gao, X.; Jin, Q.; Niu, J. Red Blood Cell Distribution Width to Platelet Ratio is Related to Histologic Severity of Primary Biliary Cirrhosis. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 2016, 95, e3114, doi:10.1097/MD.00000000003114.
- 170. Lehmann, F.; Schenk, L.M.; Bernstock, J.D.; Bode, C.; Borger, V.; Gessler, F.A.; Guresir, E.; Hamed, M.; Potthoff, A.L.; Putensen, C.; et al. Elevated Red Cell Distribution Width to Platelet Ratio Is Associated With Poor Prognosis in Patients With Spontaneous, Deep-Seated Intracerebral Hemorrhage. *Front Neurol* 2021, *12*, 751510, doi:10.3389/fneur.2021.751510.
- 171. Xu, N.; Peng, C. Association between red cell distribution width-to-platelet ratio and short-term and long-term mortality risk in patients with acute ischemic stroke. *BMC Neurol* **2023**, *23*, 191, doi:10.1186/s12883-023-03219-1.
- 172. Karshikoff, B.; Sundelin, T.; Lasselin, J. Role of Inflammation in Human Fatigue: Relevance of Multidimensional Assessments and Potential Neuronal Mechanisms. *Front Immunol* **2017**, *8*, 21, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.00021.

- 173. Wysocki, T.; Olesinska, M.; Paradowska-Gorycka, A. Current Understanding of an Emerging Role of HLA-DRB1 Gene in Rheumatoid Arthritis-From Research to Clinical Practice. *Cells* **2020**, *9*, doi:10.3390/cells9051127.
- 174. Jee, S.H.; Tsai, T.F.; Tsai, W.L.; Liaw, S.H.; Chang, C.H.; Hu, C.Y. HLA-DRB1*0701 and DRB1*1401 are associated with genetic susceptibility to psoriasis vulgaris in a Taiwanese population. *Br J Dermatol* **1998**, *139*, 978-983, doi:10.1046/j.1365-2133.1998.02552.x.
- 175. Clemente, M.G.; Frau, F.; Bernasconi, M.; Macis, M.D.; Cicotto, L.; Pilleri, G.; De Virgiliis, S.; Castiglia, P.; Farci, P. Distinctive HLA-II association with primary biliary cholangitis on the Island of Sardinia. *United European Gastroenterol J* **2017**, *5*, 527-531, doi:10.1177/2050640616665030.
- 176. Wang, C.; Zheng, X.; Jiang, P.; Tang, R.; Gong, Y.; Dai, Y.; Wang, L.; Xu, P.; Sun, W.; Wang, L.; et al. Genome-wide Association Studies of Specific Antinuclear Autoantibody Subphenotypes in Primary Biliary Cholangitis. *Hepatology* 2019, *70*, 294-307, doi:10.1002/hep.30604.
- 177. Tikly, M.; Rands, A.; McHugh, N.; Wordsworth, P.; Welsh, K. Human leukocyte antigen class II associations with systemic sclerosis in South Africans. *Tissue Antigens* **2004**, *63*, 487-490, doi:10.1111/j.0001-2815.2004.00199.x.
- 178. Underhill, J.A.; Mahalingam, M.; Peakman, M.; Wessely, S. Lack of association between HLA genotype and chronic fatigue syndrome. *Eur J Immunogenet* **2001**, *28*, 425-428, doi:10.1046/j.1365-2370.2001.00235.x.
- Smith, J.; Fritz, E.L.; Kerr, J.R.; Cleare, A.J.; Wessely, S.; Mattey, D.L. Association of chronic fatigue syndrome with human leucocyte antigen class II alleles. *J Clin Pathol* 2005, 58, 860-863, doi:10.1136/jcp.2004.022681.
- 180. Agarwal, S.K. The genetics of systemic sclerosis. Discov Med 2010, 10, 134-143.
- 181. Li, Y.; Liu, X.; Wang, Y.; Zhou, Y.; Hu, S.; Yang, H.; Zhong, W.; Zhao, J.; Wang, X.; Chu, H.; et al. Novel HLA-DRB1 alleles contribute risk for disease susceptibility in primary biliary cholangitis. *Dig Liver Dis* 2022, *54*, 228-236, doi:10.1016/j.dld.2021.04.010.
- 182. Lande, A.; Fluge, O.; Strand, E.B.; Flam, S.T.; Sosa, D.D.; Mella, O.; Egeland, T.; Saugstad, O.D.; Lie, B.A.; Viken, M.K. Human Leukocyte Antigen alleles associated with Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (ME/CFS). *Sci Rep* 2020, 10, 5267, doi:10.1038/s41598-020-62157-x.
- 183. Sato, S.; Hanakawa, H.; Hasegawa, M.; Nagaoka, T.; Hamaguchi, Y.; Nishijima, C.; Komatsu, K.; Hirata, A.; Takehara, K. Levels of interleukin 12, a cytokine of type 1 helper T cells, are elevated in sera from patients with systemic sclerosis. *J Rheumatol* 2000, 27, 2838-2842.
- 184. Yang, C.Y.; Ma, X.; Tsuneyama, K.; Huang, S.; Takahashi, T.; Chalasani, N.P.; Bowlus, C.L.; Yang, G.X.; Leung, P.S.; Ansari, A.A.; et al. IL-12/Th1 and IL-23/Th17 biliary microenvironment in primary biliary cirrhosis: implications for therapy. *Hepatology* 2014, 59, 1944-1953, doi:10.1002/hep.26979.
- 185. Yang, T.; Yang, Y.; Wang, D.; Li, C.; Qu, Y.; Guo, J.; Shi, T.; Bo, W.; Sun, Z.; Asakawa, T. The clinical value of cytokines in chronic fatigue syndrome. *J Transl Med* 2019, 17, 213, doi:10.1186/s12967-019-1948-6.
- 186. Hitomi, Y.; Nakamura, M. The Genetics of Primary Biliary Cholangitis: A GWAS and Post-GWAS Update. *Genes (Basel)* **2023**, *14*, doi:10.3390/genes14020405.

- 187. Ota, Y.; Kuwana, M. Updates on genetics in systemic sclerosis. *Inflamm Regen* **2021**, *41*, 17, doi:10.1186/s41232-021-00167-6.
- 188. Bossini-Castillo, L.; Martin, J.E.; Broen, J.; Gorlova, O.; Simeon, C.P.; Beretta, L.; Vonk, M.C.; Callejas, J.L.; Castellvi, I.; Carreira, P.; et al. A GWAS follow-up study reveals the association of the IL12RB2 gene with systemic sclerosis in Caucasian populations. *Hum Mol Genet* 2012, *21*, 926-933, doi:10.1093/hmg/ddr522.
- 189. Hirschfield, G.M.; Liu, X.; Xu, C.; Lu, Y.; Xie, G.; Lu, Y.; Gu, X.; Walker, E.J.; Jing, K.; Juran, B.D.; et al. Primary biliary cirrhosis associated with HLA, IL12A, and IL12RB2 variants. *N Engl J Med* **2009**, *360*, 2544-2555, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0810440.
- 190. Wasik, U.; Wunsch, E.; Norman, G.L.; Rigopoulou, E.I.; Bogdanos, D.P.; Milkiewicz, P.; Milkiewicz, M. Polymorphisms of IL12RB2 May Affect the Natural History of Primary Biliary Cholangitis: A Single Centre Study. *J Immunol Res* 2017, 2017, 2185083, doi:10.1155/2017/2185083.
- 191. Ovsyannikova, I.G.; Haralambieva, I.H.; Kennedy, R.B.; Pankratz, V.S.; Vierkant, R.A.; Jacobson, R.M.; Poland, G.A. Impact of cytokine and cytokine receptor gene polymorphisms on cellular immunity after smallpox vaccination. *Gene* **2012**, *510*, 59-65, doi:10.1016/j.gene.2012.08.021.
- 192. Barak, V.; Selmi, C.; Schlesinger, M.; Blank, M.; Agmon-Levin, N.; Kalickman, I.; Gershwin, M.E.; Shoenfeld, Y. Serum inflammatory cytokines, complement components, and soluble interleukin 2 receptor in primary biliary cirrhosis. *J Autoimmun* **2009**, *33*, 178-182, doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2009.09.010.
- 193. Raja, J.; Denton, C.P. Cytokines in the immunopathology of systemic sclerosis. *Semin Immunopathol* **2015**, *37*, 543-557, doi:10.1007/s00281-015-0511-7.
- 194. Xu, D.; Mu, R.; Wei, X. The Roles of IL-1 Family Cytokines in the Pathogenesis of Systemic Sclerosis. *Front Immunol* **2019**, *10*, 2025, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2019.02025.
- 195. Gulamhusein, A.F.; Juran, B.D.; Lazaridis, K.N. Genome-Wide Association Studies in Primary Biliary Cirrhosis. *Semin Liver Dis* **2015**, *35*, 392-401, doi:10.1055/s-0035-1567831.
- 196. Couturier, N.; Bucciarelli, F.; Nurtdinov, R.N.; Debouverie, M.; Lebrun-Frenay, C.; Defer, G.; Moreau, T.; Confavreux, C.; Vukusic, S.; Cournu-Rebeix, I.; et al. Tyrosine kinase 2 variant influences T lymphocyte polarization and multiple sclerosis susceptibility. *Brain* **2011**, *134*, 693-703, doi:10.1093/brain/awr010.
- 197. Dees, C.; Tomcik, M.; Palumbo-Zerr, K.; Distler, A.; Beyer, C.; Lang, V.; Horn, A.; Zerr, P.; Zwerina, J.; Gelse, K.; et al. JAK-2 as a novel mediator of the profibrotic effects of transforming growth factor beta in systemic sclerosis. *Arthritis Rheum* 2012, *64*, 3006-3015, doi:10.1002/art.34500.
- 198. Wang, W.; Bhattacharyya, S.; Marangoni, R.G.; Carns, M.; Dennis-Aren, K.; Yeldandi, A.; Wei, J.; Varga, J. The JAK/STAT pathway is activated in systemic sclerosis and is effectively targeted by tofacitinib. *J Scleroderma Relat Disord* 2020, *5*, 40-50, doi:10.1177/2397198319865367.
- 199. Joshita, S.; Umemura, T.; Nakamura, M.; Katsuyama, Y.; Shibata, S.; Kimura, T.; Morita, S.; Komatsu, M.; Matsumoto, A.; Yoshizawa, K.; et al. STAT4 gene polymorphisms are associated with susceptibility and ANA status in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Dis Markers* **2014**, *2014*, 727393, doi:10.1155/2014/727393.
- 200. Gourh, P.; Agarwal, S.K.; Divecha, D.; Assassi, S.; Paz, G.; Arora-Singh, R.K.; Reveille, J.D.; Shete, S.; Mayes, M.D.; Arnett, F.C.; et al. Polymorphisms in TBX21 and STAT4

increase the risk of systemic sclerosis: evidence of possible gene-gene interaction and alterations in Th1/Th2 cytokines. *Arthritis Rheum* **2009**, *60*, 3794-3806, doi:10.1002/art.24958.

- 201. Lamana, A.; Lopez-Santalla, M.; Castillo-Gonzalez, R.; Ortiz, A.M.; Martin, J.; Garcia-Vicuna, R.; Gonzalez-Alvaro, I. The Minor Allele of rs7574865 in the STAT4 Gene Is Associated with Increased mRNA and Protein Expression. *PLoS One* 2015, *10*, e0142683, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0142683.
- 202. Zheng, L.; Zhou, H. [Single nucleotide polymorphism of STAT4 rs7574865 is associated with the susceptibility of primary biliary cirrhosis in Han population of partial regions of Jiangsu province]. *Xi Bao Yu Fen Zi Mian Yi Xue Za Zhi* **2017**, *33*, 521-525.
- 203. Dieude, P.; Guedj, M.; Wipff, J.; Ruiz, B.; Hachulla, E.; Diot, E.; Granel, B.; Sibilia, J.; Tiev, K.; Mouthon, L.; et al. STAT4 is a genetic risk factor for systemic sclerosis having additive effects with IRF5 on disease susceptibility and related pulmonary fibrosis. *Arthritis Rheum* 2009, 60, 2472-2479, doi:10.1002/art.24688.
- 204. Raj, P.; Rai, E.; Song, R.; Khan, S.; Wakeland, B.E.; Viswanathan, K.; Arana, C.; Liang, C.; Zhang, B.; Dozmorov, I.; et al. Regulatory polymorphisms modulate the expression of HLA class II molecules and promote autoimmunity. *Elife* 2016, 5, doi:10.7554/eLife.12089.
- 205. Hagberg, N.; Lundtoft, C.; Ronnblom, L. Immunogenetics in systemic lupus erythematosus: Transitioning from genetic associations to cellular effects. *Scand J Immunol* **2020**, *92*, e12894, doi:10.1111/sji.12894.
- 206. Skwarek, M.; Fantana, J.; Heschel, B.; Aringer, M.; Kittel, C. Increased Stat1 and Stat 1 Phosphorylation in Patients with Systemic Sclerosis (SSc) [abstract]. In Proceedings of the 2015 ACR/ARHP Annual Meeting, 2015.
- 207. Hedl, M.; Sun, R.; Abraham, C. Disease Risk-Associated Genetic Variants in STAT1 and STAT4 Function in a Complementary Manner to Increase Pattern-Recognition Receptor-Induced Outcomes in Human Macrophages. *J Immunol* 2020, 205, 1406-1418, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1901112.
- 208. Patel, Z.H.; Lu, X.; Miller, D.; Forney, C.R.; Lee, J.; Lynch, A.; Schroeder, C.; Parks, L.; Magnusen, A.F.; Chen, X.; et al. A plausibly causal functional lupus-associated risk variant in the STAT1-STAT4 locus. *Hum Mol Genet* 2018, *27*, 2392-2404, doi:10.1093/hmg/ddy140.
- 209. Fineschi, S.; Klar, J.; Gustafsson, K.A.; Jonsson, K.; Karlsson, B.; Dahl, N. Inflammation and Interferon Signatures in Peripheral B-Lymphocytes and Sera of Individuals With Fibromyalgia. *Front Immunol* **2022**, *13*, 874490, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2022.874490.
- 210. Takii, Y.; Nakamura, M.; Ito, M.; Yokoyama, T.; Komori, A.; Shimizu-Yoshida, Y.; Nakao, R.; Kusumoto, K.; Nagaoka, S.; Yano, K.; et al. Enhanced expression of type I interferon and toll-like receptor-3 in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Lab Invest* 2005, *85*, 908-920, doi:10.1038/labinvest.3700285.
- Kakkar, V.; Assassi, S.; Allanore, Y.; Kuwana, M.; Denton, C.P.; Khanna, D.; Del Galdo, F. Type 1 interferon activation in systemic sclerosis: a biomarker, a target or the culprit. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* 2022, *34*, 357-364, doi:10.1097/BOR.0000000000000907.
- 212. Rubio, D.; Xu, R.H.; Remakus, S.; Krouse, T.E.; Truckenmiller, M.E.; Thapa, R.J.; Balachandran, S.; Alcami, A.; Norbury, C.C.; Sigal, L.J. Crosstalk between the type 1 interferon and nuclear factor kappa B pathways confers resistance to a lethal virus infection. *Cell Host Microbe* **2013**, *13*, 701-710, doi:10.1016/j.chom.2013.04.015.

- 213. Saliba, D.G.; Heger, A.; Eames, H.L.; Oikonomopoulos, S.; Teixeira, A.; Blazek, K.; Androulidaki, A.; Wong, D.; Goh, F.G.; Weiss, M.; et al. IRF5:RelA interaction targets inflammatory genes in macrophages. *Cell Rep* 2014, *8*, 1308-1317, doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2014.07.034.
- 214. Aiba, Y.; Yamazaki, K.; Nishida, N.; Kawashima, M.; Hitomi, Y.; Nakamura, H.; Komori, A.; Fuyuno, Y.; Takahashi, A.; Kawaguchi, T.; et al. Disease susceptibility genes shared by primary biliary cirrhosis and Crohn's disease in the Japanese population. *J Hum Genet* **2015**, *60*, 525-531, doi:10.1038/jhg.2015.59.
- 215. Hitomi, Y.; Nakatani, K.; Kojima, K.; Nishida, N.; Kawai, Y.; Kawashima, M.; Aiba, Y.; Nagasaki, M.; Nakamura, M.; Tokunaga, K. NFKB1 and MANBA Confer Disease Susceptibility to Primary Biliary Cholangitis via Independent Putative Primary Functional Variants. *Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol* **2019**, *7*, 515-532, doi:10.1016/j.jcmgh.2018.11.006.
- 216. Juran, B.D.; Hirschfield, G.M.; Invernizzi, P.; Atkinson, E.J.; Li, Y.; Xie, G.; Kosoy, R.; Ransom, M.; Sun, Y.; Bianchi, I.; et al. Immunochip analyses identify a novel risk locus for primary biliary cirrhosis at 13q14, multiple independent associations at four established risk loci and epistasis between 1p31 and 7q32 risk variants. *Hum Mol Genet* 2012, 21, 5209-5221, doi:10.1093/hmg/dds359.
- 217. Sharif, R.; Mayes, M.D.; Tan, F.K.; Gorlova, O.Y.; Hummers, L.K.; Shah, A.A.; Furst, D.E.; Khanna, D.; Martin, J.; Bossini-Castillo, L.; et al. IRF5 polymorphism predicts prognosis in patients with systemic sclerosis. *Ann Rheum Dis* **2012**, *71*, 1197-1202, doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2011-200901.
- 218. Rullo, O.J.; Woo, J.M.; Wu, H.; Hoftman, A.D.; Maranian, P.; Brahn, B.A.; McCurdy, D.; Cantor, R.M.; Tsao, B.P. Association of IRF5 polymorphisms with activation of the interferon alpha pathway. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2010, *69*, 611-617, doi:10.1136/ard.2009.118315.
- 219. Wang, Z.; Liang, Q.; Qian, X.; Hu, B.; Zheng, Z.; Wang, J.; Hu, Y.; Bao, Z.; Zhao, K.; Zhou, Y.; et al. An autoimmune pleiotropic SNP modulates IRF5 alternative promoter usage through ZBTB3-mediated chromatin looping. *Nat Commun* **2023**, *14*, 1208, doi:10.1038/s41467-023-36897-z.
- 220. Roerink, M.E.; van der Schaaf, M.E.; Dinarello, C.A.; Knoop, H.; van der Meer, J.W. Interleukin-1 as a mediator of fatigue in disease: a narrative review. *J Neuroinflammation* **2017**, *14*, 16, doi:10.1186/s12974-017-0796-7.
- 221. Abid, H.; Ryan, Z.C.; Delmotte, P.; Sieck, G.C.; Lanza, I.R. Extramyocellular interleukin-6 influences skeletal muscle mitochondrial physiology through canonical JAK/STAT signaling pathways. *FASEB J* **2020**, *34*, 14458-14472, doi:10.1096/fj.202000965RR.
- 222. Valenca-Pereira, F.; Fang, Q.; Marie, I.J.; Giddings, E.L.; Fortner, K.A.; Yang, R.; Villarino, A.V.; Huang, Y.H.; Frank, D.A.; Wen, H.; et al. IL-6 enhances CD4 cell motility by sustaining mitochondrial Ca(2+) through the noncanonical STAT3 pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **2021**, *118*, doi:10.1073/pnas.2103444118.
- 223. Folco, E.J.; Sukhova, G.K.; Quillard, T.; Libby, P. Moderate hypoxia potentiates interleukin-1beta production in activated human macrophages. *Circ Res* **2014**, *115*, 875-883, doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.304437.
- 224. Zhang, J.; Zhang, Q.; Lou, Y.; Fu, Q.; Chen, Q.; Wei, T.; Yang, J.; Tang, J.; Wang, J.; Chen, Y.; et al. Hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha/interleukin-1beta signaling enhances

hepatoma epithelial-mesenchymal transition through macrophages in a hypoxicinflammatory microenvironment. *Hepatology* **2018**, *67*, 1872-1889, doi:10.1002/hep.29681.

- 225. Tamm, M.; Bihl, M.; Eickelberg, O.; Stulz, P.; Perruchoud, A.P.; Roth, M. Hypoxiainduced interleukin-6 and interleukin-8 production is mediated by platelet-activating factor and platelet-derived growth factor in primary human lung cells. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* **1998**, *19*, 653-661, doi:10.1165/ajrcmb.19.4.3058.
- 226. Yan, S.F.; Tritto, I.; Pinsky, D.; Liao, H.; Huang, J.; Fuller, G.; Brett, J.; May, L.; Stern, D. Induction of interleukin 6 (IL-6) by hypoxia in vascular cells. Central role of the binding site for nuclear factor-IL-6. *J Biol Chem* 1995, 270, 11463-11471, doi:10.1074/jbc.270.19.11463.
- 227. Tsuneyama, K.; Harada, K.; Yasoshima, M.; Hiramatsu, K.; Mackay, C.R.; Mackay, I.R.; Gershwin, M.E.; Nakanuma, Y. Monocyte chemotactic protein-1, -2, and -3 are distinctively expressed in portal tracts and granulomata in primary biliary cirrhosis: implications for pathogenesis. *J Pathol* 2001, *193*, 102-109, doi:10.1002/1096-9896(2000)9999:9999<::AID-PATH725>3.0.CO;2-P.
- 228. Hornig, M.; Montoya, J.G.; Klimas, N.G.; Levine, S.; Felsenstein, D.; Bateman, L.; Peterson, D.L.; Gottschalk, C.G.; Schultz, A.F.; Che, X.; et al. Distinct plasma immune signatures in ME/CFS are present early in the course of illness. *Sci Adv* 2015, *1*, doi:10.1126/sciadv.1400121.
- 229. Groven, N.; Fors, E.A.; Stunes, A.K.; Reitan, S.K. MCP-1 is increased in patients with CFS and FM, whilst several other immune markers are significantly lower than healthy controls. *Brain Behav Immun Health* **2020**, *4*, 100067, doi:10.1016/j.bbih.2020.100067.
- 230. Bandinelli, F.; Del Rosso, A.; Gabrielli, A.; Giacomelli, R.; Bartoli, F.; Guiducci, S.; Matucci Cerinic, M. CCL2, CCL3 and CCL5 chemokines in systemic sclerosis: the correlation with SSc clinical features and the effect of prostaglandin E1 treatment. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* 2012, *30*, S44-49.
- Kadono, T.; Kikuchi, K.; Ihn, H.; Takehara, K.; Tamaki, K. Increased production of interleukin 6 and interleukin 8 in scleroderma fibroblasts. *J Rheumatol* 1998, 25, 296-301.
- 232. Lin, E.; Vincent, F.B.; Sahhar, J.; Ngian, G.S.; Kandane-Rathnayake, R.; Mende, R.; Morand, E.F.; Lang, T.; Harris, J. Analysis of serum interleukin(IL)-1alpha, IL-1beta and IL-18 in patients with systemic sclerosis. *Clin Transl Immunology* 2019, *8*, e1045, doi:10.1002/cti2.1045.
- 233. Umemura, T.; Sekiguchi, T.; Joshita, S.; Yamazaki, T.; Fujimori, N.; Shibata, S.; Ichikawa, Y.; Komatsu, M.; Matsumoto, A.; Shums, Z.; et al. Association between serum soluble CD14 and IL-8 levels and clinical outcome in primary biliary cholangitis. *Liver Int* 2017, *37*, 897-905, doi:10.1111/liv.13316.
- 234. Yamano, T.; Higashi, T.; Nouso, K.; Nakatsukasa, H.; Kariyama, K.; Yumoto, E.; Kobayashi, Y.; Yamamoto, K.; Iwagaki, H.; Yagi, T.; et al. Serum interferon-gammainducing factor/IL-18 levels in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Clin Exp Immunol* 2000, *122*, 227-231, doi:10.1046/j.1365-2249.2000.01356.x.
- 235. Hardcastle, S.L.; Brenu, E.W.; Johnston, S.; Nguyen, T.; Huth, T.; Ramos, S.; Staines, D.; Marshall-Gradisnik, S. Serum Immune Proteins in Moderate and Severe Chronic Fatigue Syndrome/Myalgic Encephalomyelitis Patients. *Int J Med Sci* 2015, *12*, 764-772, doi:10.7150/ijms.12399.

- 236. Wei, Y.; Giunta, S.; Xia, S. Hypoxia in Aging and Aging-Related Diseases: Mechanism and Therapeutic Strategies. *Int J Mol Sci* **2022**, *23*, doi:10.3390/ijms23158165.
- 237. Ahmed, F.; Tien Vu, L.; Hongya Zhu; Huk Iu, D.S.; Fogarty, E.A.; Kwak, Y.; Chen, W.; Franconi, C.J.; Munn, P.R.; Levine, S.M.; et al. Single-cell transcriptomics of the immune system in ME/CFS at baseline and following symptom provocation. **2022**, doi:10.1101/2022.10.13.512091.
- 238. Mohamed, M.E.; Gamal, R.M.; El-Mokhtar, M.A.; Hassan, A.T.; Abozaid, H.S.M.; Ghandour, A.M.; Abdelmoez, A.I.S.; H, A.Y.; E, H.E.-H.; Y, S.M.; et al. Peripheral cells from patients with systemic sclerosis disease co-expressing M1 and M2 monocyte/macrophage surface markers: Relation to the degree of skin involvement. *Hum Immunol* 2021, *82*, 634-639, doi:10.1016/j.humimm.2021.03.009.
- 239. Al-Adwi, Y.; Westra, J.; van Goor, H.; Burgess, J.K.; Denton, C.P.; Mulder, D.J. Macrophages as determinants and regulators of fibrosis in systemic sclerosis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* **2023**, *62*, 535-545, doi:10.1093/rheumatology/keac410.
- 240. Bossen, L.; Rebora, P.; Bernuzzi, F.; Jepsen, P.; Gerussi, A.; Andreone, P.; Galli, A.; Terziroli, B.; Alvaro, D.; Labbadia, G.; et al. Soluble CD163 and mannose receptor as markers of liver disease severity and prognosis in patients with primary biliary cholangitis. *Liver Int* **2020**, *40*, 1408-1414, doi:10.1111/liv.14466.
- 241. Bossen, L.; Lau, T.S.; Nielsen, M.B.; Nielsen, M.C.; Andersen, A.H.; Ott, P.; Becker, S.; Glerup, H.; Svenningsen, L.; Eivindson, M.; et al. The association between soluble CD163, disease severity, and ursodiol treatment in patients with primary biliary cholangitis. *Hepatol Commun* **2023**, *7*, doi:10.1097/HC9.00000000000068.
- 242. Mao, T.K.; Lian, Z.X.; Selmi, C.; Ichiki, Y.; Ashwood, P.; Ansari, A.A.; Coppel, R.L.; Shimoda, S.; Ishibashi, H.; Gershwin, M.E. Altered monocyte responses to defined TLR ligands in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. *Hepatology* **2005**, *42*, 802-808, doi:10.1002/hep.20859.
- 243. Copple, B.L.; Kaska, S.; Wentling, C. Hypoxia-inducible factor activation in myeloid cells contributes to the development of liver fibrosis in cholestatic mice. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **2012**, *341*, 307-316, doi:10.1124/jpet.111.189340.
- 244. Hinchcliff, M.; Toledo, D.M.; Taroni, J.N.; Wood, T.A.; Franks, J.M.; Ball, M.S.; Hoffmann, A.; Amin, S.M.; Tan, A.U.; Tom, K.; et al. Mycophenolate Mofetil Treatment of Systemic Sclerosis Reduces Myeloid Cell Numbers and Attenuates the Inflammatory Gene Signature in Skin. *J Invest Dermatol* **2018**, *138*, 1301-1310, doi:10.1016/j.jid.2018.01.006.
- 245. Zeng, W.; Xiong, L.; Wu, W.; Li, S.; Liu, J.; Yang, L.; Lao, L.; Huang, P.; Zhang, M.; Chen, H.; et al. CCL18 signaling from tumor-associated macrophages activates fibroblasts to adopt a chemoresistance-inducing phenotype. *Oncogene* **2023**, *42*, 224-237, doi:10.1038/s41388-022-02540-2.
- 246. Zwirner, N.W.; Ziblat, A. Regulation of NK Cell Activation and Effector Functions by the IL-12 Family of Cytokines: The Case of IL-27. *Front Immunol* **2017**, *8*, 25, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.00025.
- 247. Bjorkstrom, N.K.; Strunz, B.; Ljunggren, H.G. Natural killer cells in antiviral immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol* **2022**, *22*, 112-123, doi:10.1038/s41577-021-00558-3.
- 248. Wu, S.Y.; Fu, T.; Jiang, Y.Z.; Shao, Z.M. Natural killer cells in cancer biology and therapy. *Mol Cancer* **2020**, *19*, 120, doi:10.1186/s12943-020-01238-x.

- 249. Liang, Y.; Yang, Z.; Zhong, R. Primary biliary cirrhosis and cancer risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hepatology* **2012**, *56*, 1409-1417, doi:10.1002/hep.25788.
- 250. Barahona-Correa, J.E.; Hoz, A.D.I.; López, M.J.; Garzón, J.; Allanore, Y.; Quintana-López, G. Infections and systemic sclerosis: an emerging challenge. *Revista Colombiana de Reumatología (English Edition)* **2020**, *27*, 62-84, doi:10.1016/j.rcreue.2019.12.004.
- 251. Zeineddine, N.; Khoury, L.E.; Mosak, J. Systemic Sclerosis and Malignancy: A Review of Current Data. *J Clin Med Res* **2016**, *8*, 625-632, doi:10.14740/jocmr2606w.
- 252. Solocinski, K.; Padget, M.R.; Fabian, K.P.; Wolfson, B.; Cecchi, F.; Hembrough, T.; Benz, S.C.; Rabizadeh, S.; Soon-Shiong, P.; Schlom, J.; et al. Overcoming hypoxiainduced functional suppression of NK cells. *J Immunother Cancer* 2020, *8*, doi:10.1136/jitc-2019-000246.
- 253. Chambers, A.M.; Matosevic, S. Immunometabolic Dysfunction of Natural Killer Cells Mediated by the Hypoxia-CD73 Axis in Solid Tumors. *Front Mol Biosci* **2019**, *6*, 60, doi:10.3389/fmolb.2019.00060.
- 254. Mihaylova, I.; DeRuyter, M.; Rummens, J.L.; Bosmans, E.; Maes, M. Decreased expression of CD69 in chronic fatigue syndrome in relation to inflammatory markers: evidence for a severe disorder in the early activation of T lymphocytes and natural killer cells. *Neuro Endocrinol Lett* **2007**, *28*, 477-483.
- 255. Syed, H.; Vallee, G.; Aziz, B.; Sun, N.; Osman, M.; Lytvyak, E.; Ko, H.H.; Swain, M.; Worobetz, L.; Flemming, J.; et al. Loss of innate and adaptive effector lymphocytes is associated with diminished transplant free survival score in patients with primary biliary cholangitis. **2023**.
- 256. Diaz-Gallo, L.M.; Gourh, P.; Broen, J.; Simeon, C.; Fonollosa, V.; Ortego-Centeno, N.; Agarwal, S.; Vonk, M.C.; Coenen, M.; Riemekasten, G.; et al. Analysis of the influence of PTPN22 gene polymorphisms in systemic sclerosis. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2011, *70*, 454-462, doi:10.1136/ard.2010.130138.
- 257. Steiner, S.; Becker, S.C.; Hartwig, J.; Sotzny, F.; Lorenz, S.; Bauer, S.; Lobel, M.; Stittrich, A.B.; Grabowski, P.; Scheibenbogen, C. Autoimmunity-Related Risk Variants in PTPN22 and CTLA4 Are Associated With ME/CFS With Infectious Onset. *Front Immunol* 2020, 11, 578, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2020.00578.
- 258. Rabaneda-Bueno, R.; Torres-Carrillo, N.; Avila-Funes, J.A.; Gutierrez-Robledo, L.M.; Perez-Suarez, T.G.; Acosta, J.L.; Torres-Castro, S.; Fletes-Rayas, A.L.; Gutierrez-Hurtado, I.; Sandoval-Pinto, E.; et al. PTPN22 gene functional polymorphism (rs2476601) in older adults with frailty syndrome. *Mol Biol Rep* 2021, 48, 1193-1204, doi:10.1007/s11033-021-06212-4.
- 259. Torres-Harding, S.; Sorenson, M.; Jason, L.A.; Maher, K.; Fletcher, M.A. Evidence for T-helper 2 shift and association with illness parameters in chronic fatigue syndrome (CFS). *Bull IACFS ME* **2008**, *16*, 19-33.
- 260. O'Reilly, S.; Hugle, T.; van Laar, J.M. T cells in systemic sclerosis: a reappraisal. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* **2012**, *51*, 1540-1549, doi:10.1093/rheumatology/kes090.
- 261. Sakkas, L.I.; Bogdanos, D.P. The Role of T Cells in Systemic Sclerosis: An Update. *Immuno* **2022**, *2*, 534-547, doi:10.3390/immuno2030034.
- 262. Santos, S.A.; Lira, F.S.; Silva, E.T.; Caris, A.V.; Oyama, L.M.; Thomatieli-Santos, R.V. Effect of moderate exercise under hypoxia on Th1/Th2 cytokine balance. *Clin Respir J* 2019, 13, 583-589, doi:10.1111/crj.13061.

- 263. Diehl, S.; Rincon, M. The two faces of IL-6 on Th1/Th2 differentiation. *Mol Immunol* **2002**, *39*, 531-536, doi:10.1016/s0161-5890(02)00210-9.
- 264. Harada, K.; Nakanuma, Y. Molecular mechanisms of cholangiopathy in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Med Mol Morphol* **2006**, *39*, 55-61, doi:10.1007/s00795-006-0321-z.
- 265. Shi, T.Y.; Zhang, F.C. Role of autoimmunity in primary biliary cirrhosis. *World J Gastroenterol* **2012**, *18*, 7141-7148, doi:10.3748/wjg.v18.i48.7141.
- 266. Peng, A.; Ke, P.; Zhao, R.; Lu, X.; Zhang, C.; Huang, X.; Tian, G.; Huang, J.; Wang, J.; Invernizzi, P.; et al. Elevated circulating CD14(low)CD16(+) monocyte subset in primary biliary cirrhosis correlates with liver injury and promotes Th1 polarization. *Clin Exp Med* 2016, 16, 511-521, doi:10.1007/s10238-015-0381-2.
- 267. Krams, S.M.; Cao, S.; Hayashi, M.; Villanueva, J.C.; Martinez, O.M. Elevations in IFNgamma, IL-5, and IL-10 in patients with the autoimmune disease primary biliary cirrhosis: association with autoantibodies and soluble CD30. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol* **1996**, *80*, 311-320, doi:10.1006/clin.1996.0129.
- 268. Yanaba, K.; Yoshizaki, A.; Asano, Y.; Kadono, T.; Sato, S. Serum interleukin 9 levels are increased in patients with systemic sclerosis: association with lower frequency and severity of pulmonary fibrosis. *J Rheumatol* **2011**, *38*, 2193-2197, doi:10.3899/jrheum.110268.
- 269. Hasegawa, M.; Fujimoto, M.; Kikuchi, K.; Takehara, K. Elevated serum levels of interleukin 4 (IL-4), IL-10, and IL-13 in patients with systemic sclerosis. *J Rheumatol* **1997**, *24*, 328-332.
- 270. Chen, J.; Hou, X.; Jia, H.; Cui, G.; Wu, Z.; Wang, L.; Lu, C.; Wu, W.; Wei, Y.; Uede, T.; et al. Regulatory T cells with a defect in inhibition on co-stimulation deteriorated primary biliary cholangitis. *Oncotarget* **2017**, *8*, 108406-108417, doi:10.18632/oncotarget.22658.
- 271. Lan, R.Y.; Cheng, C.; Lian, Z.X.; Tsuneyama, K.; Yang, G.X.; Moritoki, Y.; Chuang, Y.H.; Nakamura, T.; Saito, S.; Shimoda, S.; et al. Liver-targeted and peripheral blood alterations of regulatory T cells in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Hepatology* 2006, 43, 729-737, doi:10.1002/hep.21123.
- 272. Fenoglio, D.; Bernuzzi, F.; Battaglia, F.; Parodi, A.; Kalli, F.; Negrini, S.; De Palma, R.; Invernizzi, P.; Filaci, G. Th17 and regulatory T lymphocytes in primary biliary cirrhosis and systemic sclerosis as models of autoimmune fibrotic diseases. *Autoimmun Rev* 2012, *12*, 300-304, doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2012.05.004.
- 273. Fenoglio, D.; Battaglia, F.; Parodi, A.; Stringara, S.; Negrini, S.; Panico, N.; Rizzi, M.; Kalli, F.; Conteduca, G.; Ghio, M.; et al. Alteration of Th17 and Treg cell subpopulations co-exist in patients affected with systemic sclerosis. *Clin Immunol* 2011, *139*, 249-257, doi:10.1016/j.clim.2011.01.013.
- 274. Radstake, T.R.; van Bon, L.; Broen, J.; Wenink, M.; Santegoets, K.; Deng, Y.; Hussaini, A.; Simms, R.; Cruikshank, W.W.; Lafyatis, R. Increased frequency and compromised function of T regulatory cells in systemic sclerosis (SSc) is related to a diminished CD69 and TGFbeta expression. *PLoS One* **2009**, *4*, e5981, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005981.
- 275. Dennett, N.S.; Barcia, R.N.; McLeod, J.D. Age associated decline in CD25 and CD28 expression correlate with an increased susceptibility to CD95 mediated apoptosis in T cells. *Exp Gerontol* **2002**, *37*, 271-283, doi:10.1016/s0531-5565(01)00193-0.
- 276. Ramos, S.; Brenu, E.; Broadley, S.; Kwiatek, R.; Ng, J.; Nguyen, T.; Freeman, S.; Staines, D.; Marshall-Gradisnik, S. Regulatory T, natural killer T and gammadelta T cells

in multiple sclerosis and chronic fatigue syndrome/myalgic encephalomyelitis: a comparison. *Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol* **2016**, *34*, 300-305, doi:10.12932/AP0733.

- 277. Rivas, J.L.; Palencia, T.; Fernandez, G.; Garcia, M. Association of T and NK Cell Phenotype With the Diagnosis of Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (ME/CFS). *Front Immunol* **2018**, *9*, 1028, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.01028.
- 278. Bernuzzi, F.; Fenoglio, D.; Battaglia, F.; Fravega, M.; Gershwin, M.E.; Indiveri, F.; Ansari, A.A.; Podda, M.; Invernizzi, P.; Filaci, G. Phenotypical and functional alterations of CD8 regulatory T cells in primary biliary cirrhosis. *J Autoimmun* **2010**, *35*, 176-180, doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2010.06.004.
- 279. Gonzalez-Osuna, L.; Sierra-Cristancho, A.; Cafferata, E.A.; Melgar-Rodriguez, S.; Rojas, C.; Carvajal, P.; Cortez, C.; Vernal, R. Senescent CD4(+)CD28(-) T Lymphocytes as a Potential Driver of Th17/Treg Imbalance and Alveolar Bone Resorption during Periodontitis. *Int J Mol Sci* 2022, *23*, doi:10.3390/ijms23052543.
- 280. Mo, C.; Zeng, Z.; Deng, Q.; Ding, Y.; Xiao, R. Imbalance between T helper 17 and regulatory T cell subsets plays a significant role in the pathogenesis of systemic sclerosis. *Biomed Pharmacother* **2018**, *108*, 177-183, doi:10.1016/j.biopha.2018.09.037.
- 281. Hao, L.R.; Li, X.F.; Gao, C.; Cao, L.; Han, Z.Y.; Gao, H. Th17/Treg cell level and clinical characteristics of peripheral blood of patients with Sjogren's syndrome complicated with primary biliary cirrhosis. *Medicine (Baltimore)* **2019**, *98*, e15952, doi:10.1097/MD.000000000015952.
- 282. Li, Q.; Ding, S.; Wang, Y.M.; Xu, X.; Shen, Z.; Fu, R.; Liu, M.; Hu, C.; Zhang, C.; Cao, Q.; et al. Age-associated alteration in Th17 cell response is related to endothelial cell senescence and atherosclerotic cerebral infarction. *Am J Transl Res* **2017**, *9*, 5160-5168.
- 283. Dang, E.V.; Barbi, J.; Yang, H.Y.; Jinasena, D.; Yu, H.; Zheng, Y.; Bordman, Z.; Fu, J.; Kim, Y.; Yen, H.R.; et al. Control of T(H)17/T(reg) balance by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *Cell* 2011, *146*, 772-784, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.07.033.
- 284. Kim, J.W.; Tchernyshyov, I.; Semenza, G.L.; Dang, C.V. HIF-1-mediated expression of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase: a metabolic switch required for cellular adaptation to hypoxia. *Cell Metab* **2006**, *3*, 177-185, doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2006.02.002.
- 285. Lee, J.H.; Kim, E.J.; Kim, D.K.; Lee, J.M.; Park, S.B.; Lee, I.K.; Harris, R.A.; Lee, M.O.; Choi, H.S. Hypoxia induces PDK4 gene expression through induction of the orphan nuclear receptor ERRgamma. *PLoS One* **2012**, *7*, e46324, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0046324.
- 286. Tardito, S.; Negrini, S.; Conteduca, G.; Ferrera, F.; Parodi, A.; Battaglia, F.; Kalli, F.; Fenoglio, D.; Cutolo, M.; Filaci, G. Indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase gene polymorphisms correlate with CD8+ Treg impairment in systemic sclerosis. *Hum Immunol* 2013, 74, 166-169, doi:10.1016/j.humimm.2012.11.008.
- 287. Han, Z.; He, D.; Zhang, Y. Genetic variant rs7820258 regulates the expression of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1 in brain regions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2020, 117, 24035-24036, doi:10.1073/pnas.2007022117.
- 288. Kashi, A.A.; Davis, R.W.; Phair, R.D. The IDO Metabolic Trap Hypothesis for the Etiology of ME/CFS. *Diagnostics (Basel)* **2019**, *9*, doi:10.3390/diagnostics9030082.
- 289. Munn, D.H.; Shafizadeh, E.; Attwood, J.T.; Bondarev, I.; Pashine, A.; Mellor, A.L. Inhibition of T cell proliferation by macrophage tryptophan catabolism. *J Exp Med* **1999**, *189*, 1363-1372, doi:10.1084/jem.189.9.1363.

- 290. Taylor, C.T.; Scholz, C.C. The effect of HIF on metabolism and immunity. *Nat Rev Nephrol* **2022**, *18*, 573-587, doi:10.1038/s41581-022-00587-8.
- 291. Wheaton, W.W.; Chandel, N.S. Hypoxia. 2. Hypoxia regulates cellular metabolism. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **2011**, *300*, C385-393, doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00485.2010.